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PREFACE TO THE FOURTH VOLUME.

The present volume brings to a conclusion the history of
French rule in Canada. An opinion may prevail in some quar-
ters, that occasionally its detail has been elaborately related, and
that undue importance has been given to incidents, which might
have been more summarily presented. As I was actuated by the
conviction, that it was unwise to pass over any event which had
any social or political relation to the early years of the history of
Canada, I have striven to embrace within my narrative all that
may be said legitimately to belong to it. I do not here refer to
the dramatic interest attached more or less to the several inci-
dents, for the feeling thus appealed to must ever be a relative
matter, and what may strike one mind- as entertaining, may to
another appear dry and jejune. I was myself impressed by the
thought, that the subject had to be considered from the higher
view of the application of the past to our present condition. Any
honestly written impartial narrative must throw light on the
subject of which it treats; and a proper appreciation of what
has taken place from the transfer of Quebec to the French in 1632
by Charles I, to the capitulation of Montreal in 1760, cannot fail -
to aid in leading to a just consideration of any claim, which may
be put forward to-day, whatever its character and by whomsoever
it may be advanced.

One essential principle presented itself to my mind in the
preparation of this work : that in order to make it plain and intel-
ligible, it was indispensable that the events which took place
synchronously in Great Britain, France and the then southern
British provinces, should be understood. I have accordingly
briefly introduced the narrative of such events, and in doing so I
deemed it incumbent upon me, to consider the principal actors who
have appeared from time to time in Europe and America, upon the
political stage. The four volumes which have appeared may be
regarded as an introduction to the history of British rule in
Canada, which itself may be divided into three periods. The first
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period includes the years succeeding the conquest, to 1791, when
the Canada act divided the province into Upper and Lower Canada.
This act continued in operation for the subsequent half-century,
during which the two provinces remained independently constituted
with separate legislatures, until the 11th of February, 1841, when
they were formed into the one province of Canada. Thus, this
portion of our history extends over eighty years. It includes the
remarkable events of the quarrel with the revolted British colonies,
and the war which led to the independence of the present United
States : the war of 1812~14 with that republic; the rebellions in
Upper and Lower Canada, and the development of constitutional
government in the province.

The first of these events is so closely connected with Canada,
that it calls for a special narrative of what took place in connection
with the province. Moreover it was the direct cause of the settle-
ment of Upper Canada by a British population; a fact which
must be kept in view in the history of Ontario for the following
seventy years. It created a dominant feeling in the minds of the
first settlers and their children; of those who suffered to sustain
the United Empire, ‘“the U. E. loyalists,” as their descendants
proudly call themselves. These men sacrificed all they had in this
world, and left behind them many of the associations which make
life dear, to carve out of the woods a hard, toilsome existence, that
they might live and die under the British flag ; and they were not
unhappy, for they acted up to their convictions, and from their
sense of duty; and they retained in the greatest trial and privation,
the proud feeling of unswerving self-respect.

The second period is constituted in the quarter of a century,
during which the province of Canada, embracing the present
provinces of Ontario and Quebec existed as a unity until 1867,
when confederation of the whole of the British North American
provinces took place: at which date the third period commences
when British America became known as the Dominion of Canada.

I trust, if circumstances  permit, to continue the history of
British rule in Canada to the 11th of February, 1841, the date
within half a century of the present time, when the union of the
two provinces was consummated. Most of the enmities, political
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and social, of that day, have passed away with the men who figured
in them. The task of describing the concluding years is not
without difficulty, for some of the younger actors at that date
still survive, and retain at least the family and party recollections
which were engendered by the struggle. If I succeed in carrying
out my purpose, I will endeavour to avoid in any way awakening
this ancient feeling of discord. I have no desire to revive old
feuds, and I must ever bear in mind that I am ‘ walking upon
ashes under which the fire is not extinguished.”

I hope it will not be considered that ‘1 protest too much,” if I
add that I have endeavoured to fulfil the promise made in the
early pages of this work, to be fair and honest. So far as I know
myself, I have had no theory to advocate, no purpose to attain.
I have endeavoured to render a service to the dominion by the
completion of a record which it is my hope may prove acceptable
in all quarters. This intention at least may be remembered in my
epitaph.

I will add that I have neglected no source of information. In
addition to the many known authorities, I have consulted the MSS.
at my disposal in the parliamentary library, and the copies of the
imperial records in the Archives so admirably collected by the
ability and untiring industry of Mr. Brymner. I do not know one
source of information I have failed to consult. Whatever the
defect in my own use of these authorities, I cannot accuse myself
of want of industry, or of an absence of earnestness in my labours.
In conclusion, I will venture humbly to quote the words of Grote,
in the preface to his immortal history of Greece. It is ‘ only
within the last . . . years that I have been able to devote to
the work that continuous and exclusive labour, without which,
though much may be done to illustrate detached points, no entire
or complicated subject can ever be set forth in a manner worthy to
meet the public eye.”

I repeat my deeply felt thanks to those friends, who have so
unselfishly and generously aided me in my undertaking.

W. K.
OtTtAawa, CANADA,

8¢k Oclober, 1890.
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THE HISTORY OF CANADA

FROM THE EARLIEST DATE OF FRENCH RULE.

CHAPTER L

Montcalm returned to Montreal from Oswego, having
performed the most brilliant military exploit then known in
the history of Canada, while the destruction of the English
settlement was equally of the highest political importance.
The Anglo-American had been driven from his footing on
lake Ontario, for its waters to becorme in fact, as in name,
entirely French; dominated to the east and west by the two
forts of Frontenac and Niagara. If there had been incom-
pleteness in Montcalm’s success, it had been made more
certain by the fears of colonel Webb and the unfortunate
demolition of the forts at the carrying-place between the
Mohawk and the streams tributary to lake Ontario. This
abandonment of territory was an acknowledgment of power-
lessness and defeat not to be misrepresented, and its
consequence was that the Iroquois faltered in their belief that
British protection could hereafter safeguard them.

In accordance with the sentiment that it was expedient to
take steps for their own protection, a deputation descended
the Saint Lawrence to Montreal. It consisted of forty men,
with sixty women and children, of the Onondagas and
Cayugas. The Senecas and Oneidas had engaged to follow
them, therefore on their arrival a request was made that their
reception should be deferred for three days, until the 3oth of
November.* When they met de Vaudreuil, he assured them
of his protection, and ceremoniously introducing Montcalm,

* N.Y. Doc., X., p. 556.

B
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he referred to those present who had seen the victorious
general at the ruins of Chouaguen. The orator replied, that
it was they who had first given to the English news of the
capture and of the impossibility of resisting the French. The
ambassadors of the Senecas and Onecidas arrived on the 6th
of December ; at this date the number of the Six Nations,
including women and children, amounted to one hundred and
eighty, and the reception of the whole body took place in the
parlour of the seminary of Saint Sulpice.

A conference, with the representatives of the tribes beyond
Detroit, was likewise being held during this period. Montcalm
described the event as remarkable from the number present
and the subjects discussed, especially from the conduct of the
Iroquois. It appeared to him to be a promise of assured
neutrality on their part. There was even the anticipation,
that although the tribes as such could not be expected to take
an avowed part against the British, there was ground for
belief that many of the younger men would actively side with
the French.*

A similar course was followed by the New York authorities;
but while the Six Nations seemed to recognize the impossibility
of entirely changing the old relations with Albany, they were
careful in making it understood, that they could no longer bz
regarded as the allies they had hitherto been. They would
give no definite promise of support, and claimed the right to
remain neutral. Belief in the power of the British colonies
to withstand the attack of the French, had been so violently
shaken, that there was no longer sympathy with their cause,
or hope of their success. We have only to read the letters
of sir William Johnson,} to perceive the depression which
the defeat of Braddock, and the “unhappy news of the loss”
of Oswego had created in the Indian mind. He sets forth
that the possession “of a navigation on lake Ontario was not
only a curb to the power of the French that way, but esteemed

* Que. Doc., IV,, p. 90. Montcalm au Ministre, 24 avril, 1757.
+ N. Y. Doc., VIL, p. 127. 1oth September, 1756. VIIL., p. 171. 10th
Nov., 1756.
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by the Six Nations whenever they joined our arms as a secure
cover to them and their habitations against the resentment of
the French,” * * * which left them to act in full security.”
The demolition of the fortress, the seizure of the ships upon
the lake, and the humiliating spectacle of the garrison em-
barked as prisoners for Montreal, had destroyed all sense of
reliance in British protection.®* There had been also cause of
dissatisfaction in the grants of land which had lately been
made, and which were bitterly complained of by the Indians, as
an infringement of their rights and a seizure of their property.
It was the commencement of a system which was persevered
in until the revolutionary 'war; the active interference of the
home government to control the alienation of Indian land, so
that the tribes should be protected from spoliation, was one of
the grievances brought forward by the provincials interested
in the traffic, in justification of their dissatisfaction and revolt.

Nothing had more discouraged the Indians than Webb’s
abandonment of the forts at the upper Mohawk. It had been
carried out in one of those trying situations in which the great
qualities of an undaunted nature are called forth, to face with
calm determination, whatever duty may demand : but Webb
had only shewn his want of faith in the force at his dis-
posal. The ability of sir William Johnson retained the tribes
as far as it was possible in the English interest; but he was
made to feel that their zeal was passing away, that they could
not be depended upon, and that only those who were liberally
paid would march by the side of the British.}

* ¢ But by our losing Oswego, which I may call the Barrier of the 6 Nations,
and thereby the possession of that part of the Country, they were laid open to the
Resentments of the French, who might at any time they were inclined to it,
with facillity (sé) fall upon their Towns, and cut them and their families to pieces,
especially those of the upper Nations.” Sir William Johnson to Lords of Trade,
10th Sept., 1756. N.Y. Doc., VIL, p. 128,

+ A meeting of the Onondagas, Oneidas, and Tuscaroras took place at
German Flats on the 3rd Sept., 1756. The orator addressed the interpreter
present : ‘‘ We are now met and must now tell you in the name of all the 6
Nations that we are quite surprized to find ourselves deceived in our opinion of
the English, we took them to be a more steady People, but we see that this
Defeat at Oswego discourages them entirely, and you seem as it were to give up
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So unsatisfactory were the relations with the Indians
throughout the entire provinces, that Mr. Edmund Atkin,
“superintendent of the Indian Department in Virginia, North
and South Carolina and in Georgia,” arrived in Albany in
November to discuss with Johnson “upon what footing and
after what manner” trade with them could be carried on.*
He found the Six Nations “weakened and depressed.” Atkin
proposed an alliance in the British interest of all the tribes ;
he accompanied Johnson to his home at the Mohawk, and
remained with him a week. Johnson was unable to obtain
an answer to his question what assistance the Mohawks would
render in the next campaign. The deputies present desired to
delay a reply until a meeting had been held at Onondaga, after
the return of the deputation from Montreal. The Six Nations,
however, shewed a favourable feeling towards union with the
southern tribes, and agreed to the establishment of signs and
tokens, by which friends could be distinguished from foes.
One result of the meeting was the establishment of perfectly
good feeling between Johnson and Atkin.

The result of these deliberations was, that the upper
nations, the Senecas, Cayugas and Onondagas declared them-
selves in favour of neutrality. The Tuscaroras and Oneidas
took no part in the discussion ; but it was evident they could
not be depended upon.+ The Mohawks alone remained firm
in their attachment to British interest. Thus the immediate
consequences of the fall of Oswego were by no means of a
character to assuage the depression that it had induced.
What increased this feeling was, the pervading sentiment that
there was no one in the first rank, capable of acting with
judgment and decision ; what efforts were made were unwise,
and proved the cause of subsequent disaster.

all hopes. [This was said upon account of Gen'. Webb’s destroying all the Forts,
abandoning the carrying Place and marching back to the German Flatts.”]
N.Y. Doc., VII,, p. 193.

* N.Y. Doc., VIIL., p. 209.

+ Sir William Johnson to Lords of Trade, 25th June, 1757. N.Y. Doc., VII.,
P- 227- On the 22nd of November, 1756, Loudoun wrote, ‘‘ We have at present
no Indians, but a handful of Mohawks and a few straggling Indians from different
tribes.” [Can. Arch., Series A. & W.I., 85.1, p. 6.]
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All thought of attacking the French outposts of Ticonderoga
and Crown Point had to be abandoned. Those places had
indeed become established garrisons, maintained by a large
force, and could only be attacked with any hope of success by
a numerously constituted and well appointed expedition. As
winter approached the French removed the greater part of
the ferce from Ticonderoga. The difficulty of furnishing
supplies was great, and for a time their operations were
confined to guarding against attack, and in watching the
movements of the British at the south of the lake. In these
attempts the French Indians shewed great activity, and were
constantly prowling in the neighbourhood of the southern
fort in the hope of seizing prisoners.

The British shewed the same enterprise in their attempt to
penetrate the enemy’s designs. The duty was one of danger,
and loss was experienced on both sides. In each case the
adversary’s fort was closely approached, so that an estimate
could be formed of any probable hostile movement, and
prisoners could be seized and carried away with a view to
obtain reliable information.

Prominent in the scouts on the British side was captain
Robert Rogers. At the end of the war he published a journal
of his operations. His hair-breadth escapes can still be read,
and with belief, for his narrative in the most remarkable
instances is corroborated by French reports.* Rogers relates
that he was brought up in a frontier town of New England,
and that his manner of life led to a knowledge of both the
British and French frontier settlements. In 1755 he was in
command of a company of New Hampshire troops, his duty
in the first instance being the escort of provisions. In March,
1756, he received an order to form a company of rangers of
sixty men,and in June and July a second company was raised.
They were specially equipped, and constantly engaged in the
attempt to obtain intelligence. Rogers possessed courage

® ¢ Journals of Major Robert Rogers, containing an account of the several
Excursions he made under the Generals who commanded upon the continent of
North America during the late war, etc., etc. London, 1765.”
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which never quailed in the hour of danger. He cheerfully
undertook expeditions, the hardships and risk of which he
perfectly knew, as much from a love of adventure as from the
consequence of his position. He brought to his duties cool-
ness and soundness of judgment and an unfailing self-reliance
which never deserted him. He passed safely through all these
perils, suffering only from a wound and an attack of small-pox.

If Montcalm looked for recognition of his services from
de Vaudreuil, he only experienced disappointment. He did
not long remain in Montreal ; on the 1oth of September he
arrived at the camp at Carillon with the regiments of Guienne
and Béarn, and 100 men of de la Sarre. On his arrival, he
learned that two days previously two young officers had been
scalped.* His first step was to send out a strong party of
Indians and Canadians; their appearance prevented the occu-
pation of some of the islands by a British detachment. On
the 27th of October Montcalm, with the main body of the
force, left for Montreal: de Lévis remained until the 15th of
November, when he likewise marched off with the rear guard.
The stone fort of Carillon was then so far finished that it
could receive a garrison of 350 meh, and it was considered
capable of resisting any force which could be brought against
it in winter. The original intention had been that de Lévis
should proceed to Quebec, but, owing to the lateness of the
season, he remained in Montreal ; and de Bourlamaque was
placed in command there.

The correspondence of that date shews the unsatisfactory
relations between deVaudreuil and Montcalm. The governor
general complained of Montcalm and the French officers
generally, on account of their bad treatment of the Canadian
troops.+ He claimed that the victory at Oswego was wholly
due to the gallantry of the latter, and he did not fail to point
out that the artillery was entirely Canadian. One cause of

* ‘I'wo lieutenants of the regiment *‘de la Reine,” de Biville and de T'orgac.
They had been killed when hunting in contravention of the positive orders of de
Lévis. Letter of Montcalm, 26th Sept., 1756. Que. Doc., IV., p. 74.

+ 13th October, 1756. De Vaudreuil to de Machault, minister of Marine.
Dussieux, p. 279.
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his censure was that the French officers objected to carry on
la petite guerre, and were only willing to enter upon what de
Vaudreuil called defensive warfare. He dwelt upon their
insolence and exactions; indeed scarcely any report more
depreciatory could be made.

On his side, Montcalm complained * that de Lévis and
himself in duplicate received orders, which could not be
carried out, so that in case of failure the blame could be
thrown upon them. De Vaudreuil, however, always made the
best representation he was able. In writing to the minister
early in the year+ although unable to report that he had
gained any positive advantage on lake Champlain, he repre-
sented that he had kept 1900 men in check; and that the
scalps, which had been brought him, established the serious
losses suffered by the enemy.

In the middle of January a scouting party of some strength
was organized in the British garrison of fort Edward, to feel
the country towards Crown Point. Rogers was placed in
command, and the force was marched to William Henry.
After making the necessary preparations, they descended
lake George on the ice, as far as “the narrows.” Some of
the party being footsore, were sent back ; the number then
remaining, including officers, was seventy-four, among whom
were two volunteer officers from the 44th regiment. On the
18th they marched twelve miles; on the following day they
descended the lake three miles further, and turning to the
shore, followed a north-west course to avoid Ticonderoga ;
finally they came within three miles of lake Champlain, midway
between Crown Point and Ticonderoga. On the 2i1st they
reached lake Champlain, where they saw a sleigh on the ice
proceeding towards Ticonderoga. Rogers detached his lieu-
tenant, Stark, to cross a point extending from the shore to
reach the ice, and stop it. No sooner had Stark left when
Rogers saw that three sleighs were following. It was too late
to countermand the order, so the attempt was made to take

* Que. Doc., IV., p. 79.
+ 13th January, 1757. Que. Doc., 1V., p. 82.
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possession of the whole number. The first sleigh, however,
escaped to Ticonderoga, to carry news of the presence of the
British scouts, north of the French garrison. From the
prisoners Rogers learned that the fort at Carillon contained
350 regular troops, and that they had lately been reinforced
by 200 Canadians and several Indians, destined to be engaged
in harassing the English garrison, and that more Indians were
expected.

Rogers felt the danger of his situation : it was plain to him
that he must expect an immediate attack by a large force, and
his only safety lay in a retreat before he could be intercepted ;
in reaching ground where there was no chance of being assailed.
He went back to his camp, where the men dried their arms,
which were wet, and started on their way homeward. They
had scarcely marched half a mile, and were crossing a valley of
fifteen rods breadth, when at close range they received a volley
from a large force in ambush, which proved most telling.
Kennedy, one of the officers, and one of the volunteers, were
killed ; several of the party were wounded, some placed /ors de
combat. The discharge was returned. Rogers’ men retreated
to the elevation which they were descending, and here they
formed and fought desperately. The force by which they
were surrounded amounted, according to Rogers’ estimate, to
two hundred and fifty men, and had the few rangers been
charged by the bayonet not one could have escaped.

-There is no reason to think that Rogers over estimated the
number. De Lusignan was then in command at Ticonderoga ;
on hearing the news he immediately detached one hundred
men of his force, with “some Indians and Canadians.” They
were placed under the command of captains de Basserade and
de Lagrandville* De Basserade was dangerously wounded
early in the fight. The contest lasted for several hours, until
nightfall, when the French withdrew, carrying with them their
wounded. The English effected their retreat to lake George.
Of the 74 who went into action only 54 gained the lake, of

® ¢]l1 detacha 100 hommes . . avec quelques Sauvages et Canadiens.
Montcalm, 24th April, 1757. Que. Doc., IV, p. 91.



1757] THE SKIRMISH. 9

this number 48 only were effective. Six were wounded, 14
were left dead on the field, including two of the officers,
Kennedy and Spekeman, and the two volunteers from the 44th,
Baker and Gardner. Six were taken prisoners.

They were perfectly exhausted on reaching lake George.
Stark, a lieutenant, afterwards known in the revolutionary war,
started in advance to fort William Henry, so that sleighs
might be sent forward for the wounded men. Finally the
whole retreating party reached the fort in safety. It is
astonishing that the French from Carillon did not follow them.
There may have been some attempt of the kind, but it is not
recorded.

Montcalm, in reporting the affair, does not conceal the
strength of Rogers’ force ; he places it at seventy-seven ; the
correct number being seventy-four. He describes the surviv-
ors, however, as all perishing from cold, except three who
reached William Henry. The losses of the French he sets
forth as nine killed and eighteen wounded, of whom some
died from their wounds.*

There have been few skirmishes, fought under such odds,
where more determined gallantry was shewn, and in which the
danger was escaped by courage and determination. On all
sides Rogers was highly praised. Abercrombie’s nephew
James, aide-de-camp to his uncle, specially wrote him to say
how all were pleased with the conduct of himself and his men,
and, while regretting the losses which had been experienced,
pithily adds that it is “ impossible to play at bowls without
meeting with rubs.” +

* The account of the affair, N. Y. Doc., X., p. 570, gives the French dead at
eleven, the wounded at twenty-seven.

+ There is a passage in Rogers’ journal which shows how constantly the spirit
of red-tape has prevailed, to aid the indifference felt towards the honest claims for
service performed, which threaten to be troublesome to the official heads at head-
quarters. After the affair of the 21st of January, when Rogers had received great
thanks for his services, and the companies of rangers had been increased, Rogers
says: ‘I again wrote to his lordship [lord Loudoun] earnestly soliciting his
friendly interposition and assistance to obtain from the government here an order
for payment of what was due to me and my men for our respective services during
the winter of 1755 ; but if that could not be obtained, that he would be pleased to
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Whether from the desire of achieving a success, which in
the public mind would be a counterpoise to the triumph of
Montcalm, or whether de Vaudreuil desired to shew his faith
in la petite guerre, which the French generals would not enter-
tain, an expedition was organized against fort William Henry
in the depth of winter, the season being one of unusual
severity. It was placed under the command of Rigaud de
Vaudreuil, governor of Three Rivers, the governor general’s
brother, so that any honour which might be gained should
appertain to the Canadian branch of. the army, in contradis-
tinction to the regular troops of France. When the project
became known, Montcalm offered to take command, asking
for 8oo men.* De Lévis and de Bourlamaque also volunteered
to lead it. De Lévis in writing to France expressed his belief
that he could not have done better, and that the expedition
had all the success that could be expected.}

Unusual care was bestowed on the organization of the
column. It consisted of 1400 men, composed of 50 grenadiers,
and 200 volunteers from the regular troops, under the com-
mand of M. de Poulharies; with 250 colonial troops; 600
Canadians and 300 Indians. The second in command was
M. de Longueuil. }

The object in view was, if possible, to surprise and escalade
the fort. In the event of such an attempt not being feasible,
the vessels and bateaux constructed for the carriage of troops
and men to attack Ticonderoga were to be burned. The
expedition left Montreal in four divisions ; the first marching
out on the 20th, the last on the 25th of February. In the closing

direct me what method to take for the recovery thereof. Whereto his lordship
replied, that as their services were antecedent to his command here, it was not in
his power to reward them. General Amherst, on a like application, gave me
much the same answer.” The consequence was that Rogers was engaged in law
suits, and had to pay £828 3s. 3d., for which he never received one penny. p 5I.

* Que. Doc., IV,, . 92.

+ N.Y. Doc., X., p. 547-

1 These figures are taken from a letter of Montcalm to the minister, 24th
April, 1757. Que. Doc., IV., p.9I. A writer, N.Y. Doc., X., p. 544, mentions
the number at 1500.
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months of autumn Montcalm had caused the construction of
aroad from Laprairie to Saint John’s, 14 miles; the Richelieu
accordingly was easily reached. The ascent of lake Cham-
plain was made to fort Carillon, a distance of 130 miles, the
march having been made on snowshoes. The season was
one of such severity as to cause mention in letters of the period
of the intense cold. The advance must have been leisurely
made, for it was not until the 15th of March that the column
left Carillon, to arrive within a league and a half of fort
William Henry on the 17th instant.

The French account states captain de Poulharies was
detached to observe the position of the fort, and that it was
evident to him that there was no probability of a surprise:
he formed the opinion that the march of the French column
had become known.

The garrison was under the command of major Eyre, who

had relieved Winslow on the 11th of November, when the
provincial forces returned to their homes. It consisted of the
44th regiment and some rangers.* Eyre may be remembered
as having efficiently directed the artillery at Dieskau’s attack,
and had personally pointed the gun which did such execution
against the advance of the French regulars. The preceding
year he had been promoted to the majority of the 44th,and it
was he who had constructed the fort. He had 274 regulars
and 72 rangers fit for duty ; 128 men, mostly suffering from
scurvy, were on the sick list. The total number in the fort was
therefore 474 ; the defence falling on the 346 men who were
effective.

The first alarm was given to the garrison on Saturday, the
1gth, about one in the morning, by the noise of axes, which
appeared to be about three miles from the fort ; at the same
time a light was seen on the east side of the lake, extending

¢ We have a full namative of the defence in the despatches of major Eyre to
lord Loudoun [A. & W.L.: America and West Indies, vol. 85, part I., pp.
215-239] in the Canadianarchives. These volumes are transcripts from the imperial
colonial documents. I follow the dates given by major Ejyre, his account being
written a few days after the attack on the 26th of March.
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some way down. Precautions were taken against any attempt
at a surprise ; about two hours later the march of the troops
approaching upon the ice was heard. It was a body of men
under captain Dumas, sent forward to reconnoitre, and to avail
itself of any opportunity which offered for attack. From the
fire directed against it, both from artillery and small arms, the
detachment was forced to retire. An unsuccessful attempt
was made to set fire to some of the dateanr. At break of day
the French withdrew. Eyre sent out scouts to obtain informa-
tion, they picked up some scaling ladders and faggots prepared
for burning the vessels. If there had been an intention to
storm the fort no attempt was made to carry it out.

De Rigaud in his report tells us that on the 1gth he invested
the fort, and sent a party of Indians on the road to fort
Edward to cut off the communication, so that no relief could
be sent. On the following day, Sunday, the 2oth, Le Mercier,
the chief of the Canadian artillery, was sent to summon the
fort. Accompanied by a small party waving a red flag he
advanced on the ice. He was met by #n officer and led
blindfolded into the fort. Le Mercier’s demand was that a
peaceful surrender should be made. The terms he offered
were that the troops should march out with the honours of
war, the officers being permitted to carry off their most valu-
able effects.* The refusal of these terms, he added, might be
attended with “ circumstances very fatal and calamitous to the
garrison,” should “ the assault they were preparing to put in
execution ” succeed. . . . Considering what sort of people
composed part of their army . . . however much they

* The words of Le Mercier deserve attention in relation to what took place
after the capitulation of this fort to Montcalm in August. Eyre reports the
suggestion of Le Mercier ‘‘ that some things might only be left by the officers to
please and gratify the Indians, and that they (the garrison) need not be under any
apprehensions of Mischief from the Savages, for that they had a sufficient number
of regulars to protect the garrison against any sort of violence that might be offered
to them, and they should be conducted to any place they desired” [Can. Arch., A. &
W.I,, 85.1, p. 216] These remarks, in my humble judgment, also throw light on
the murders reported to have been commutted by the Indians after the capitulation
of Oswego.
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might be inclined to levity and compassion, the cruelties of the
savage could not be altogether prevented.”

Neither the offer of favourable terms of surrender, nor the
threat of unflinchingly abandoning the garrison to the merci-
less cruelty of the Indian weighed with the true and good
soldier who was in command. Eyre’s reply was his determina-
tion to defend his post. The fort had no great strength, as
was proved in Montcalm’s attack, and there were less than 350
defenders ; but for the threat to be carried out, even with the
preponderating numbers of the attacking force, it was neces-
sary that the attempt should be made by a resolute body of
men. Its strength, however, was such that if the storming
parties had been gallantly led, and proper determination shewn,
the assault, with some loss, must have proved overpowering.
From the weakness of the garrison the sorties were unimport-
ant, and they were principally made with the view of the pro-
tection of property. Le Mercier’'s demand suggested the
possibility of an assault in all directions, and it kept the garrison
on the alert. The appearance of the enemy was looked for by
night, and at the period the darkness was so great that nothing
could be seen; consequently wherever the least noise was
heard, shells and the fire of small arms were directed towards it.

On the night of the 2oth the French force advanced. It
may have been only a feint, but if the attack was seriously
designed, they were received so warmly that it was abandoned;
the expedition ended in setting fire to two store houses con-
taining large supplies of provisions, to the * provincial” store
and all the rangers’ huts. On the 21st snow began to fall
somewhat thickly; a thaw succeeded, so the hulls of the vessels
became moist from melted snow,and little was attempted on the
part of the French. On the night of the 23rd they were more
fortunate. While the defenders were expecting at all points
to be assailed, and were directing their unceasing watchfulness
to the protection of the fort, the French scouts stealthily
advanced, and placed dry faggots against the hulls of the
vessels. They were soon seen to burst into flames. It was
not possible to make any attempt to save them. The confla-
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gration included an old building which served as an hospital,
and a wooden structure in the neighbourhood of the fort, by
the flames of which the fort itself was threatened. But in
face of the enemy'’s fire the roofs were cut away, so the danger
was removed. The fire burned the whole night. A sharp
fusillade ‘was kept up from the defenders to impede the
operations, but with little effect.

The French account records the destruction of four brigan-
tines, one constructed to carry six guns; two long boats of
fifty oars, three hundred and fifty transport dateanr, much
building timber, and a large supply of firewood. The report
of Eyre states that the whale boats and scows escaped.

As the fort could not be escaladed, and all the damage had
been done which was possible, moreover, according to two
prisoners who were taken, their provisions being almost con-
sumed, and their stock of powder exhausted, the French force
retreated. On the following morning the long line of their
march was seen descending the lake.

Eyre’s gallant defence has not received the consideration
to which it is entitled. It is in all respects noteworthy, and
stands out in strong contrast to the weakness and irresolution
shown at Oswego, where, after Mercer’s death, not a show of
resistance was made. There are few more gallant acts to
record than this defence by a handful of men against a force
nearly five-fold its number, supplied with every requisite to
storm the fort, which only possessed imperfect defence. The
threatened assault continued from the night of the 1gth to
the night of the 24th of March. It is plain that only the
resolute attitude of Eyre deterred de Rigaud from an attempt
to storm the place. The besieged had only seven wounded,
but those six days of gloomy expectation must have taxed
the strength and the endurance of the small garrison, and the
defenders must have gladly seen the retreating ranks of the
French in the distance.

It may be safely said that this successful resistance encour-
aged an exaggerated idea of the strength of the place. It was
but a few months later that Montcalm destroyed this illusion.
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The failure of de Rigaud must have suggested to him that the
fort could only be taken by cannon ; that it had to be beaten
down and made untenable: a fact which ought to have been
appreciated on the British side and should have been provided
against.

Owing to the number of sick who were suffering from
scurvy, it was resolved to relieve the garrison. On the 29th
of March following, Eyre with his gallant band marched out,*
and colonel Monroe, with five companies of the 35th, occupied
the fort. When spring came it was discovered that some bodies
of the French had been thrust into a hole in the ice: one
corpse was found stuffed into a pile of cord wood ; likewise
the body of an Indian was exposed : it was covered with snow
and, strange to say, had been scalped by the French force.

Although the expedition in reality proved little more than
a reconnaissance in force, one advantage was gained: the precise
situation and character of fort William Henry became known,
and its capacity for defence estimated. The destruction of the
sloops and bateaux was also of some account as it would delay
the operations of the British provinces in early spring. Owing
to the want of provisions no aggressive movement could be
made from Canada until the arrival of the ships from France.
In any circumstance, owing to the difference in climate, an
expedition from Albany could take the field three weeks
earlier than any departure from Montreal. Thus the destruc-
tion of the vessels enabled the /abditants to return to their
farms and put their crops in the ground.t+ Montcalm, however,

® We first hear of Eyre as chief engineer and quarter-master general in New
York in March, 1750 [N. Y. Doc., VI,, p. 553]. As has been related, he was
quarter-master general at Dieskau’s attack [Ib., VI., p. 1000.] In 1756 he built
a fort at Oswego falls [VII., p. 184]. He was wounded in Abercrombie’s attack
of Ticonderoga on the 8th of July, 1758 [X., p. 729]. He subsequently became
colonel of the 55th. As colonel of the 44th he formed part of Amherst’s force in
1759 on Lake Champlain ; and in 1760 he accompanied the force which descended
from Oswego to the attack of Montreal. In 1764 he was unfortunately drowned
on his voyage to Ireland. [Knox.] Vol. II., p. 406.

+ In Montcalm’s letter to the minister, of the 24th of April, [N.Y. doc. X., p.
549] he relates that men of the detachment returned snow blind. He writes [as
translated] ¢‘ Canadians, Indians, and our men, to the number of fourteen score, had
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did not accept this view, for while admitting that no expedition

could start from Canada until June, and that the delay had-

been caused to the English by the burning of the vessels, he
considered that it would prove “not so much as M. de
Vaudreuil thinks.” *

During the winter in Montreal, Montcalm felt himself called
upon to intervene in a direction which has caused many a
commanding officer anxiety, and will doubtless continue to be
a source of trouble so long as garrisons exist : the inclination
of many young officers to enter into imprudent marriages.
In his letter to the minister+ he represents this tendency to
form “ bad marriages . . which were not any more advan-
tageous for the political interest of the colony than to the
King.” He continues: “ M. de Vaudreuil appeared to me to
favour them ; he is encompassed by relatives of mean extrac-
tion.” Montcalm wrote a memoir on the subject, which he
gave to de Vaudreuil, “ who appeared to coincide with these
views.” Two marriages were only allowed by Montcalm; one
that of a captain of the regiment of Languedoc, whose father
approved of the match; the second that of a captain of the
same regiment,the objection apparently disappearing before the
circumstance of “the bride being a girl of respectability, very
well connected in the colony, having a handsome fortune.” {

to be led by their comrades, but at the end of twice twenty-four hours, sight is re-
stored with simple remedies.” The letter also appears Que. Doc., pp. 89-93. There
are serious discrepancies between the two published letters, although claiming to
represent the same document. )

® N.Y. Doc., X, p. §552.

+ 24th April, 1757. N.Y. Doc., X., p. 550.

1 It is worthy of attention that about the same period [31st December, 1754,
Wright, p. 285] Wolfe was expressing the same opinion. Writing home, he says:
‘1 always encourage our young people to frequent balls and assemblies. It
softens their manners and makes them civil ; and commonly I go along with them
to see how they conduct themselves. I am only afraid they shall fall in love and
marry. Whenever I perceive the symptoms, or any body else makes the discovery,
we fall upon the delinquent without mercy till he grows out of conceit with his
new passion. By this method we have broke through many an amorous alliance,
and dissolved many ties of eZernal love and affection. . . Two or three of the
most simple and insensible in other respects have triumphed over my endeavours,
but are seated upon the stool of repentance for the rest of their days.”

7/
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If Montcalm saw objections in the marriages of officers,
he felt that he could do nothing better for the interest of the
colony and the kingdom than to encourage the soldiers in
obtaining wives. The consequence was that, while in 1755-6
there were only seven such marriages, in 1756-7 there were
eighty. He recommended that a gratuity should be given to
soldiers willing to remain and settle in Canada, on the ground
that they would make excellent colonists, and could easily be
brought in the field during the period of war, whereas on their
return to France the diminution of pay, with the increase of
discipline, would be insupportable.*

One cause of anxiety with Montcalm was the love of play,
which was affecting officers of all ranks. Seeing its mis-
chievous tendency, he proposed to de Vaudreuil to prohibit
games of chance; on the principle enforced by the rules of
a modern, well conducted club. We learn from Montcalm
that there was no play either at Montreal or Quebec until de
Vaudreuil went to Quebec. Montcalm brought the matter
directly to the notice of d’Argenson. “M. Bigot loves to
gamble,” he wrote. “ M. de Vaudreuil thought proper to per-
mit a bank at M. Bigot’s. I said what I considered my duty,
but did not wish to forbid our officers playing at it; ’twas
displeasing to M. de Vaudreuil and M. Bigot ; the good of the
service requires the contrary. Captain de Maron, of La Reine,
has lost twelve thousand /ivres, which have been paid, his
lieutenant-colonel having lent them to him. This partiality
in favor of M. Bigot’s house would have caused gambling else-
where had I not placed the second captain of one of our
battalions under arrest. I write to M. de Machault on the
subject of marriages ; it concerns the colony. I do not write
anything to him concerning gambling ; it would only serve to
destroy the friendship between M. de Vaudreuil, M. Bigot and
me. But I owe my minister an account of my conduct.}

Provisions continued scarce and dear. Officers of small
means found it difficult to live on their allowance.} From the

. ®* N.Y.Doc., X., p. 551.  t 1b., p. 551I..
+ M. le marquis de Montcalin aura I’honneur. de vous fairé des représentations
c




18 THE HISTORY OF CANADA. (1757

inability to obtain the necessary supplies four hundred men
only could be sent to fort Duquesne on the Ohio, although the
necessity of reinforcing the garrison was well understood, in
view of what was heard of the operations designed against it.
There had been little attempt on the part of the British to
replace the vessels and bdateanxr destroyed at fort William
Henry, accordingly not only all fear of an expedition against
Ticonderoga and Crown Point had passed away, but aggress-
ive operations were determined upon. In June de Vaudreuil
was able to report that at fort William Henry there were only
three hundred men, many of whom were sick, and that at fort
Edward, on the Hudson, the garrison was of the same strength
as in winter, with three additional companies of regulars and
thirty-six militia. It was plain that no operation was designed
against lake Champlain and that the English forts possessed
but indifferent means of defence. It was known that the main
body of regulars and militia had been transferred to New York
to join an expedition against Louisbourg. All the force that
remained to protect the frontier was 800 regulars and 2,000
militia. The forts, as it were, invited attack, the garrisons
being weak in number and the forts incapable of resistance.

sur la situation olt se trouvent réduits les subalterns des trcupes de terre. Comme
tout est au moins trois fois plus cher que quand elles sont arrivées dans la colonie,
il n’est pas possible que les lieutenants puissent vivre avec leur paye, si vous
n’avez la bonté d'y avoir égard en les faisant augmenter, ou en leur faisant donner
le vin et autres douceurs qu'ils ont eu les premiéres campagnes.

Permettez-moi d’avoir I'honneur de vous faire les mémes représentations pour
moi. La place que j'occupe m’oblige de tenir un état honnéte pour m’attirer la
considération que je dois avoir. Je n'ai cependant pas & me reprocher d’avoir fait
aucune dépense mal A propos et je croirois m@me avoir mal servi le Roi, si je
n’avois pas regu avec la décence que j'ai observée.

Ce qui n'a pas empéché que je n’aie usé d’une grande économie. Je me trouve
cependant cette année en arriére de dix mille livres des appointements que le Roi
me donne ; cela ne peut qu'augmenter, puis qu’il ne me reste plus rien des provi-
sions que j'avois apportées de France.

Je vois supplie d’avoir la bonté d’observer que je n’ai pour fortune que les
bienfaits du Roi, que je dépenserai avec plaisir & son service; et tout ce que je
désire, du cote de I'argent, est de ne rien devoir en partant de ce pays ; il seroit
bien douloureux pour moi de laisser plus de dettes que je ne serai en état de payer.

M. de Lévis 4 M. de Paulmy, 1oth Oct., 1757. Lettres, pp. 177-178.
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It was information too important to be neglected, and in a
month preparations were made to profit by it, which were to
be crowned with complete success.

In a previous volume [III., p. 569] I mentioned the difficulty of weighing the
evidence with regard to the massacres asserted to have been committed by the
Indians on the taking of Oswego. Subsequent investigation establishes that they
did take place, and were unrepressed by de Rigaud and a portion of the French
force. With the Canadian troops the proceeding was only in accord with the
policy which had been followed for a century: the destruction of every inhabitant
on disputed territory, or permission granted to the Indians to carry away prisoners.
to serve as slaves until redeemed. To the majority of the French officers the
proceeding was in every way repellent. Nevertheless, it was enforced by the
governor-general de Vaudreuil. Before his day it had become a recognized
principle in carrying on war, to use Le Mercier’s expression to Eyre, that the
Indians should be *gratified.” They formed so important an adjunct to any
French expeditionary force, that it was important to conciliate them to the fullest
extent.

The officer named de la Tour, reported as being murdered in the hospital,
belonged to the artillery, and by a cannon shot had lost his legs [Can. Arch.,
A. & W.1,, 83.7, p. 225]. The fact is mentioned in ‘‘a statement of six
deserters, etc.” 21st August, 1756. It is proper to state that on the 3id of
October Loudoun wrote to Henry Fox [Ib., pp. 246-273] that he did not give
credence to any massacres at Oswego ; but this opinion he subsequently changed,
One Beuzil, then a prisoner at Quebec, writing to governor Morris of Pennsylvania,
also records the death of ‘ one lieutenant of the artileri¢.’ He adds: ‘‘The
whole number of the garrison killed very inconsiderable, not exceeding fourteen
Sergeants and Privates. Some were since murdered by the Indians and their own
drunken misconduct.”] Ib., 83.2, p. 514. Lieut.-colonel Littlehales also wrote to
Loudoun [Ib., 83.2, p. 518] : *‘ After the capitulation, some of them having got
in liquor fell into wrangling with the Indians, and several of them were killed ;
the nuinber was uncertain.”” These letters were written by prisoners hoping to
be exchanged, and in order to be forwarded had to be read by the French
authorities.

In a letter from Loudoun to Holderness, commenced at sea on the 18th of
August, and finished at New York on the 17th of October, the news having been
brought by a despatch boat of the taking of William Henry, Loudoun speaks of
the massacres by the Indians, as ‘ The inhuman and villainous breach of the Capit-
ulation.” He then proceeds to speak of the taking of Oswego as being followed
by the murder of several of the soldiers in the fort, and the whole of the sick in the
hospital. [Ib., 85.2, p. 358.]

The fact is officially substantiated that in the face of a large French force after
the capitutation of Oswego these Indian massacres took place.
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CHAPTER II.

Lord Loudoun arrived in New York in July, 1756. He
remained in America until March, 1758* Franklin has
stated in his autobiography{ that Loudoun was recalled
owing to the fact that Pitt never heard from him and could
not learn what he was doing. Such was by no means the
cause why Loudoun was ordered to return to England : there
has seldom been so voluminous a writer of dispatches or a
more patient and careful correspondent} with a minister.
The fault of Loudoun’s character was, that he was deficient
in resources, and that he looked upon as insuperable the
difficulties which could have been overcome by boldness, tact,
and judgment. His letters shew that by nature he was
desponding, and that he was impressed by the gloomy side of
any event, foreboding failure where a more sanguine tempera-
ment would have looked for success. He was without the

* Ante vol. III., p. 558. He arrived on the 23rd. Webb and Abercrombie
had preceded him on the 7th of June. [Can. Arch., vol. 83.1, p. 11, A. & W. 1.]

+ [Vol. I, p. 219, Ed. 1844.] *‘* When in England I understood that Mr.
Pitt, afterwards lord Chatham, gave it as one reason for removing the general,
and sending generals Amherst and Wolfe, that the minister ncver heard of him,
and could not know what ke was doing” (sic). This statement is another proof
of the unreliability of Franklin’s narrative. In this case he is doubly incorrect,
for Loudoun was replaced by Abercrombie, and not by Amherst. In his complaint
of his detention at New York when about sailing for England, he also misrepre-
sents the cause when attributing it to Loudoun’s irresolution. There was a
general embargo on all vessels [London Magazine, 1757, p. 256] so that intelli-
gence of the proposed expedition should not be carried to the enemy. No one
could have chafed more from the want of news of Holbourne’s fleet than Loudoun
himself. It was the want of knowledge concerning the naval force, with which he
had to co-operate, which paralyzed him. The fact at the time Franklin, from his
political position, must have known. It is charitable to suppose that Franklin’s
memory failed him when writing at the age of eighty-one. The embargo was
removed on the departure of Loudoun.

%+ The letters of Loudoun are to be found in volumes Can. Arch., 82-86,
A. & W, 1., seven in number ; some of the years consisting of two parts.



1756] FILIUS GALICAE. 21

elastic moral courage which rebounds from “ fortune’s blows ”
with renewed strength, and in no way possessed the states-
manship which discovers the means to an end. Consequently
he failed to form a just opinion of the condition of the British
provinces, and his whole career was one of failure. He was
conscientious in the performance of his duties, was painstaking
and industrious. There is no accusation against him of
corruption. Being surrounded by advisers of the same mental
calibre as himself, the defects of his character had full sway.
An event happened as Loudoun was leaving England which
to this day remains unexplained. It was not publicly made
known, consequently no allusion is found to it, even by modern
writers. At the time it caused serious anxiety in London, and
active efforts were quietly made to discover the writer. Early
in March, 1756, some letters received by vessels which had
sailed from New York, for some cause attracted the attention
of the authorities, and they were opened. They were found to
contain communications addressed to the duc de Mirepoix,
signed “ Filius Galice,” with a request that the answer was to
be left at a coffee-house in New York, directed to “ Mr. Pierre
Fidel until asked for.” The writer stated that he was French
by birth, and secretly a Roman catholic ; he offered his ser-
vices to aid in enlisting men to join the French, among the
Germans and the Irish catholics in Pennsylvania. He speaks
of himself as occupying a high position,and makes allusion to
his aide-de-camp, as if a general officer. In the first letters
he affirms that three officers were acting with him, subsequently
that ten had accepted his views. With great professions of
devotion to the interests of the king of France, he asked that
money should be sent him to carry out his plans. A small
sum was by no means embraced, for he undertook to assure to
the French the territory west of Virginia and Pennsylvania,
asserting that he was in a position of trust and importance,
and had the power to fulfil his engagements. He wrote* that

* This correspondence is contained in Can. Arch., Series A. & W. L., vol. 81,
marked ¢ Secret and Miscellaneous.” The letter alluded to is dated the 1st of
March, 1756, and is to be found on pp. 48-53. '
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he had levied 10,000 men, nominally for the service of the
British, on whom he ‘could depend ; that at his bidding they
would all take the other side ; he trusted to raise the number
to 15,000. “I am not now,” he continues, “under the least
concern in case any of my letters to yr. gr. [your grace] should
be inspected that it could be a prejudice to me, for I am from
my behaviour among ye English here, in that Vogue among
them that I should not in ye Least be suspected . . . 1
could deny them.” He dwelt upon the fact that the Irish
Roman catholics were dissatisfied; and many of the Germans
of the Roman catholic faith would by preference serve the
king of France; as for the heretics he lived among, they
minded no other religion than that of getting money, and they
were indifferent as to the government they lived under if they
could retain their property.

What was of importance was the correct and even able
narrative given of public affairs ; it was plain that it could only
have been written by one well informed, and a keen observer.
Some steps taken by Shirley which had not been reported in
England were described ; on inquiry the statement was found
to be correct. Two of the letters were enclosed to a Mr.
Gamble, of Londonderry, by one signing himself “James
Allen,” asking that they might be forwarded to France; an
ordinary reason for writing them being assigned. Gamble’s
suspicions must have been awakened for he opened the first
letter, and through his brother in Dublin, sent it to the duke
of Devonshire, then lord-lieutenant, and by the latter it was
submitted to lord Halifax.

Although the writer represented that he was of French
descent, there was no trace of any French idiom in his language,
and from some peculiarity of expression the belief was enter-
tained that he was an Irishman. Even if the object was alone
to obtain money, and the power of fulfilling his disloyal
promises was limited, the offer of his service as a spy and a
partizan still remained, and the presence of a person possessing
ability exercising this infamous calling, in a position where
information could be obtained and where no suspicion was
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felt, was fraught with danger. Inquiry must early have estab-
lished that the account given by the writer of his position and
influence was not only exaggerated but unwarrantable.
There was no such person as he claimed to be. On the other
hand he had misrepresented the sentiments of the population,
which for his own purpose he described as disloyal. As the
letters are read at this date it is not difficult to conclude that
they were written to obtain money for the writer’s benefit :
a systematic fraud. At the time this opinion could not be so
easily formed. It was plain that no one could have communi-
cated the information, startling from its correctness, without
holding some prominent office. One curious circumstance is
that no attempt was made to send the letters through Canada.
It suggests that the writer knew no one he could trust, and that
he felt the danger of so acting. His cunning enabled him to
defy detection. In spite of the caution with which the inquiry
was made, no proof was obtained to establish his identity. No
person of the name of “James Allen” was known in
Philadelphia : but strong suspicions were entertained as to the
authorship. Fox wrote to the duke of Devonshire. “One
captain George Croghan, an intriguing, disaffected person and
Indian trader was very much suspected.”® Thus the matter
ended. In 1756 Croghan was employed by the province of
Pennsylvania in raising men for the protection of the western
frontier. In July he threw up his commission; the reason
has been given that he was dissatisfied with the treatment he
received. It is not improbable that the suspicions entertained
with regard to him were in some way made apparent. For
several months the intercepted communication caused per-
plexity in London, and to the officers charged in investigating
their character. Loudoun, Webb and sir Charles Hardy
received instructions on the subject ; and however cautiously
their inquiries were made it is probable that they could not
be kept entirely secret. It must, however, have been soon
apparent that no such disaffection existed, as described, and

* Can. Arch., Series A. & W. I, 81, p. 54.
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that the writer, except in his individual character. was power-
less for evil.*

Loudoun early formed the conviction that it was not pos-
sible to resist the sudden inroads into British territory of
Canadian and Indian parties. In his view the true policy was
to assail Quebec with an irresistible force, as it lgss would
paralyze the whole province. It was the courXe fecomended
in his despatches, and it obtained support in London. In
consequence the troops were kept ir\readiress to be moved to
New York for embarkation on the arrival of the fleet. The
garrisons of forts Edward and William Henry were reduced in
strength, and there were no reinforcements in the field avail-
able to sustain them. The fort at lake George was therefore
at the mercy of a powerful expedition from Ticonderoga, and
the extent to which the frontier had bcen left was only too
well known in Montreal.

Loudoun had succeeded Shirley in command, and in his
reports to the home government he cast the blame of the bad
condition of the province on his predecessor. Shirley is one
of those characters, concerning which there has been difference
of opinion ; but the fact is incontrovertible that he undertook
executive duties for which he was unfit, and disorder was the
consequence of his leadership. The success of the expedition
against Louisbourg has obtained for him great consideration ;
but in the narrative of that event the prominent part taken
by the British navy is generally put out of view, and success
always covers many faults. Fortunately on that occasion,

* Croghan, on arriving from Ireland, settled on the Susquehanna, and eventually
became an Indian trader in the neighborhood of the western part of lake Erie. I
have alluded to his presence in the Ohio, at the period of de Céloron’s expedition.
[Vol. I11., p. 447.] On leaving the service of Pennsylvania he joined sir William
Johnson on the Mohawk, and worked under his orders. Eventually he was
appointed by Johnson deputy agent jn charge of the Ohio and Pennsylvania Indians.
Croghan lived until 1782. In the revolutionary war he seems, in the first instance,
to have adhered to the royalist cause ; subsequently he appears as a supporter of
the revolutionary party.

+ The French minister as early as the 28th of February notified de Vaudreuil
of the proposed attack against Louisbourg. The letter was acknowledged from
Canada on the 12th of July. N.Y. Doc., X., p. 584.
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Shirley had the co-operation of a man of judgment and sense,
admiral Warren. The honours he gained, unhappily for
himself, led him to accept obligations which he imperfectly
comprehended, and therefore inefficiently fulfilled. What
preserves his name in respect, is the enlarged view he took of
the situation in which the provinces were placed, and the states-
manlike measures he proposed. In this respect he rose high
above most of his contemporaries. Had he confined himself
to the enunciation of a policy, and left to others all executive
responsibility, few names would be held in higher estimation.
To Shirley’s moral fearlessness was added high physical
courage, and he was ambitious of possessing the reputation of
a military leader. The mishaps of Shirley in this respect are
attributable to his want of knowledge of the art of war ; the
absence of all prevision on his part ; his weakness of combi-
nation; his neglect of ordinary precaution; his ignorance in
letting things take their course, when the remedy was simple
and attainable. Although much is disclosed to shew the want
of honesty during Shirley’s government, he cannot be accused
of being personally implicated : but from his political position
he was thrown under the influence of men by whom the public
interest was sacrificed. Loudoun’s statements on this point are
plain; but Shirley himself remained poor, and the inference
must be drawn that he recognized these combinations, more
with the view of sustaining his popularity and position than
from greed.

Shirley’s first interview with Loudoun is recorded by the
latter with the depression of tone habitual to him. Shirley
told him while handing over “a few papers of very little use,”
that he had communicated everything to general Abercrombie,
and Loudoun had nothing to do “but pull laurels.”* There
was not a shilling in the paymaster’s hands, and large sums
were owing. A few days after his arrival, Loudoun reported
that Oswego was defenceless. The men had had no pay for
eight months, and Abercrombie had to pledge his personal
credit to obtain money for supplies. There had been no

* Can. Arch., Series A. & W. 1., 83.1, p. 11,
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provision for the wants of the service : neither camp equipage
nor magazines, nor waggons to send forward the food. The
vehicles required had to be pressed in the middle of the
harvest. Everything was in confusion. The returns set forth
that there were 6,900 provincial troops in the field ; but the
belief was that their number did not exceed 4,000 fit for duty.
Some of the officers commanding these regiments desired to
undertake expeditions, the magnitude and danger of which
they in no way understood. “I think,” added Loudoun,
“that I shall be able to prevent them doing anything very
rash, without their having it in their power to talk the language
of this country, that they could have taken all Canada if they
had not been prevented by the king’s servants.”

The provincial officers entertained the belief that the troops
they commanded had been raised for the specific purpose of
an expedition against Crown Point, and that they could not
be diverted to any other purpose. That French post was as
much a threat to New England as against New York.
Abercrombie early reported to Loudoun that the Massachu-
setts troops had received instructions not to march southwest
of Albany, or west of Schenectady. There had also grown up
a feeling of disinclination to co-operate with the king’s troops.
In an interview with Winslow, the latter objected to any
junction : his regiment desired to serve alone; he, however,
asked to take the opinion of the principal officers. When
Shirley was spoken to on the subject, he had answered that
they would serve under him.t

A council of war had been held at Albany on the 16th of
July. Winslow showed his usual good sense, and expressed
himself personally desirous that the junction should be made,
but he apprehended, if attempted, that there would be almost
universal desertion. His own officers considered that they
were strong enough to reduce Crown Point. They looked for
reinforcements, which would not be sent if they acted with the

* Can. Arch., Series A. & W.I,, 83.1, p. 26.
+ This word is'written in Abercrombie’s letter to Loudoun [3rd August, 1756.
A. & W. 1., 83.1, p. 32] in capital letters. (sic) *“ HIM.”
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King's troops. It was agreed that a meeting of the field
officers should be convened. The debate lasted five days, wheri
it was determined that if the field officers would lose their
rank no junction should be made.

The same objections were entertained by the Rhode Island
troops. A notice was sent to the colonel that he was to serve
under Winslow ; indeed so strong was the feeling that the junc-
tion was not considered advisable, and the regulars remained
apart at fort Edward, Saratoga and Half Moon.

It is not possible to absolve Shirley from blame for his
neglect of Oswego. It is to him that the responsibility must
be affiliated, that the place was so ill supplied with provisions
during winter, that the troops suffered from sickness, and there
was in all quarters great discontent that no pay had been
given them. What was even more a matter of blame, the fort
was defenceless from its imperfect construction, and no efficient
steps had been taken to make it defensible. It was also of
paramount necessity that the British provinces should retain
naval supremacy on lake Ontario, for with this advantage no
landing could have been made by the French. In common
with all that was required, this self-evident duty had been
neglected and one of the vessels had been taken almost in
sight of Oswego.

A letter is extant to Shirley, from Mercer, who was killed at
the siege, written a few days previous to the attack. With
some despondency it sets forth the neglect of every precaution.
Pepperell’s regiment had had no pay for eight months. The
price of labour in completing the fortifications had been
injudiciously reduced. The allowance of rum to the soldiers
had been stopped, for there was none to give them. The French
had agents constantly tempting the men to desert by promise
of great rewards: he himself was receiving “anonymous
threatenings to desert if regard is not paid to what they (the
troops) call their just complaints.” From want of money it was
thought impracticable to carry on the public works longer than
the 17th. There was no authority to draw bills, except by the
verbal orders of Shirley’s secretary, Mr. Alexander, and Lewis,
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the paymaster, was afraid to act upon such instructions from
the fear of future embarrassments. Eleven men had just
deserted from the soth and fourteen from the 5ist. An Indian
had brought notice that the French were numerous at
Cataraqui, and that they designed an attack at the next new
moon ; moreover, that a French camp had been formed four
days’ march to the eastward.*

There could be no doubt in the minds of public men in
provincial life of the value of Oswego, if the future sovereignty
of the southern shores of lake Ontario was to be maintained
as British territory. If held of little account, why place a
garrison there? It was impossible not to have foreseen that
the establishment of this northern port would eventually lead
to hostilities, and that it could only be held by its strength
and the valour of its defenders: nevertheless, the place was
left imperfectly fortified, and during the winter insufficiently
provided, and with a garrison unpaid and discontented.

One of the charges against Shirley is, that a quantity of the
provisions sent to Oswego arrived in a valueless condition,
and that a portion became bad from exposure. The building,
in which the supplies should have been protected, was filled
with goods for trade with the Indians.+ From want of proper
storage the provisions had been left exposed to the sun and
weather, and hence their deterioration to such an extent, that
a large quantity was left behind by the French, on their
departure, as unfit for use. The goods for the Indian trade,
according to Loudoun, were sent up by Shirley and his friends
at the king’s expense. On three occasions fourteen, twelve
and eight dateanx were so employed, with smaller convoys at
other dates.

Whatever Loudoun’s faults, he cannot be held responsible
for the loss of Oswego. Shortly after his arrival he gave
Webb the local rank of major general, so that he should be
supreme in his command. The gattack on Oswego took

* Mercer to Shirley, Can. Arch., A. & W. 1., 83.1, pp. 101-6, 2nd July, 22nd

July, 1756.
+ Can. Arch., Series A. & W. 1., 83.1, p. 246.
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place the eighteenth day after his arrival in New York. He
described the loss of Oswego as “ this very fatal event,” and
he instructed Webb not to quit his post if it could possibly be
held. In his letters to England he spoke of the disaster as
“a large Pill to swallow.”

Accompanying the news of Oswego, came the intelligence
that a number of Indians under a French officer had attacked
fort Granville on the Junita in Pennsylvania, constructed at a
point commanding the navigation. A lieutenant and twenty-
four men were in the fort ; the remainder of the garrison had
been ordered out to assist the settlers in getting in their
harvest. The lieutenant and some of the men were killed ;
the rest were carried off prisoners. After demolishing the
fort the assailants set up a French flag, which they left there.
So great was the depression in this district of Pennsylvania,
that the country was abandoned by the inhabitants who had
settled there, from the feeling that the government was unable
to protect them. '

Judging that there was no chance of success, Loudoun
directed Winslow not to advance against Crown Point, and
this exercise of control does not appear to have caused dis-
satisfaction. De Lévis records in his journal, how constantly
he sent out parties to occupy the attention of the William
Henry garrison, in order that a large force should be con-
sidered necessary to its defence, and that no reinforcements
should be sent to Oswego. He takes credit for the success of
his efforts, but a knowledge, of the condition of affairs at
Albany, shews that no such design was entertained.

After the news of the fall of Oswego was confirmed
Loudoun addressed a circular to all the provinces as far as
Georgia. He called for their assistance in completing their
quota of men, and asked that instructions should be given to
these levies to act in connection with the king’s troops. In.
July, New Hampshire had refused this request, or, as it was
euphemistically voted, “this Paragraph to Lye for the present
under consideration.” He now told the legislatures “ that the
colonies would have the whole Indian power on their back,”
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and he called upon them to put their frontier in" safety, and
that all he could undertake was to defend the country. At this
date he looked forward to an invasion of the British territory
by lake Champlain, and his circular was not worded so as to
restore confidence, or awaken courage. In his letters to the
home government he dwelt on the difficulties of his position,
and he saw little in the attitude of the provinces which he could
satisfactorily report. It is not improbable, that the expression
of this opinion suggested to Chatham his unfitness for
command. By his own admission he could awaken no
enthusiasm, and could scarcely hope for even decent co-opera-
tion. To use his own words, he experienced not only “a
general backwardness in every colony, but even almost in
every individual on this continent to aid in carrying on the
public service,and every expense raised as high as possible to
the crown.” *

It is evident from the frequent mention of the fact, that
food and provisions were exported to the French from the
British provinces. The provincial assemblies were called
upon to forbid this proceeding. Loudoun wrote to England
that he had strong reasons for belief that the trade was car-
ried on. One Wheelwright, of Boston, is named as actively
participating in it, and the Dutch of New York are particu-
larly mentioned as furnishing provisions: as the trade was
profitable many were engaged in it.

It is a strange record to make that the provinces in the
first instance declined to find quarters for the imperial troops,
sent by the mother-country to fight in their defence. Shirley
in his day had found for them the meanest of accommodation.
He placed the troops with double rows of beds in such
buildings as he could obtain ; an arrangement carried out at
the expense of the comfort and health of the soldier. Officers
were allowed what was called “slaaf gelt,” a small sum as
lodging money, utterly insufficient to meet the expense.
Loudoun was at this time engaged in recruiting for the four

* Loudoun to Fox, 3rd Oct., 1756. [Can. Arch., Series A .& W. 1., 83.1,
p-24.]
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battalions of the “Royal Americans.”* He heard that the
intention was to establish the troops in some block-houses
and temporary barracks, insufficient in themselves, and that
no preparations were to be made for the recruits he was
enlisting. No provision was to be made for the reception
of officers. He strongly protested against these arrangements,
pointing out the difference between peace and war ; he con-
tended that it was incumbent upon the citizens to furnish fit
quarters for the troops. He was the more firm in his demands
as the remaining provinces were waiting to see the result of
the pretensions of New York. Should the province succeed
in avoiding the obligation, Loudoun might expect on all sides
the same refusal to receive the regiments, without some
special payment. Loudoun prevailed, but not without diffi-
culty; the troops were found quarters and the officers decently
provided for.

Loudoun’s representations of the policy of attacking Quebec
so far obtained support in London that he was informed that
a force of 8,000 men was to be embarked, with a strong fleet
to co-operate. He was ordered, with the troops he could
dispose of in the British provinces, to rendezvous at Halifax.
As late as the 25th of April no plan of operations had been
communicated to him. The troops were assembled at New
York for the purpose of being embarked. The arrival at
Louisbourg of a French fleet was known, and it was feared
that, without a convoy sufficiently strong to encounter it, the
transports would run the risk of being attacked by a superior
force. An embargo was placed upon the shipping to prevent
the intelligence of the sailing of the expedition being carried
to the enemy. It was this order which caused the delay of
which Franklin complains in his autobiography, and which
he misrepresents as being attributable to the irresolution of
Loudoun.

A fleet had been manned in England under admiral
Holbourne, consisting of fifteen ships of the line and some
frigates, with fifty transports containing 6,200 troops, com-

¢ The present imperial regiment, the 6oth, ‘The King's Royal Rifle Corps.”
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manded by general Hopson, who constituted the land force
taking part in the expedition. Owing to want of proper effort,
and several delays having arisen, the ships did not leave
England until the sth of May. Sir Charles Hardy was in
command of the vessels at New York, having lately resigned
the governorship of that province to return to his naval duties.

Early in May Loudoun received orders to embark, and to
sail for Halifax, where the object of the expedition would be
made known. There had been many desertions from the ships
of war in order to join privateers, owing to the large amount of
money made by following that career. Several vessels were
therefore wanting in strength. Loudoun caused the town to
be surrounded by his troops, and as the cordon advanced the
deserters were arrested, and placed on shipboard. The fear,
however, remained of sailing with an insufficient convoy.
Loudoun reported the danger of his position at the end of
May,* adding, in his gloomy way : “If they meet us there is
an end of the troops that go from thence.” Nothing was to
be heard of Holbourne’s ships, and he was paralyzed by their
non-appearance.

After some hesitation Loudoun determined to sail, and
run the risk of the attack by which he felt that he was
threatened. The troops were embarked on the s5th of
June, and were to be escorted by the few vessels of sir Charles
Hardy. Had the French but known of the'departure of the
transports and their weakness against attack by vessels in
force, they might have annihilated the expedition, or have
made prisoners of the whole. All the precaution that was
possible was taken ; vessels were sent out to cruise to learn if
there was any sign of the French fleet, and on the report that
no enemy’s flag was visible the vessels sailed on the 2oth to
cross to Halifax.

Webb was left in command. On leaving New York
Loudoun had written that he hoped Crown Point and
Ticonderoga might be taken: a view of the situation which
shows how Loudoun failed to comprehend the extent of the

* Loudoun to Pitt, 3oth May, 1757. Can. Arch., Series A. & W. L., 85.2, p. 280.
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French force which Webb would have had opposed to him,
and how ignorant he was of the consummate ability of the
generals at theirhead. One matter justly caused him vexation:
Loudoun was governor of Virginia, the executive duties of the
office being performed by Dinwiddie, as lieutenant-governor.
The latter, without authority, raised the embargo which had
been enforced along the sea-board, while it was being continued
at New York. The step was mortifying to Loudoun, as it
placed him in a false position, for it appeared as if he was
favouring his own government at the expense of the remaining
provinces. The jealousy of the provincial was always easily
excited, and men were never wanting, who, for purposes of
their own, were ready to appeal to this sensitiveness. It does
not appear that any unpleasant consequences resulted.
Indeed, the events of the succeeding fortnight were all power-
ful to command attention, for on the 8th of July Montcalm
commenced his advance on fort William Henry. ‘

The French fleet, not knowing the prize which was escaping
them, remained quietly at anchor at Louisbourg, themselves
looking for the attack which spies in London had positively
reported would be made. Loudoun arrived safely in Halifax
on the 30th of June. On the gth of July Holbourne with his
ships were in front of Halifax, but so thick and continuous was
the fog, that it took five days to enter port, although sir
Charles Hardy sent out thirteen sloops of war with pilots to
assist the incoming ships.

Much historical ridicule has been thrown upon Loudoun
for the “impotent conclusion” of the year’s operations.
Writers speak of these operations as the “ cabbage-planting
expedition ;” but really this lampoon has preserved the
recollection of the prudence and foresight shown by Loudoun.
It must be remembered that he only remained in Halifax
forty-seven days, for he sailed away on the 16th of August.
In this time, in order to obtain fresh vegetables for the troops
as a preventive to the scourge of scurvy so often experienced,
and to keep the troops in health, he employed them in plant-
ing pot herbs and cabbages. It was, at least, a healthy

D
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employment of the time of the troops, and it was hoped would
be a set-off against the tendency to drinking then so common
with soldiers on service. The men’s health, indeed, suffered
from the bad rum they obtained by means of the peddling,
unlicensed rabble which follow every corps d’armée, pests
against which it is scarcely possible to guard. Owing to the
sickness which affected the troops from this cause, an order
was given to secure all the liquor in the place, and to lock it up
in the king’s stores. This occupation of planting vegetables,
with field days and drilling, occupied the time of the men.
It was during this period that the episode in which lord
Charles Hay figured took place. Hay had seen some service,
and chafing under the inactivity, he made himself promi-
nent by his insubordination, publicly attacking Loudoun’s
generalship, stating that the public money was wasted in
cabbage planting and sham fights* Loudoun, in reporting
the fact, asked that Hay might be instructed to remain at
New York until further orders. On a second occasion he
stated that “he had been forced to rougher measures.”
Finally, on Forbes, the adjutant-general, reporting that Hay,
on being refused leave, had stated he would take it, Loudoun
placed him under arrest.}

* Can. Arch., Series A. & W. I,, 85.2, Loudoun to Holdemness, 5th and 6th
August, pp. 341, 343, and Fforbes, p. 344.

+ Lord Charles Hay was the third son of the marquis of Tweeddale, and was
present with the guards at Fontenoy, in 1745. He is generally accredited as
being the utterer of the speech calling upon the French guards to fire first. When
placed ander arrest for his contumacy he was third in command to Loudoun and
Hopson. He was sent to England to be brought before a court-martial. The
court did not assemble until February, 1760, lord Charles died the first of May
following, before the sentence was promulgated. Boswell quotes Johnson as
saying, ‘‘I wrote something for lord Charles, and I thought that he had nothing
to fear from a court-martial. I suffered a great loss when he died, he was a
mighty pleasing man in conversation, and a reading man. [Croker’s Boswell,
IIL, p. 375.] Croker adds that he consulted the minutes of the court-martial, but
he could find nothing he could attribute to Johnson. Langton gives the more
probable account. Owing to Langton'’s frequent praise of Johnson, Hay requested
to be introduced to him. They met several times ; on one occasion lord Charles
read the MS. he had prepared, upon which Johnson said, ‘it was a good soldierly
defence.” Johnson, however, pointed out that it was in vain to contend with
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Intelligence had reached Halifax of the presence of a large
force at Louisbourg. In the first instance its strength had
been understated ; but the capture of a vessel disclosed the
fact that fifteen ships of the line and three frigates were in the
harbour, and that 6,000 troops, 3,000 militia and 1,300 Indians
were present. A council of war was held on the 5th of
August, and it was resolved “to lay aside all thoughts of
attacking Louisbourg.” Loudoun accordingly embarked a
portion of his troops for New York on the 16th of August,
leaving the 1st battalion Royal Americans, the 27th, 28th, 43rd
and 46th regiments to defend Nova Scotia, the force of which
had previously consisted of three regiments. He proceeded
to New York with the 17th, 22nd, 42nd, 44th, 48th and 55th
regiments, and the 2nd and 4th battalions of the Royal
Americans, with the rangers.

Holbourne sailed the same day as Loudoun, and parted
company with him to arrive off Louisbourg. Learning that
the French fleet had received an accession of strength, he
deemed it unwise to risk a battle, and returned to Halifax.
Having been joined by two ships of the line, one of 70 and
one of 60 guns, on the 11th of September he again sailed to
Louisbourg, in the hope that the French would come out to
attack him. The challenge was not accepted, the duty of the
French admiral being to protect the fortress. While cruising
in the neighbourhood, about ten leagues to the south of the
fort, the fleet was caught in a hurricane of great violence,
which lasted for several hours. The vessels were carried
towards the coast, and had the wind continued in the same
direction the whole fleet must have been driven on the rocky
shore of Cape Breton. Eleven ships lost their masts ; many
had to throw their cannon overboard. The “ Tilbury,” with a
crew of 280 men, was wrecked, and many perished. On the
4th of October eight ships, greatly damaged, reached Halifax,

those who were in possession of power; if they would offer him the rank of
lieutenant-general and a government it would be better to desist from urging his
complaints.” [Ib., IV., p. 355.] Itaccordingly may be inferred that Hay himself
had demanded the inquiry.
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while others found refuge at New York. Some ships of war
were left for the protection of Nova Scotia, and the remainder
sailed for England. The French fleet remained at Louis-
bourg until the end of October, when it sailed homeward ;
leaving two ships of the line and one frigate for the defence
of the harbour.

The disastrous close of the expedition from which so much
had been expected caused general dissatisfaction and dis-
appointment. Contemporary writers in the mother country
did not fail to attribute the failure to the dreary government
under which England groaned.* The one theory of the
ministers in power was the advancement of their own political
fortunes, and the assurance of support from the obsequious
followers who unfalteringly sustained them. In a country
possessing free institutions, men obtain the government they
deserve. Itis on the constituencies that the choice of their
rulers depends ; it is they who, for good or for evil confer the
executive authority, and it is their prerogative to banish an
incompetent minister into obscurity. If through corruption,
or motives of interest, or indifference, or indolence, they fail
to act wisely in exercising this privilege, they must pay the
penalty of their neglect of public duty, by suffering the
calamities of misrule. The truth nevertheless remains that
when the government falls into bad hands, there always lies
the remedy in the expression of opinion by honest men to

® ¢ In this manner ended the expedition to Louisbourg, more unfortunate to
the nation than the preceding designs on Rochefort ; less disgraceful to the
commanders, but equally the occasion of ridicule and triumph to our enemies ;
indeed, the unhappy consequences of the political disputes at home, the instability
of the administration, and the frequent revolutions in our councils, were strongly
manifested by that languor infused into all our military operations, and general
unsteadiness in our pursuits : faction in the mother-country produced divisions
and misconduct in the colonies ; no ambition to signalize themselves appeared
among the officers, from the uncertainty whether their services were to be
rewarded or condemned ; their attachment to particular persons weakened the
love they ought to have entertained for their country in general, and destroyed
that spirit of enterprise, that firmness and resolution, which constitutes the com-
mander, and without which, the best capacity, joined to the most uncorruptible
integrity, can effect nothing.” Smollett, chap. XXVII., 20.
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confer power on those from whom a faithful execution of the
public trust may be anticipated.

It was on his way to New York, on the 18th of August, by
a despatch boat, that Loudoun heard of the capture of fort
William Henry, accompanied by a demand that he should
take steps for the protection of Albany.
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CHAPTER IIL

On the evening of the sth of January, 1757, an event took
place at Versailles which indirectly influenced the war in
Canada, for it led to the removal of de Machault, the minister
of marine, and of d’Argenson, secretary of state for war : the
ministers hitherto charged with conducting the operations of
the campaign. Their replacement at this time by inferior
men injuriously interfered with the despatch to Canada of the
reinforcements and the material of war so urgently required.
De Machault had originally owed his favour to the influence
of Madame de Pompadour. The jesuit party were now again
supreme, including as supporters the new archbishop of Paris
de Beaumont, and bishop Boyer, whose duties included the
recommendation to benefices; an office giving him great
power.. Both were strong supporters of the doctrines laid
down by the bull Unigenitus, and were firm advocates of the
supremacy of the church above the state. This party had
obtained thorough control of the mind of the dauphin :* they
looked upon his future accession as a certain assurance of its
unlimited ascendancy. Regarding Madame de Pompadour as
unfriendly to them, the higher clergy had attacked her by
refusing the sacraments equally to herself and the king.

The crisis was one of threatened national bankruptcy ; it
was in this emergency they determined to affirm the power of
the church that as a divine institution it should be freed from
the general taxation. De Machault, as minister of finance,

* Owing to the jealousy of the king, the dauphin was denied all participation
in state affairs ; his naturally melancholy mind, unappealed to by duty and
occupation, found resource in the acceptance of the extreme ultramontane doctrines.
He is reported to have said, *‘ Si je suis appelé au trlne, et que I'église me com-
mande d’en descendre j'en descendrai.” He died the 20th of December, 1765.
Three of his sons sat upon the throne of France, the unfortunate Louis XVI., the
second son, Louis XVIII., and Charles X.
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opposed all such exemption, he was unfriendly to the political
pretensions of the clergy. D’Argenson, on the other hand,
was an antagonist of the self-assertion of parliaments, and in
the disputes with the clergy he took the ecclesiastical side.

De Machault had shewn considerable ability in finding funds
to carry on the war ; after the peace of Aix-la-Chapelle he saw
plainly that the condition of France would not admit any
reduction of her marine, and that a large expenditure was in-
dispensable for the repayment of the debt and the equipment
of the navy. Accordingly, he undertook the task of reforming
the system of taxation, by which the debt could be gradually
extinguished and provision made for the national necessities.
In 1749, he proposed the continuance of the dixiéme, which had
been established in 1741, with the understanding that it was
to be suppressed at the peace. He desired to retain the tax
in the modified form of the twentieth part of all revenues,
without power of immunity by gifts or redemption, extending
over the whole population, including the incomes of the clergy.
An outcry was at once raised against the so-called sacrilege;
the clergy determined to resist the tax, on'the ground that it
was their duty to obey God rather than man, and as a corol-
lary avoid all obligation to the state.

A revival of the assertion of the power of the church
followed : one form it took was the rigid enforcement of the
edict of Nantes, so that every opposing influence should be
strangled in its cradle. The direct consequence was the
persecution of the Protestants. The old infamous tyranny
was renewed wherever the provincial governors could be led
to take part in it. Children christened out of the church
were taken from their parents; Protestants assembled for
worship were shot down or taken prisoners. In 1752,
Bénezet, a Protestant minister, was hanged at Montpellier for
performing the ceremonies of his church. In 1754, Lafage, a
preacher, was seized in Lower Languedoc, and in twenty-four
hours hanged by authority of the intendant. The bishops
were called upon to instruct their clergy to refuse the
sacraments of the church to all who could not produce éi/lets
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de confession® In modern times we cannot appreciate the
consequence of this assumption of power. In our generation
a curé in any civilized country refusing to perform the burial
service over a corpse, it would be carried to the first protestant
burial ground and be decently interred. At that date the
denial of the customary ceremony at the grave, was in itself
typical of disgrace, and shocked every social and religious
feeling. The proceeding gave immense power to the priest-
hood, for ecclesiastics of moderate views were forced by their
superiors to act with severity. The more capable of the laity
indignantly condemned the arrogance of the clergy, whether
the dictate of a calculated prudence or springing from belief
in the policy of persecution, and eventually France became
awakened to its mischief: public feeling became so strong
that restraint was placed upon it. In 1755 Boyer died, de
Beaumont was exiled from Paris, and Pope Benoit XIV.
intervened to obtain peace. A compromise was made: the
bellets de confession were withdrawn, and the right of taxation
of the clergy was waved.+ De Machault, however, was not
sacrificed, but he was removed from the finance to the marine,
in which office he shewed great ability and energy, his efforts
being successfully given to the creation of the French navy.
As the continental complications attained force the French
ministry became divided into two parties: one desirous
of forming a confederacy with Prussia, Sweden and Poland,
thus forming a powerful coalition against any union

* A certificate that confession has been made.

+ Numerous pamphlets appeared on both sides of the controversy, in which the
privileges and morals of the upper clergy were vigorously attacked. Voltaire
published anonymously ‘¢ Poix du sage et du peuple”’ He contended that there
were not two powers in the state ; that the prince was absolute master of all regula-
tions affecting ecclesiastics in relation to publicorder. Headvised the king to give
back to the ‘“laws of nature the imprudent men and the imprudent women who
have made vows hurtful to society at an age when it is not permitted of any one to
dispose of property,” and hoasted of the services of philosophy in destroying
superstition, always the enemy of princes. [Henry Martin, XV, p. 410.] On
one occasion complaint was made against a book, and its suppression obtained.
In the published notice of its condemnation the book was described as making the
clergy appear as the body the least useful to society.
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between Russia and Austria. Such had been the ancient
policy of Richelieu, which constantly had opposed all increase
of the power of Austria. In opposition to these views there
were those who favoured an abandonment of the ancient
alliances in order to accept the offer of Maria Theresa and to
follow a policy in common with the empress. The latter had
really in view the partition of Prussia; the inducement offered
to France to co-operate, being a cession of a portion of
Flanders, to widen the French eastern frontier, while Maria
Theresa would herself regain Silesia.

It was impossible not to foresee that the latter alliance
would lead to war on the European continent, which would
embrace a wide area: while with Prussia on the side of France
the hostilities could be kept within narrow limits, and the efforts
of France could then be directed principally against the naval
supremacy of England. De Machault and d’Argenson were
alike in favour of the former. I must content myself in
stating that the conclusion of these negotiations was the
acceptance of the offer of Maria Theresa, based on the policy
of threatening the Hanoverian dominions of George II., and
by awakening his fears of losing his electorate, deter him from
active opposition to the designs of France.

It was in the ferment of this dispute between the state and
the church that Damiens’ attempt took place. The night was
dark ; imperfectly lighted by a few lanterns, the king was
about entering a carriage to proceed with the dauphin to the
Trianon. As he approached the doorstep he felt a blow in
the breast, and on raising his hand to the place found it cov-
ered with blood. Owing to Damiens being the only person
having his head covered, he was recognized as the assailant.
He was seized and searched. All that was found on him was
a prayer-book, thirty pieces of gold, and a two-bladed knife:
it was with the small blade that the wound had been inflicted.*

* It will ever remain a problem difficult to determine under what influence
Damiens acted. Writers of authority have described him as a man of weak
intellect carried away by monomania. His own explanation was that he only
desired to give a warning to the king, and lead him to punish the archbishop, the
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The injury was slight : Voltaire called it a “pegue d’épingle.”
The king, however, caused himself to be carried to bed, as if
dying ; it was subsequently explained that he believed the
knife was poisoned. He caused absolution to be given to him
five. or six times; summoned the dauphin, directed him to
preside at the councils, and acted as if he had but a few hours
to live. As always happens in such cases, the favourite was
deserted, while the whole court crowded round the supposed
newly-ascended king. The clergy saw their opportunity, and

cause of all the trouble. Other writers trace the attempt to the inspiration of the
jesuits. In 1761 Mr. Hans Stanley was sent to France to carry on negotiations
for peace. When there he wrote confidential letters as to the condition of the
country. On the gth of June, 1761, he wrote to Pitt: ‘‘Since the affair of
Damiens the king has never been easy in his mind. If, when he is hunting, or on
any occasion he meets a person whom he is not used to see, he starts and is
extremely agitated. The jesuits are charged by the vulgar as promoters of that
attempt. The Dauphin is esteemed much attached to that society, which does not
make him beloved, as they are generally hated.” [Lord Mahon's History of
England, vol. IV., p. 221.]

Damiens was twenty-two years of age, the son of a farmer in the north of
France, near Arras. He had received but little education owing to his father
having been unfortunate. FHe commenced life at the jesuit college at Arras as
cook ; he left that position to take a situation as a servant, and he is accused of
having been guilty of theft. He again obtained a situation as cook in the jesuit
college at Paris. A few weeks before the attempt he had again obtained a place
as servant.

Damiens was subjected to cruel torture to obtain a confession from him. An
instrument which had been invented by the pontifical inquisitors at Avignon was
specially obtained to increase his sufferings. Damiens went through this horrible
ordeal with great fortitude. To the last he denied that he had any accomplices
of any kind. He admitted, however, that he had confessed his intention eight
days previously to a jesuit father, and had received absolution.

At his trial, presided over by Maupeou, it was laid down that it was not
necessary to enter into minor details. Damiens was simply found guilty. He
suffered death on the 28th of March on the Place de Gréve, under conditions of
infamous and revolting cruelty. What was additionally disgraceful, women of the
Aaute noblesse and the wealthy bourgeoisie at great cost hired the windows from
which they could look on the butchery. Damiens, stripped naked, was bound
with iron chains to a stake ; his right hand, bound in sulphur, was held over a fire
until it was consumed to charcoal; pieces from his body were pulled forth with
red-hot tongs, and boiling oil and melted pitch and lead poured into his wounds.
Finally four horses were yoked to his arms and legs, and he was torn asunder :
horrible suffering which he endured for three hours.
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obtained an order that Madame de Pompadour should be
exiled from the court. It was conveyed to her by de
Machault. Madame de Pompadour contrived to delay her
departure. After some days passed in bed, the king rose, and,
as was his custom, found his way to the house of his mistress.
She saw herself re-established in power; favour she had never
lost.* One of her first efforts was to obtain the dismissal of
de Machault, who, she felt, had abandoned her in the hour of
peril. D’Argenson fell into disgrace, owing to a letter being
intercepted, in which he had made disrespectful allusions to
the king, and he had been prominent in his homage to the
dauphin. Advances of friendship were made to him on the
part of Madame de Pompadour ; they were repelled by him.
On the 2nd of February, 1757, he was exiled and replaced by
his nephew, the marquis de Paulmy. The removal of these
ministers at this particular period exercised an unfortunate
influence on the conduct of the war in America. Their
successors were without ability, and have long been forgotten.

The news of the change reached Canada in June, when de
Lévis at once wrote to the new minister, M. de Paulmy, con-
gratulating him on his appointment.}

The proposed attack of fort William Henry was now
resolved upon : the hinderance had hitherto been the want of
provisions. The supplies sent from France for the colony
had failed to furnish what was required ; for even with
this assistance there were scarcely provisions for two months.
The imperfectly defended frontier of New York was known to
the French. The preparations for the expedition by Loudoun
could not be concealed, and on the arrival of the ships in spring,
at Quebec, its destination against Louisbourg became known
from the information obtained by spies in London.

* Mde. de Pompadour died 15th of April, 1764 : her relations with the king
had lasted nineteen years. Her death in no way affected his callous nature.
, + De Lévis' last letter to d’Argenson was dated the 15th of April : his first
letter to de Paulmy the 20th of June. The latter was the nephew of d’Argenson,
to whom de Lévis expressed his regret at the exile of his uncle. ‘*Je ne peux
qu'étre trés faché de sa disgrace.” At the same time he enclosed a letter for
d’Argenson. [Lettres du Chevalier de Lévis, p. 112.]
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The British commander could in no way have foreseen the
consequences of the withdrawal of the regular troops from the
upper Hudson, leaving behind as the only force the garrisons
of forts Edward and William Henry, with the few troops to
maintain communication with Albany. There were about
2,600 men at fort Edward, mostly provincials, called out for
service, without discipline, including 200 of the Royal
Americans, lately enlisted recruits. William Henry was
garrisoned by six companies of the 35th, under lieut.-colonel
Monroe. The preparations which were being made by the
French did not augur quiet times for the British garrisons.
Early in July intelligence had been brought that troops were
being massed at Ticonderoga. It was indeed impossible to
conceal the movements on either side, the operations were
carried on in so narrow a limit,that the scouts could scarcely err
in obtaining tidings of what was doing. The advanced French
lines of Ticonderoga were only thirty miles distant by the lake
from the British fort. The lake was enclosed by a high range
of mountains on both sides to make attack impracticable by
any route but by water. The French, however, were con-
stantly sending parties up the narrow part of lake Champlain,
called by them the river Chicot, to threaten fort Edward.
They landed at the head of the small bay, and made their way
across to the road between the two forts; there being but
twenty-four miles or so from their canoes to the Hudson. The
fact is important in judging the subsequent conduct of Webb.

Webb appears to have fully understood the difficulties of
his position. The French were always able in a few hours to
become masters of lake George, by means of the short portage
from lake Champlain, although a work of labour from its
height. There had been little attempt to replace the British
vessels destroyed by de Rigaud in March, although some few
barges had been constructed. One of the first conditions of
the defence of the fort was that an attack by water could be
resisted. But the whole strength of the country had been
diverted to the naval expedition proceeding to Halifax.
There was every facility to complete a flotilla on lake George.
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Loudoun mentions colonel Meserve, of the New Hampshire
troops, a ship-builder of great ability and energy,* who could,
if properly sustained, have furnished vessels in sufficient force
even to have been aggressive. But the opportunity was neg-
lected amid the preparations for what was considered the more
important enterprise.

As it was evident some movement was designed by the
French, Webb proceeded to fort William Henry to examine
into its defences. The troops which the fort could not accom-
modate had been established on the north-western side, in an
imperfectly protected camp, as the situation was considered
too exposed, they were removed to a rocky eminence on the
southeastern side, and the place was well intrenched. Colonel
Young was sent with a reinforcement of 200 of the Royal
Americans and 800 provincials, with two brass 12 prs. and two
6-prs. The detachment of artillery was under the command
of captain McCloud. The reinforcement left Webb with 1,600
provincial troops to defend fort Edward and the entire frontier.+

* Loudoun speaks highly of Meserve. [Can. Arch., Series A. & W.I., 85.1,
pp. 7-8.] ¢ The most useful person I have. found among the provincials is a
colonel Meserve, who commands the regiment from New Hampshire. He is a
shipbuilder and is an active, sensible man, that has no scruples, but is ready to do
whatever you desire of him. He has built us a bridge from fort Edward to the
island ; he has built us large flat bottom’d boats for passing rivers, and carrying
great loads ; he has greatly assisted in carrying on the fortifications ; and now at
last has got his people to engage by the piece, to finish some of the barracks and
to raise one whole face of the fort five feet much cheaper than we could have
done it.  And by him I have got a large quantity of timber cut to be floated
down here, for making carriages for the cannon, which almost all I have seen in
this country, stand much in need of; and there is very little to be got and that
very dear ; by this means I shall have a very large stock provided at no other
expense but the cutting and floating down, and in a little time have seasoned
wood, which is a thing not to be found in this country at present. As he has
received nothing for his labours and pains (for the colonel does not scruple to
work with an axe, when he sees other people do not do it to his liking) I propose
to make him a present of a piece of plate of the value of twenty-five or thirty
pounds, which will make him happy, and, I hope, raise an emulation among the
others. This is the only gratuity I have proposed to give.”

Meserve rendered equally good service at Louisbourg : during the siege he
unhappily fell a victim to the small-pox.

+ Webb to Loudoun, Fort Edward, §th of August, 1757. [Can. Arch.,
Series A. & W. 1., 85.2, p. 389.]
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In addition to the weakness of the force opposed to the
French, their own narrow stock of provisions enforced upon
them the necessity of at once taking the field. De Rigaud’s
expedition in March had consumed a great quantity of the
supplies collected in early winter. What additional food
could be purchased from the /abitants had been obtained ;
but even with what had been received from France the total
quantity would barely furnish subsistence to the troops to the
end of August;* thus no time could be lost if the campaign
was to be undertaken.

The relations between Montcalm and de Vaudreuil were
greatly strained. In a letter to the minister of marinet
Montcalm described de Vaudreuil as one who had no character
of his own, and was surrounded by men who praised Montcalm
to him in order to excite his jealousy and foster Canadian
prejudice. There had been some feeling, owing to a serious
illness of the governor-general during the winter, when his
death appeared probable, and it had been a matter of doubt
whether Montcalm or de Rigaud would be called upon to
assume the government. Bigot desired that Montcalm should
obtain precedence.

Independently of his lower rank M. de Rigaud, from his
“incapacity ” commanded little public respect. Montcalm
described him as “this short sighted man, always led by the
first comer, and as one who would have embarrassed matters.”
From the absence of any defined regulation Montcalm asked
that a sealed letter should be sent to Canada, so that in the
event of the governor’s death he would assume authority.

Even when engaged in organizing the expedition against
William Henry, Montcalm asked for his recall at the earliest
possible moment. He was wasting his health, he wrote, to no
purpose, where he could not act in the King's service as he
desired, and where the governor was occupied in depreciating

* N.Y. Doc., X., p. 631.
+ tith July, 1757. N.Y. Doc, X., p. 576
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the service performed by him and the land troops,* at the same
time making them responsible for any failure that might

happen.+

* De Vaudreuil belonged to the marine force ; [Vide Ante. II1., 552-3.] there
was occasionally jealousy between these two branches of the service.

+ The heavy expenses to which Montcalm was subjected as general in com-
mand, with the inadequacy of the allowance to meet them, were a source of such
dissatisfaction that he wrote complaints on the subject to France. It will be seen
when the career of Wolfe has to be narrated, that although the general in com-
mand of the expedition at Quebec, he received no allowances commensurate with
his obligations : another of the strange coincidences in the career of the two
men. We cannot read without pain the representations made by Montcalm of
the necessity to which he was subjected of expending his private fortune, to meet
his official expenses. It will be my duty to shew how the unworthy treatment of
Wolfe was continued after his death. There is no ground to suppose that the
children of Montcalm received greater consideration. Whatever may be dreaded
by those who oppose the extension of liberal institutions, it is certain that no such
meanness and wrong can be anticipated : it may be looked for that any indis-
cretion would lie on the side of excessive liberality. Montcalm thus explains his
position as commander of the forces : ¢ My pay is only twenty-five thousand /Jizres.
1 have none of the perquisites of the governors or intendants of Canada; I must
support a staff ; I do nothing beyond, neither do I anything beneath, my station.

I am obliged to give myself importance, single handed ; no person seeks to
give me any here. They would fain try to deprive me of it, but they will not
succeed. M. de Machault admitted that I was not adequately paid ; he promised
to make it up to me and to attend to it. I did not come here to carry home
money, but should be sorry to make a hole here in the little patrimony of six
children.

I have, nevertheless, expended ten thousand francs beyond my allowance, and
shall continue, since the expense I incur is necessary. I flatter myself you will
assist me to pay my debts.” [As translated, N.Y. Doc., X., p. 578.]
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CHAPTER 1IV.

On the arrival of supplies by the ships from France de
Bourlamaque was despatched to Carillon with the regiments,
Royal-Rousillon and Béarn, to commence the work necessary
to complete the pgorfage. On the 3rd of July de Lévis left
Montreal for St. John’s, on the Richelieu, where the troops
were assembled. On the 7th he arrived at Carillon, with four
battalions, and took command of the frontier. The troops
were encamped near the falls; de Bourlamaque remained at the
fort to perfect the arrangement for the passage of the artillery
and ammunition. De Lévis’ first duty was to complete the
road from lake Champlain over the porfage so that the boats
and artillery could be moved up from lake Champlain to lake
George. The road was rapidly completed. The boats which
contained the troops, as they arrived, were carried across by
night ; the day time was given to the passage of the artillery
and stores, so no time should be lost.*

Detachments were sent up the lake to examine the northern
side + to observe the character of the ground, whether feasible
for an advance by land. One of these parties, under de Langy,
consisting of 100 Canadians with some Indians, came upon
a small party of scouts from the British fort, of which eighteen
were killed and eight taken prisoners ; four only escaped.

On the 12th of July Marin arrived with 400 Indians, gath-
ered from the tribes west of Detroit; they were to play a
prominent part after the capitulation, and it was their excesses

* On the 19th of July de Lévis wrote to de Vaudreuil : ¢‘ Sans une pluie de
trois jours qui a arreté notre portage, il [Montcalm] l'aurait trouvé presque fini.
Nous avons cent cinquante bateaux et quinze piéces de canon passés au lac Saint-
Sacrement.” (Lettres de de Lévis, p. 125.) At that date de Lévis had only been
twelve days at the camp.

+ ¢ Suivant la coté du nord.” The proper description would be the western
side.
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and cruelty which were the cause of the one stain on Mont-
calm’s good fame. They were men who knew civilization
only by their antagonism to it, and by no means could safely
be kept in idleness about encampments. On the third day
after their arrival Marin started with 300 Indians and 150
Canadians to ascend the narrows of lake Champlain, the river
Chicot ; the design was to harass parties from fort Edward.
There was a double object in these expeditions : that of con-
cealing the design against fort William Henry and assuming
a threatening attitude against fort Edward. Marin reported
that he had arrived close to the fort, where he met a detach-
ment of one hundred men, which he defeated and put to flight,
killing several and bringing away four prisoners. He returned
to his canoes unmolested.

On the 18th Montcalm arrived at Ticonderoga with de
Rigaud : he found that the portage of the guns and boats was
nearly complete. There remained only some stores and
ammunition to pass to lake George. Parties were continually
sent out to harass the British garrisons, to create uncertainty
which of the two would be the first attacked. Webb, fully
sensible of his difficult position, applied to the governors of
the different provinces for reinforcements. . There was not time
to obtain them before the attack would be made, and could
they have been sent, the raw troops, placed in the field with-
out discipline, would have been of little value in the crisis.

On the 23rd of the month a party penetrated as far as fort
Edward. On this occasion they met a strong force which was
scouting. Webb, in his account to Loudoun, states that the
covering party when attacked, as usual, gave way. They lost
fourteen men and six or seven wounded, provincial troops;
among the killed were a sergeant and a corporal of the 35th.
The dead were scalped.* On the British side a party of scouts
and Indians surprised a patrol of fifteen grenadiers near the
falls, of whom two were killed, two were wounded, the rest fled.
The noise of the firing attracted the attention of de Lévis,

* Webb to Loudoun, fort Edward, 1st August, 1757, Can. Arch., Series

A. & W. L, vol. 85.2, p. 381.
E
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who started parties in pursuit, but the assailants made good
their retreat. De Rigaud, who was in command at the head
of  the portage, with several Indians, sent out two strong
parties: one under de Villiers on the path leading to the
Mohawk country, with orders to place himself in ambush : the
second under de Corbiére, of the colonial force, who followed
the west side of lake George. His instructions were to conceal
himself, and, if possible, cut oft the rctrcat of any parties
descending the lake.

As night came on the scouts reported that there were several
boats on the water. De Corbiére immediately despatched
some of the swiftest of the Indians to de Rigaud, at the gorzage
camp, for assistance. From four to five hundred Indians
immediately answered the appeal. The canoes were drawn up
and concealed, and the men remained in the bush so that the
British boats should be allowed to pass and then be taken in
reverse.

The party which was thus falling into almost certain
destruction was a force of 300 men, principally of the New
Hampshire and New Jersey regiments, which, on the evening
of the 23rd, had left fort Edward in twenty-seven whale
boats. Webb, in relating the misadventure, gives this date,
and speaks of the impossibility of understanding on what
principle the expedition was undertaken. De Lévis explains
that it was with the intention of seizing prisoners, in order to
learn the movements of the French. On the afternoon of the
25th they procceded some distance up the lake, where they
established themselves for the night. It was at this time they
were seen by de Corbiére’s scouts. At daybreak, without send-
ing out parties to feel their way, the boats again started.
The orders given by de Corbiére were to allow them to pass
Sabbath day point,* about twenty-six miles from the fort by
water, where the French Indians lay in ambush. The
impatience of the Indians precipitated the attack ; they issued

* Some writers state that this term took its rise at the time of Amherst, who
refreshed his troops therc. It is used by Webb two years previously. [Can.
Arch,, Series A. & W. 1., 85.2, p. 381.]
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from their concealment before the boats had passed, advancing
rapidly from the shore in their canoes upon the unfortunate
detachment.* The British force, moving forward without
order, taken by surprise, outnumbered more than two to one,
confused by the Indian war-whoop and cries, thus suddenly
attacked by an army of canoes, made but little resistance.
The Indians attempted to board and capsize the boats. The
only effort on the part of the British force was to escape. Of
the three hundred men, colonel Parker, with four whale boats
only, containing fifty men, re-ascended the lake. About fifty
escaped by land, and regained the fort:{ two hundred
men were killed, drowned or taken prisoners. Montcalm
reported that he had 160 prisoners, five of whom were officers.}
Added to the hundred which found their way back to the
fort, forty only could have been killed or drowned, a loss
severe in itself, being that of every eighth man. De Lévis
informs us that these Indians were composed of twenty-two
different nations from the most distant countries, accustomed
to carry on war with the greatest cruelty, and in spite of
every effort of the generals, it was not possible to prevent the
perpetration of much brutality during the campaign.

On the 28th of July, the preparations being complete, an
Indian council was held, in order that the consent of the chiefs
could be obtained to the day appointed for the march of the
troops. There was a deficiency of boats ; it had accordingly
been resolved that a detachment should advance along the
western side of the lake, and cover the landing when it took
place. This force was placed under the command of de Lévis,
with de Sénerzergue as his lieutenant ; the latter commanding

* De Lévis’ Journal des Campagnes, p. 86.

+ At least such is the meaning I attach to Webb’s words in his report to
Loudoun [Can. Arch., Series A. & W. 1., 85.2, p. 382] : *‘ Fifty others escaped,
getting to land.” The fact is likewise corroborated by de Lévis,

I N. Y. Documents, X., p. 591. He estimated that 160 had been killed or
drowned. Of the number of his prisoners there could be no mistake. De Lévis
relates [Journal, p. 87] that among the prisoners was a New England colonel.

In spite of every attempt to obtain his ransom, the Indians carried him away as a
slave.
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the regiment de la Sarre. The column consisted of 570 land
troops, 100 troops of the marine, 1,200 militia, 300 volunteers
and 800 Indians, amounting to 2,970 men. On the evening of
the 29th de Lévis proceeded, without tents, kettles or equipage,
to camp Brulé, half a league from the portage, where he
bivouacked. On the following day the column started, the
Indians and volunteers forming the advance guard. The
march over the greater part of the ground was one of severity,
on account of the roughness of the country, the heights to be
overcome, and the quantity of fallen timber lying in all
directions.

On the 31st, Montcalm, with the force to be embarked,
moved up to the camp Brulé; the troops awaited, with
impatience, the order to start. There was neither wine nor
eau de vie in the camp, and they felt all the weariness of
indolence, against which they had no resource. The Indians,
who nominally were Roman catholic, occupied the time in
confession. The three priests could scarcely satisfy the
ardour of the penitents. The Indians of the upper country
were led by different impulses, as christianity, in any form,
was to them unknown. They looked upon any delay as a
disastrous augury, threatening misfortune. They accordingly
performed a sacrifice to their manitou, and left hanging up to
him a full equipment, as Indian worship suggests, to propitiate
the ill-favour which they dreaded.*

The embarkation took place at two o'clock in the after-
noon of the 1st of August, in 250 boats. The western shore
was followed. On reaching Ile-a-la Barque, the Indians
formed the advance guard in 150 canoes, and continued to
ascend the lake to the bay of Ganaouské, about eight miles
from the fort.

On the evening of the 1st, de Lévis arrived at this bay, the
point of meeting agreed upon. At ten at night he gave the
signal of his presence by lighting three separate fires. From
the spot where he was encamped he could observe the whole
lake. The advance guard arrived at half-past twelve.

¢ De Bougainville au ministre de la guerre, 19th Avril, 1757, [Dessieux, p. 296.}
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Montcalm landed at three o’clock. The remainder of the
force rapidly followed.

Owing to de Lévis having sent out parties to discover a
spot offering conveniences for landing, and the necessity of
obtaining rations, he did not start on the following morning
until eleven. The country was flat and intersected with
several small morasses; at five o’clock he was within two
miles of the fort, and he there encamped. He describes
himself as plainly in view of the garrison. Montcalm arrived
during the evening, and at eleven at night gave orders for the
landing to be made. About midnight the scouts became
aware of the approach of two barges of the enemy, sent to
obtain information. On approaching the shore they saw the
danger into which they had fallen, and endeavoured to
retreat ; one did escape. A crowd of Indians in their canoes
darted out to intercept them, and opened fire. The fire was
returned, when a Nipissing chief was killed and two of the
crew wounded. The second barge was taken, and from the
crew, which were made prisoners, Montcalm learned that his
projected attack was known; he therefore determined to
hasten his operations.

The provincial troops had hitherto occupied a position west
of the fort; on the arrival of the French they took possession
of the intrenchment which had bcen commenced as Webb had
directed. De Lévis, with his force, passed round the fort and
established himself south of it, near the road to fort Edward,
to prevent reinforcements arriving. De la Corne, with some
Indians, occupied the road itself. In their march the Indians
found one hundred and fifty oxen, which, as de Lévis relates,
were of great use, for the French obtained fresh meat while the
siege lasted. As the advance guard of de Lévis was on the
march they came upon a detachment sent out to bring in the
cattle, which were at pasture. Opposed to so large a force the
British could only retreat. The fact shows that the defenders
of the fort were taken by surprise, and that they entirely
failed to conceive their true situation.

On taking up this position de Lévis was joined by Montcalm,
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and together they examined the fort and entrenchments.
They formed the opinion that the place could not be stormed;
but must be besieged in ordinary form, and the troops received
orders to commence the work of the approaches.

At four o'clock on the 3rd, Montcalm sent a summons to
surrender. The text of the letter has been preserved,* and the
purport is corroborated both by de Lévis and de Bougainville.+
Montcalm stated that he had a strong force with artillery, “ and
all the Savages from the higher parts of the country, the cruelty
of which a detachment of your garrison have lately too much
experienced. . . I have it yet in my power to restrain the
Savages and oblige them to observe a capitulation as hitherto
none of them are killed, which will not be in my power in other
circumstances.” He pointed out that the defence could only
delay the surrender for a few days, and that no succour could
be given.

With this statement of Montcalm before us, it is impossible
to absolve him from responsibility in the Indian massacres
and brutality which succeeded the capitulation. If he could
force the Indians to observe the conditions of a capitulation
under one character of circumstances, he could have done so
under all circumstances. He was perfectly familiar with the
promises made to the Indians in order to lead them to take
the field. He knew that they were enticed by the hope of
plunder and slaughter to take part in the expedition. He
had been reproached by de Vaudreuil for the restraint which
he had exercised over them at Oswego,! and he had been
made to understand, if the Indians were to remain faithful to
the cause, they were to have their promised reward. It cannot
be pretended that Montcalm could have been taken by sur-
prise at the attitude of his Indian allies on the morning of the
1oth of August. Before he fired a shot he knew the elements
of which his force was composed, and, in event of his success,
the consequences against which he had to guard. It will be

* Que. Doc., IV, p. 123.
+ Journal de de Lévis, p. 98. Dessieux, p. 299.
1 Ante vol. III., p. 570.
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seen what precautions were taken by the victors, when the
hour arrived for them to observe the terms of the capitulation
they had granted. The neglect of their obligations to exer-
cise restraint over the Indians can only be remembered to the
discredit of Montcalm and the entire force he commanded.
This want of good faith was bitterly felt throughout the
British provinces: when the hour came for the surrender of
Montreal, the memory of it was sternly acted upon.

Monroe answered to the demand for surrender like a
gallant soldier, that it was his duty to defend his post, and
that he would do so while he had life. On the morning of
the 3rd he had sent a messenger to Webb, to say that the
enemy was in sight; at nine he asked to be reinforced ; at
six in the evening he reported that he had been summoned to
capitulate, and Montcalm was present with a numerous army
and a superior artillery ; that his own men were in good
spirits.* On the 4th of August, at six o’clock, he wrote that
he was harassed by Indians, that the regulars were construct-
ing batteries, and “that the enemy is between you and us.”
In a sortie a prisoner had been made, Jaques Vaudrie de la
Chesnay : from him he had learned that the enemy had 36
cannon and 4 mortars.

Williamm Henry was a square fort with four bastions. It was
not far from the water’s edge, and occupied the ground in
modern times laid out as a garden to the large hotel now
erected there; the west side being about 250 yards from the
left shore of the lake. It was surrounded by a ditch in the
centre of which was a line of pallisades. The sides consisted
of framed timber filled with gravel and stone, in the present
day known as crib work. It was massively constructed, being
thirty feet in thickness, but it did not possess the strength to
resist heavy artillery in a regular siege. The troops which
could not be included in the fort were entrenched on a rocky
eminence to the east,} and there was a daily relief of the

® Can. Arch., Series A. & W. L., 85.2, p. 393.

+ These intrenchments yet remain, to some extent, and are preserved to satis(y
the curiosity of the tourist. It was from this spot the garrison started on the 10th
to proceed to fort Edward when the attack was made upon them by the Indians.
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defenders of the fort obtained from the force established at
this spot. The total number of defenders, including all
present, was about 2,450.*

As there was little prospect of aid from Webb in any
attempt todrive the French from their trenches, the one hope
of Monroe was, that he would be able {o defend himself until
the provisions of the French were exhausted, and they would
be compelled to raise the siege. The force of Webb at fort
Edward had been reduced to 1,600 men; six hundred of
those under his command being distributed in the small gar-
risons on the Hudson, keeping up the communication between
Albany and fort Edward.

United States writers blame Webb for not immediately
marching to Munroe’s relief, had he so acted no greater
blunder could have been committed. Webb was without the
strength to act with any success against de Lévis, and the
Indians of de la Corne. He had no means of increasing his
force : the garrisons could only be partially withdrawn from
the forts on the Hudson, for they had been reduced to
the lowest limit. It was equally impossible for him to have
marched out of fort Edward with every man under his
command. If relief had been attempted he must have left
a strong garrison behind him to guard against the surprise
by which he had been constantly threatened. He was
without means of communication with Monroe, so that a

* According to a return in the Département de la guerre at Paris, the following
is a state of the force on the gth of August, the day of surrender :—

Royal 35th regiment, all ranks................... 607
Independent companies. ...c.oevveiieeiiiarieeans 113
Massachusetts regiment.. .. ..ooeeevervnrieens 812
New Jersey H eieiecenvanae Ceeeiieseene 301
New York B 57
Royal Americans ““ ... .c..ciiiiiiiiieiiieinaes 122
Mounted Rangers. ..c...oveieienee trniecnncens 95
Royal Artillery, etc.... cooviiiieeiiaiiaainnnn, 30
New Ilampshire regiment.... ........ Ceeereseae 230
CommiSSaries. ... ceevees sevrenneensrese soens 5

Total... tevernecvanconannnns 2,372

N.Y. Doc., X., p. 625. .
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sortie from the fort could be attempted on an appointed day
when firing was heard to the south, establishing that he
himself was in the field. The large force under de Lévis,
in his front, cut off every means of communication. More-
over, as was subsequently shewn, any attack on de Lévis
would have brought the whole French army upon him. Webb
defeated in the field, fort Edward must have fallen and there
would have been nothing to oppose the advance of the French
to Albany. Supplies, to a large extent, were found at William
Henry, and more provisions would have been obtained at fort
Edward. The false position in which Webb was placed was
attributable to the tactics of Loudoun, in denuding the frontier
of troops for the Halifax expedition, thus making defence
against any powerful force impossible. Webb has himself
described the position in which he was placed, and he shews
the injustice of the blame which has been cast upon him.*
After relating Parker’s unfortunate expedition on the 23rd
and 24th of July, when he was attacked 26 miles down the
lake, and 200 men were lost ; 50 only escaping by boats and
50 through the woods ; he states that he immediately wrote
pressing letters to put the militia under arms. On the 2nd of
August he reinforced fort William Henry to the full extent he
was able: lieut. colonel Young being sent with 200 of the
Royal Americans, 80o provincials, 6 pieces of cannon and a
detachment of artillery. He had only 1,600 troops remaining,
exclusive of artificers. Accordingly he called in his several
outposts to fort Edward, and on the 6th of August he: had
2,500 men, including all who were in the garrison capable of
bearing arms. On the day of the surrender there were 2,300
militia under arms at fort Edward, and he did not feel himself
warranted in attempting with this number any relief of the
garrison.

Much of the unfavourable criticism upon Webb in these
circumstances may be attributed to his precipitate destruction
of the forts at the carrying-place of the Mohawk when

® Can. Arch., vol. military despatches, 1756-1763, pp. 324, 331, col. Webb
to lord Barrington, fort Edward, 17th of August, 1757.
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news arrived of the fall of Oswego. It has given rise to a
predisposition to judge him unfavourably. Webb, however,
whatever his shortcomings on that occasion, appears to have
been a good and efficient soldier.

It was an emergency in which higher qualities were called
for than mere courage. Montcalm was not a general, in whose
presence a blunder in the field would pass unnoticed and
unpunished. With his Indian scouts he was kept thoroughly
acquainted with the movements of the enemy. Webb has
also been judged by the earnestness of Monroe’s appeal to
him. No standard of criticism can be more unjust. It isthe
power which Webb possessed to aid Monroe which must be
considered : not the critical position in which the fort stood.
In that respect Webb was hopelessly weak and could render
no assistance, even having fears for his own safety.

De Lévis relates that his especial duty was to see to the
communication with the Hudson, and his scouts were inces-
santly on the watch. The remaining force was formed with
its left on the lake and the right against the mountain. De
Bourlamaque was placed in charge of the siege. On the
night of the 4th the trenches were commenced with 800 men
and a covering party of 400 grenadiers. The batteries, com-
menced at 2,100 feet distance, were pushed forward with great
energy. The troops had been camped in the rear, to act
immediately in case of a sortie: in this position a portion of
them was exposed to the fire from the fort, and loss was
experienced, so they were removed out of range.

Webb had applied to the provincial governors for reinforce-
ments, and they had been promised ; but the arrival of any
troops did not take place until after the surrender. Had they
been present, it is difficult to recognize that an undisciplined
body of men, newly enlisted, could have rendered any
effective service. Webb on the 4th had written plainly to
Monroe, that with his present force he could not march to his
assistance or send him reinforcements until the arrival of the
provincial militia, which had been called out. If they failed
to appear in time, he advised Monroe to make the best terms
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he was able. The scout carrying the despatch was killed,
and although adroitly concealed within the body of the
messenger, the paper was found and given to Montcalm at
midnight.*

Montcalm thus saw that his chance of success lay in urging
on the construction of the batteries, and in bringing the siege
to a close. Accordingly he doubled his working parties and
by every encouragement he hurried forward the completion of
the works. Except for the purposes of scouting, and by
their presence causing a dread of savage warfare, the Indians
were of no positive use during the siege. According to the
statement of de Lévis, they were 1,796 in number, and were -
commanded by de la Corne Saint-Luc, under the orders of de
Rigaud. Of this number 800 had marched with de Lévis.
They formed less than a fourth of the troops present, who
numbered 7,306.%

The Indians embraced many of the nations which a few
years previously had been the most troublesome enemies of
the French : the Sauteurs, the Renards, the Sakis, the Puants,
and other tribes with whom the customs and habits of thought
remained unchanged by civilization. The Ottawas, of Detroit,

¢ “J] [Webb] remit cette lettre & un Sauvage qui fut pris par d'autres et
comme ils le tuérent pour en faire festin, suivant leur usage ils la lui trouvérent
dans le fondement envelopée dans une feuille de plomb et la portérent a3 M. de
Montcalm.” Memoires [1749-1760), p. 97.

+ Dessieux [p. 292] gives the following detail of the troops present, extracted,
as he explains, from long documents :—

Regular troops, 3 brigades. ......coivvs cenenn 3,081

Militia, 2 2,946

Artillery. . vieneiiiiii it ittt e 188

Indians of 33 nations—

The Christianized Indians............... 820
From the upper country.... .... ...... 986

— 1,806

Total..ocovees coeernnnnneans 8,021

He adds : Deducting the men non effective, and the garrisons left at Carillon,
the falls and the head of the carrying-place, the number of fighting men was s, 500,
which, with the Indians, would raise the number to 7,306.” See also despatch of
de Bougainville to M. de Paulmy, 19th August, 1757. [N.Y. Doc., X., p. 607.]
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were also present in force, with a few of the Illinois. There
were also a small number of the Hurons of Quebec, with 339
of the christian Iroquois of the Sault and of the Two Mountains.
There were 301 Abenakis, from Bécancour and Saint Francis.
This large force had been called into the field by de Vaudreuil,
and the various tribes, however differing in character and
unconnected by relationship, had alike answered to the com-
mon expectation of reward by plunder and the possession of
prisoners.* There cannot be a doubt that the instructions
received by Montcalm with regard to this mass of savage
life, were embarrassing to him. Their value in regular warfare
was their activity as scouts, which was very great, but other-
wise during the siege they were a constant source of trouble.
Previous to starting from Carillon, Montcalm had called a
council, and, while informing them of his intention to advance,
did so under the semblance of asking their opinion. He pro-
duced a belt of wampum, typical of the union of these several
races with the French. It was accepted by the Iroquois, who
answered for the fidelity of the remaining nations. They
agreed unanimously that the advance should be made also
by land.

After the siege had commenced the Indians were desirous
that the operations should be carried on as they held expedient.
They regarded their duty to consist in firing at the fort, in
seizing the chance of shooting down any one exposed. Mont-
calm consequently called them to a council. He was able to
exercise the great influence which he had acquired to obtain a
promise to preserve better discipline, if one can hazard the
word. He complained that they were neglecting the more
useful duty of scouting in order to fire upon the fort,and that

* In deVaudreuil’s instructions [Que. Doc., IV., p.102] these tribes are specially
rentioned as having given their word not to separate until the campaign was
finished. De Vaudreuil’s expectation was that the surrender of fort Edward would
follow that of fort William Henry. ¢‘ Nous n’en devons pas douter que .
le fort Lydius n’en soit intimidé au point qu'il ne lui opposera qu'une faible résis-
tance.” This success attained, the Indians were to be sent out to ravage and devas-
tate the English settlements at Schenectady and Albany. It was M. de Vaudreuil’s
theory of the perfection of war.




1757] PROGRESS OF SIEGE. 61

the majority remained idle by their canoes. He called upon
them to establish themselves by the camp of de Lévis, as they
had consented to do, and where they would be useful.

The Indians had a grievance on theirside. They complained
that they had not been consulted as to the mode in which the
siege should be conducted. They had been ordered to march
without consultation with their chiefs. They were quieted by
Montcalm’s explanations, and received from him additional
belts of wampum ; he obtaining their promise that they would
join the camp of de Lévis. He read the intercepted letter of
Webb to Monroe, and foretold the rapid surrender of the fort,
adding that on the morrow the big guns should be heard by
them ; an exhibition of power they looked forward to with
delight.

During the night of the 5th and 6th the left parallel was
pushed forward, and its communication with the right battery
established. At six in the morning of the 6th the left battery
opened fire with three 18-prs,, five 12-prs. and a 9 in. mortar.
On the 7th the right battery was advanced goo feet and
unmasked at day break. It consisted of eight guns, two of
which were 18-prs., two howitzers, likewise one 6 in. mortar.
At six o'clock there was a general discharge from both
batteries amid the cries of the Indians. The firing had been
continued for three hours when de Bougainville was despatched
to the fort as the bearer of Webb’s intercepted letter, with the
hope that it would determine Monroe’s surrender. Montcalm
had the tact previously to submit his intention to the Indians,
and made them believe that he had taken this step by their
recommendation. The letter was courteously acknowledged,
but no immediate step followed.

On this day Montcalm received the red ribbon of a com-
mander of the order of Saint Louis. The news of the
honour was communicated to the Indians, with the informa-
tion that it had- been obtained by the help of their service.
On the right, the works were being pushed forward from their
oblique position, so the guns could bear directly on the fort.
A swampy piece of ground extending over about 300ft. led to
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some temporary impediment, and the work was carried on
under exposure to fire from the fort; but the difficulty was
overcome.

At four o'clock of this day there was a false alarm of an
attack from fort Edward. The French troops were rapidly
massed in position. The event is worthy of notice to shew,
how impossible it would have been for Webb with his small
force, to have effected any movement in the field by the single
line of communication. He would have been overnumbered
four to one, his own column being imperfectly disciplined,
and never having been under fire. The movement was the
false intelligence of an Indian scout. The result, however,
had the effect of establishing with the Indians greater con-
fidence in the French. -

On the morning of the gth the sap had been carried within
233 yards of the western side. For the previous three days
the artillery had continued the attack. The cannon of the
fort had been diligently worked, but the feeling must have
been irresistible, that without the presence of a large force to
drive the French from their position, there was no hope for its
defenders. They were in a deplorable condition : several men
had been killed and more wounded* Disease had broken
out, many of the heavy guns had burst, their two brass
mortars were in a useless condition. There were but 17 shells
left. Their strength was insufficient to make a sortie to have
any effect on the besiegers. On the other hand, the comple-
tion of the battery in the last approach opened out the
prospect of a heavy cannonade from the enemies’ lines, now
closely advanced upon them.

A council of war was called, and it was resolved to
capitulate. At eight o'clock on the morning of the gth a
white flag was held out, and colonel Young, commanding the
detachment of Royal Americans, was sent to arrange the
terms of surrender.

* The number of killed was 41, the wounded 71. N.Y. Doc., X., p. 625.
The French killed and wounded were 53. Montcalm to the minister of war, 15th
of August, 1757. Que. Doc., IV, p. 115,
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The articles granted were that the troops should march out
with their arms and the honours of war, with the baggage of
the officers and men only. One piece of artillery, a 6-pr,,
was allowed to be taken from the fort in recognition of the
valour with which it had been defended ; the place immediately
to be given over with the stores, guns and ammunition ; the
troops to proceed to fort Edward, on parole not to serve for
eighteen months. All prisoners made since the commence-
ment of the war, officers, soldiers, Canadians, women and
savages, to be delivered at Carillon within three months, as
they were delivered an equal number of the garrison on parole
to be allowed to serve. The sick and wounded were placed
under the protection of Montcalm.

De Bougainville, in his narrative of the siege, states that
Montcalm, after having agreed to the terms of capitulation,
warned colonel Young that he could not pledge his word for
the observance of the conditions, unless accepted by the
Indians.®* In consequence, he submitted to the leading chiefs
the terms he had granted, and the conditions were accepted
at a council. De Bougainville was the officer selected to
draw up the articles of surrender.

Had the circumstances of Canada permitted, it would
have been the fate of the garrison to be marched as prisoners
to Montreal. Their surrender was complete, and in their situa-
tion there was only open to them the desperate alternative of
refusing to give or take quarter, to exact better terms. It was
however, simply impossible to find food for them. There is
a letter from Bigot} which sets forth that it was the wisest
resolution not to make the garrison prisoners of war: “we
could not feed them.” He adds that the same want of provi-
sions justified the non attack of fort Edward ; for the longer
detention of the Canadian /Zabstants would have led to the
loss of the harvest, and he could not have found subsistence
for the troops after August. At that date the inhabitants of
Quebec were limited to a ration of a quarter of a pound of

® Dessieux, p. 305.
+ N.Y. Doc, X., p. 631.
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bread a day, and there was general scarcity throughout the
colony.

Hitherto the Indians had been restrained from the use of
liquor ; indeed neither wine nor spirits had been served out to
any part of the force. De Bougainville tells us that previously
to returning to the trenches he exercised great care in the
destruction of all the strong drink in the fort,before the garrison
marched out. The evacuation took place at noon of the gth,
the British troops proceeding to the entrenched camp. A
French detachment was likewise present as a protection against
interference on the part of the Indians. De Bourlamaque,
with the force from the trenches, took possession of the fort.
He placed sentries at the magazines and the provision stores ;
the fort was otherwise given over to pillage.

The scene which followed on the succeeding day is one of
the best remembered in the history of the continent. The
event was early placed on record.* It has frequently been
related, and often with exaggeration : the facts, however, in
their plain truth, can in no way be gainsaid. Some French
writers endeavour to explain them away, and bring forward as
an argument the folly of the British soldiery in giving rum from
their canteens to the Indians in the hope of appeasing them.
They also dwell upon the cowardice of the troops in submitting
patiently to the Indian attack, affirming that they were seized
with a panic to be incapable of offering resistance. The British
amounted to 2,260 of all ranks, with several women and
children. They were without ammunition. The king’s regi-
ment, the 35th, was alone armed with bayonets. The records
of the siege show the self-assertion with which the Indians
forced themselves upon the attention of Montcalm. There
were present under his command 3,000 regular troops and 2,500
Canadian militia. There were 1,800 Indians. These figures
show what power Montcalm had at his disposal to restrain the
Indians in any attempt at aggressiveness, of which he
disapproved.

I would gladly, if I could, acquit Montcalm of blame on

* Smollett has described it, Chap. XXVII., 19. (1763-1765.)
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this occasion; it appears to me impossible to do so. De
Lévis, de Bourlamaque, de Bougainville, de Sénezergue and
men of this calibre could have but one feeling of what was
incumbent upon a French officer under such circumstances.
The Canadians had been bred, with the tradition of allowing
at the hour of victory full sway to the bloody instincts of the
Indian. Those who read in these volumes the narrative when
inroads were made upon the settlements of New England by
the Abenakis, will have difficulty in adducing many instances
when, through the intervention of the partizan leaders, the
fury of their Indian allies was stayed, or mercy shewn. The
chief motive of the savage in joining an expedition, even when
his passions were excited by the appeals made to them, lay in
the hope of plunder. De Rigaud, who was in command of
the Indian force, had complained of the restriction against
this license which had been exercised at Oswego. Men of the
stamp of de la Corne Saint-Luc, Marin, Langlade, de
Longueuil, de Niverville and de Langy knew no other policy,
than that the savage had to be conciliated by the reward he
claimed. He could only be kept true to French interests by
the gratification of his instincts for blood, plunder and
prisoners. It had been the law and practice for nearly a
century, and the emergency which sanctioned it jn their view
was as strong as ever.

The fort had been plundered, but the intrenched camp was
as yet untouched. Early on the morning of the 1oth of
August, when the days are longest, the motley tribes of sav-
ages crowded round the eminence on which the fortifications
had been thrown up. They found the British, in accordance
with the capitulation, preparing to march to fort Edward.
They feared the booty, which they looked upon as their right,
would escape them. There were seventeen wounded men in
the hospital, belonging to the Massachusetts regiment. They
had been placed under the protection of a French surgeon,
who had then left them, and his place had been taken by the
surgeon of the regiment. The French sentries which had
been posted had been removed. The Indians forced their

F
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way into the sick ward, dragged the men from their beds,
killed and scalped them.* The French troops, drawn up in
line, were not forty rods distant, and there was no attempt to
protect or save the unfortunate men thus murdered. It was
the commencement of a general plundering of the troops
drawn up to march out of the intrenchment. Some of the
French officers counselled that the demands of the Indians
should be met, and the articles they asked for should be given
up irf order to appease them. The advice in some instances
was acted upon. Nevertheless, the uproar continued, and
the unsatisfied rapacity of the savages led them to be more
clamorous. The duty of the French officers was exceedingly
plain, to have marched a body of men of sufficient strength
to prevent interference with the troops of the captured garrison
by the savages, whose instincts they knew. The British
troops were unarmed, and if in their desperation there had
been an attempt at resistance the Canadian force would have
come to the rescue of the Indian; all opposition would
have been overpowered, and the probability is that a fearful
massacre would have followed. The numbers against the
British would have been in the proportion of two to one: an
armed body of men against disarmed troops. The taunt of
cowardice made by some French writers is unpardonable, and
may be taken as the fullest proof of the weakness of their
case. We have only the statements of the French that rum
was given to the Indian by the soldiers. Itis not so stated by
any British authority. It is not impossible that a great
quantity of spirits was found at the plunder of the fort. The
seizure of much of the baggage doubtless included the posses-
sion of the canteens, and as the Indian drinks, drunkenness
would be the immediate consequence.

The column left the intrenchment. As it marched out the
Indians rushed upon the rear ranks, took from officers and men
all they could lay their hands on, stripping them of their dress
and accoutrements. The women and children were seized

¢ Affidavit of Miles Whiteworth, surgeon of the Massachusetts regiment, 17th
of October, 1757.
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before the faces of the French escort. Many were Kkilled.
Those of the troops who in any way resisted were tomahawked:
it is not possible to mention the exact number; but de
Lévis speaks of some fifty as being so slain.* Webb, while
relating that there was an escort of three hundred men, deliber-
-ately expressed the opinion that the attack was connived at
by the French.+ The rear of the column thus assaulted, broke
and ran in upon the front; and the whole became affected by the
panic and took refuge in flight. In the midst of the confusion
a war-whoop was heard from the Abenakis from Penobscot.
It was afterwards pretended that they were smarting from a
wrong lately committed on their tribe, and they only retaliated
the injury they had suffered. Even if this were the case, it
was not the time, nor the occasion when revenge could be taken.
The New Hampshire men in rear of the column were the first
to sustain the onslaught, during which the escort made no
effort at repression. There was no attempt to check the
atrocities. The interpreters are accused by a French writer of
inciting { the Indians to acts of violence, and to seize the pro-
perty of thedisarmed garrison. The Indians acted with great
ferocity against the negroes, mulattoes and Indians in the
British ranks and immediately killed and scalped them.§
They stripped and robbed the white men; where they
experienced resistance their victim was struck down. At the
commencement of the commotion a report of the proceedings
of the Indians was carried to Montcalm by colonel Monroe,

# «Il y eut une cinquantaine de chevelures levées.” De Lévis’ Journal, p. 102,

+ They were stripped by the Indians of everything they had, both Officers
and Men, the Women and Children drag’d from among them, and most inhumanly
butchered before their faces: the party of about three hundred men which was
given them as an escort were during the time quietly looking on. From this and
other circumstances we are too well convinced these barbarities must have been
connived at by the French. After having destroyed the women and children they
fell upon the rear of our men, who, running in upon the front, soon put the whole
to a most precipitate flight, in which confusion most of them came into this camp
about two o’clock yesterday morning, in a most distressing situation, and have
continued dropping in ever since. Can. Arch., Series A. & W. I, vol. 85.2, p. 401.

1 Pouchot, II., p. 89.

§ Que. Doc., IV,, p. 120.
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and complained of as a breach of the capitulation. De Lévis
had already come upon the ground with some troops and with
his officers endeavoured to check the outrage. Appealed to
by Monroe, Montcalm appeared upon the scene, and threats,
entreaties and force were made use of by him in his effort to
quiet the tumult. The Indians had by this time seized
many prisoners as their prey. Montcalm unhesitatingly
intervened and demanded their release. It only proves
the difficulties of his position that he felt himself forced
to offer to pay a ransom in money for them. The whole
number of such prisoners within his influence were after-
wards redeemed and sent to fort Edward with a proper
escort. They amounted to 400 in number; about 200,
however, were carried by the Indians to Montreal as prisoners,
and were similarly obtained by de Vaudreuil ; these were also
ransomed, and were eventually sent to Halifax. De Vaudreuil
was, nevertheless, an apologist of what took place, and in his
letter to France contended that the terms of the capitulation
had been fully observed. He explained that the excesses of the
Indians, could be attributed to their having got drunk the pre-
ceding night from the rum furnished by the English. While
throwing the blame upon the Abenakis, he explained the
uncontrollable rage which they had felt,as a natural conse-
quence of the bad treatment they had lately experienced. De
Vaudreuil even advanced the doctrine that the prisoners taken
at the time of Parker’s defeat on lake George were the legiti-
mate spoil of the savage by the laws of war, and he claimed
credit for obtaining their release, as he acted with regard
to those seized after the capitulation.

The broken fugitives reached fort Edward, in the majority
of cases stripped of all they wore. As the alarm was given
by the arrival of those who first reached the fort, Webb
ordered out 500 men as a covering party to protect them as
they arrived.

Montcalm, as the general in command, could not but see
how the terms granted by him had been infringed, and the
possibility of the repudiation by the British authorities of the
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obligations on which the surrender had been accepted. When
awoke to the gravity of the situation, he acted with courage,
decision and humanity. He cannot, however, be absolved
from the gravity of the charge of not preventing the possi-
bility of such a wanton outrage, not only of the laws of war,but
of the dictates of humanity. The facts suggest the predeter-
mination that a certain latitude should be allowed the Indians
in the seizure of booty. It was not foreseen that their pursuit
of plunder would degenerate into personal violence, murder,
and the seizure of prisoners as slaves. It was then that the true
instincts of Montcalm suggested all the future complications
which would arise, and the whole strength of his character was
exerted to stamp out the disorder.

After their onslaught on the troops, the Indians left for their
homes. The French remained behind to raze the fort to the
ground, and to burn all they could not otherwise destroy.
The guns, stores and provisions were carried to Montreal.
Montcalm described the provisions captured as sufficient to
subsist 6,000 men for six weeks. Thus fort William Henry
for ever ceased to be a threat to French Canada.

Before the close of the year a further gleam of success was
reflected upon the French army, obtained in the war of sur-
prise which so long desolated the outlying settlements of New
England. On the 20th of October de Vaudreuil gathered a
force at Lachine, consisting of 100 Canadians with 10 officers,
and 200 Sault and Mountain Indians, under the orders of de
Bellaitre, of the marine force* They ascended the Saint
Lawrence to La Presentation,+ where de Bellaitre increased
his force from the Indians of the mission. He continued the
ascent of the river to “la Famine” { on lake Ontario, a few
miles east of Oswego. As we read the details of the enter-
prise, we seem to be speaking of the events seventy years

* De Lévis in his journal [p. 106] is careful in relating that the expedition was
organized by the governor-general. He alludes to the event in the coldest
language, as if to shew his disapproval of the enterprise.

+ Ogdensburgh.

+ Salmon River.
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earlier, in the days of de la Barre or de Denonville. De
Bellaitre ascended Salmon river as far as was expedient, some
‘ten miles. Leaving his canoes under a guard, he crossed to the
portage between the Mohawk and lake Oneida ; by the route
he followed some seventy miles. On reaching the site of fort
Williams, destroyed the previous year by Webb, he sent
messages to the Six Nations in the neighbourhood, and
was joined by some Oneidas. It was then resolved to attack
the settlement of the Palatines on the Mohawk, some thirty
miles lower down. It had been established under the
authority of Burnet when governor in 1720,* and consisted of
30 houses with 300 inhabitants.t De Bellaitre arrived there
at the break of day on the 11th of November, and attacked
the village from three different points. The surprise was
complete. There was little resistance, and those making any
attempt to repel the French were overpowered by numbers
and killed.} The houses and barns were burned, and the
cattle of all descriptions killed ; 102 prisoners, mostly women
and childrén, were carried to Montreal, among them the mayor
of the place. The men who escaped made their way to fort
Herkimer, about three miles distant on the right bank of the
Mohawk. There was a garrison here of 200 men, under
captain Townshend. On the alarm being given a detachment
of fifty men was despatched to the scene of action, insufficient
in strength to attack the Canadian force, which outnumbered
them six-fold. The contest was accordingly confined to a
fusillade, and at the end of twenty-four hours de Bellaitre

¢ N.Y. Doc., V., p. 634.

+ De Lévis’ Journal, p. 108.

3 De Vaudreuil made an exaggerated report of the “ damage inflicted upon the
enemy.” More grain, he said, had been destroyed than the island of Montreal
produced in years of abundance, with 3,000 horned cattle and 3,000 sheep. At
the same time, he describes the settlement as consisting of sixty houses. He
speaks of the attack of five forts, which surrendered at discretion. The number
killed and drowned he named at forty. We also learn from him that the strength
of the detachment sent from fort Herkimer was fifty men. Before the houses
were burned they were pillaged by the Indians, who ‘“acquired as rich a booty as
they could carry off.” N.Y. Doc,, X., 673.
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returned to his canoes, his force enriched with booty. He
arrived at Montreal on the 2oth of November.

The news reached Schenectady on the 12th, where lord
Howe was stationed. He immediately advanced with the
42nd Highlanders to fort Herkimer. The enemy, however,
had disappeared, having retreated several hours previously,
leaving the trace of their presence in the burned houses, the
slaughtered cattle, with the other evidences of the desolation
they had committed, the most painful of which were the dead
bodies of those killed in the onslaught.

Lord Howe left 100 men at Conajoharie and 100 men at
fort Hunter * and returned to Schenectady.+

The year 1757 closed in gloom and dissatisfaction ; it was
the nadir of British failure in these years of contest. The
- provincial had lost faith in the power of the mother country,
and cheaply held the prowess of the imperial troops. Politic-
ally he was jealous of interference, and the spirit of independ-
ence suggested the belief and confidence that the strength of
the provinces, unaided, was capable of effecting the conquest of
Canada.! The refusal to provide quarters for the troops at

* At the junction of Schoharie creek with the Mohawk, 31 miles from
Schenectady.

+ Can. Arch., Series A. & W. I, vol. 86.1, p. 3.

% The discontented feeling in the British provinces was known in Canada. De
Lévis wrote to the king of Poland [23rd October, 1757, letters, p. 179.] that the
failure to attack Louisbourg had caused great dissatisfaction in the colonies. The
colonists were tired of the war and unwillingly submitted to the taxation which it
had made necessary. ‘‘ This,” he added, *‘ caused a ferment in their minds. For
some time all the colonies have not been satisfied with the English parliament ;
they desire one which would be independent.” De Lévis did not express a high
opinion of the provincial troops. On the 4th of September he wrote to marshal
de Mirepoix from the campat Carillon: *‘if we had not to do with weak and timid
troops we would be unable to congratulate ourselves on the success we have met.
[Letters, p. 136.] *‘‘ Chouaguen was taken by the intervention of the Holy Ghost,
as we have just taken fort George, and heaven grant that our good fortune does not
abandon us if the war continue.” [p. 142.] Again he writes [p. 165] ‘‘ we have
been fortunate in having to do with timid troops, and unskilful generals.” On
the 24th of September he wrote from Montreal : ¢‘ the English behave very badly
in this country ; it is much to be wished that they would do the same in Europe,”

[p. 170] and this was written within less than two years of the capitulation of
Quebec.



72 THE HISTORY OF CANADA. [1757

New York and Boston furnishes testimony of the indifference
felt as to the presence of the British soldier. A low standard
had penetrated into the legislatures. In nearly all directions
the spirit of gain was dominant to overpower the call of
patriotism and duty. Braddock’s disaster had destroyed faith
in British generalship. The destruction of Oswego, whether
caused or not caused by want of prudence and prevision, was
in reality only attributable to the action of the provinces. The
soth and 5ist regiments, although on the imperial roster, had
been raised in America, and were officered by colonists. In
spite of these facts, Abercrombie and Webb, in the public view,
had been held responsible for the calamity, and although
Loudoun only landed in New York a few days before the
capture, he was equally held responsible forit. The provinces
refused their quota of men, or furnished them under theories
of limited service, which made the troops difficult of control
in the field. Whatever professions were made of the desire to
help the cause, the jealousy of the legislatures paralyzed the
support nominally given. One serious cause for dissatisfaction
was the supplies sold to the enemy. Canada was in dire con-
dition for want of provisions, and the trade was one highly
profitable. In vain the legislatures made enactments to
repress the traffic, but the frequent allusion to its prevalence
shows how ineffectually they were enforced.

The raid of Bellaitre in October was the last success of the
French. From that date one series of reverses was experi-
enced in Canada. The failure of Abercrombie at Ticonderoga
cannot be called an exception. From the British standing-
point it must always be looked upon as deplorable, from the
bad generalship which was the cause of the failure, but it
brought with it no disgrace. The French, as they drew their
breath at nightfall of that terrible day, must have seen that
their safety had depended on an error of their antagonist, not
to be repeated ; the want of knowledge of the strength of
abatis, fortifications of massive fallen trees against an attack
at the bayonet’s point. It was this miscalculation of power
which had saved them from destruction. The attack had
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been intrepid and fearless, as the corpses of the hundreds of
dead proved, and, although repelled, there was no loss of
honour on the side of the assailants. The French soldier had
been made to feel the presence of the race against which his
ancestors had contended from the days of Cregy and Poictiers;
he had once more experienced the ancient disdain of hardship,
with the calm, determined, undemonstrative courage, and the
self-reliance under disaster which for so many centuries have
never been wanting in the national character. The repulse of
the British force could have appeared only as a temporary
relief. Such indeed it proved. Step by step the French were
driven from every stronghold they possessed, until further
effort on their part became impossible. It was then that the
American provincial learned truly to know and appreciate all
that he owed to the mother country. It is a painful record in
the history of the American continent that the service and
the aid were soon to be forgotten by those who most profited
by them.
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CHAPTER V.

The winter of 1757-58 was one of much privation in
Canada; there was so great a scarcity of provisions that
positive want was felt. The ration of bread was limited, and
horse-flesh had to be eaten. As the season for active operations
closed, the troops went into winter quarters at Boucherville,
Ile Jesus, Montreal, Point aux Trembles and Quebec. Garri-
sons were left at Carillon, Crown Point, Saint John’s and
Chambly. The two last years had been signally fortunate for
the French: the British forts, Oswego and William Henry,
which had threatened their power and their commerce on lake
Ontario and lake Champlain, had been destroyed ; the attack
on Louisbourg, which had appeared to be imminent, had not
been attempted ; the possession of the Ohio by France was
to all appearance firmly established ; Indians,led by Canadian
officers, had continually devastated the outlying villages of
Pennsylvania and Virginia and had driven back settlement in
these provinces. The whole of the western Indians had
accepted Canadian authority, while the province had so far
impressed her ancient enemies, the Iroquois, that a strong
feeling had arisen in ther Six Nations of the advisability of
remaining neutral in any contest with the British, while many
professed readiness to embrace the cause of the French. In
the middle of October * some of their chiefs arrived at
Montreal to congratulate de Vaudreuil on his success at
William Henry, to give assurance of neutrality, and without
entering into any engagements, to suggest the possibility that
hereafter they might range themselves on the side of the
French. De Vaudreuil was then at Quebec, engaged, as presi-
dent of the court, examining into the conduct of de Vergor

¢ Journal de Lévis, p. 110,
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at Beauséjour ; they were received by Duplessis, and no effort
was spared to conciliate them.*

In November the pressure arising from the want of provi-
sions exacted a reduction of the rations of the troops. +

The regiment of Béarn made no complaint. On the other
hand, the marine regiment refused to accept the rations on
the new basis, and when called together to receive them,
separated without taking them away. De Lévis heard from
Duplessis of the proceeding, with the intimation that the
troops had been ordered to parade in the intendant’s court-
yard. When they had assembled they re-commenced the
expression of their dissatisfaction. Accompanied by some
officers, de Lévis went to the spot. He found the troops dis-
orderly in groups, and violent in their language. He imposed
silence, and caused them to form in rank, when he stated the
necessity of submitting to the conditions imposed. He
pointed out that the land troops had accepted the ration, and
he told them he would hang the first man who demurred to
receiving it. He ordered the first company to take their
allotted portion. The men acted in compliance without a
murmur. The remaining companies similarly obeyed. They
even strove to explain away their conduct by stating that
proper representations on the subject had not been made to
them. De Lévis accepted their excuses, but threatened
mercilessly to punish any future contumaciousness.

Shortly afterwards the marine troops with some kabitants
endeavoured to incite the regiment of Béarn to revolt. De
Lévis ordered four of the grenadiers of that regiment to

¢ The writer of the “ Mémoire sur le Canada’ [p. 97] unfavourably notices
the partiality of de Vaudreuil for the Indians, and the license he granted them :
‘¢il leur permettoit tout,—qualité qu’il avoit heritée de son pére, comme de les
croire absolument nécessaires ; on les voyoit courir dans Montréal, le couteau 2 la
main, menacer un chacun et souvent faire des insultes ; lorsqu’on s’en plaignoit il
n’en disoit rien; bien loin aprés ce coup [the affair at William Henry], au lieu de
leur avoir fait des reproches, et de leur en avoir fait sentir les inconvéniens il les
accabla de présens dans la persuasion qu'il étoit que [si] leur crualité seroit
ralentie les desseins des ennemies [gagneroit de la force).”

+ Half a Ib. of bread ; three-quarters of a Ib. of beef; a quarter of a Ib. of
codfish ; a quarter of a Ib. of peas with 4 a lb. of bread payable in money.
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appear before him, when he pointed out the necessity of
compliance, and the trouble passed away.

As the winter advanced the quarter of a pound of bread
served daily to the people as a ration was stopped. It was
proposed to give in its place half beef and half horse-flesh, at
six sous the pound. There was great objection to the horse-
flesh, the people refusing to take it. A number of women
assembled, and tumultuously proceeded to the house of de
Vaudreuil, demanding to see him. Four of the number were
admitted, and they asked for bread. De Vaudreuil replied
that he had none to give them : he had been obliged to reduce
the rations of the troops. It was not the king’s duty to
furnish bread for the people: they were bound to provide it
themselves. But in their want the king had assisted them
with bread and horse-flesh. The women expressed great
repugnance to such food. The horse was the friend of man,
and their religion forbade them to kill him; they would
rather die than feed upon him. De Vaudreuil replied that
this was all imagination. From bygone time the horse had
béen eaten, and it was the only assistance he could give. He
sent the women away with the threat that if they made any
revolt he would put them in prison and hang the half of them.*
He ordered the commissioner of marine, de Martel, and the
judge of police, de Monrepos, to take them to the slaughter-
house, and to see that the food was of good quality. The
women consented to go. They said, however, that neither
they nor anybody else, not even the troops, should eat the
horse-flesh. As they were separating they used the most
violent and seditious language. De Lévis, in recording the
fact, says several ought to have been arrested, which was not
done.

Early in December orders were given for rations of horse-
flesh to be served out to the troops; they refused to receive
them and left the place of distribution. De Lévis reproved
the officers for allowing the men to disperse ; the latter excused
themselves on the ground of the cold weather, and further,

* <“Qu'il en feroit pendre la moitié.” Journal de Lévis, p. 119.
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that the meat had not been prepared for distribution. De
Lévis ordered a parade, and on the assembly of the regiment
he caused a ration of the horse-flesh to be cut for himself,
which he directed his servant to carry to his quarters. The
grenadiers were then ordered to advance to take their mess.
They desired to make some representation ; De Lévis firmly
answered, that the first man who hesitated to obey in recetving
the food prescribed, he would arrest and hang. When the
distribution had been made, he would listen to all that they
had tosay. Thegrenadiers in silence received the horse-flesh ;
their example was followed by the other companies.

De Lévis then advanced and told the men he would listen
to any expression of their grievances. The men accordingly
stated that they had complained of having to eat horse-flesh,
as the people had refused it, and they could not believe
that the colony was reduced to this necessity, when they saw
the number of cattle brought to market. Moreover, they were
billeted singly upon the inhabitants, and were not permitted to
form themselves into messes of seven, and the ration cooked
singly was not enough for a man. The regiment of la Sarre,
at Quebec, being in barracks, was differently situated ; the
kabitants themselves lived as well as ever, even their negroes
and pains* did the same. It was now the duty of de Lévis
to reply to what had been said, and on no occasion of his life
were his judgment and ability more apparent. It was a critical
hour, when it was necessary to extinguish the spirit which had
been called forth, without leaving behind any rancour to
re-awaken it. His personal character gave weight to all he
would say ; but while exercising his authority he had to appeal
to that spirit of camaraderie which is the true basis of the con-
fidence of the soldier in his general. No one could have done
so more effectively, as the result proved, and on all sides de
Lévis obtained the highest praise for his conduct.t

® Slaves of the Indian tribes taken and sold in Montreal.

+ It will generally be found, both in the army and navy, in cases of widely spread
dissatisfaction, which finds its vent in desertion, that the fault lies in the unsympa-
thetic, hard character of the commander, who, from a mistaken sense of duty,
exacts from the soldier or sailor what is unnecessary and unreasonable ; in itself
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On the point of the /abitant refusing the horse-flesh, de
Lévis attributed his conduct to prejudice and weakness. The
French garrison had eaten it in Prague: it was a similar case
of necessity in Canada, as most of the provisions sent from
France had been seized by English cruisers. They were in
error as to the condition of the colony, for there was great
distress everywhere. The people of Quebec had no bread ;
there were 2,000 Acadians who had nothing to eat but horse-
flesh and codfish; the officers of the garrison at Montreal
and Quebec had only a quarter of a pound of bread a day;
the cattle which the soldiers had seen slaughtered had been
brought to market, in accordance with the custom of the
country at that period of the year, when the inhabitants
killed the cattle; the meat was kept frozen and was so sold
during winter. The soldiers had equal opportunity of pur-
chasing it, and he would give instructions for money to be
advanced of their pay, to be used for this purpose. He would
do his best, so that they would be able to form themselves into
messes. He added some words, that the soldier ought to
believe that the general would do his best for them ; and he
looked to the regiment to shew an example of good conduct.
The men were touched by this kindly and straightforward
admonition ; and while they expressed themselves satisfied,
they assured their general, that they would so act that no
reproach should be made against them ; they had full confi-
dence that everything possible would be done for them, now
that de Lévis knew their wants. As the land troops took the
horse-flesh, the marine troops also received it, and no more
trouble was experienced.

repugnant to the feelings of the men. To what is necessary and essential, however
trying, men will cheerfully submit. There is always to be found in a ship or a
regiment a sufficient number possessing right feeling, who will uncomplainingly
bear unavoidable privations, and they have the moral strength to control the con-
tumacious. When we read of a common insensibility to the obligations of duty,
and of men abandoning their colours as opportunity offers, as a rule we may con-
clude that the whole blame does not lie entirely with them, and a stern explanation
should be exacted from the commanding officer. De Lévis’ behaviour on this
occasion, as it received the full recognition of his contemporaries, should find a
place in every modern military manual.
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De Lévis further met the desires of the regiment by orders
being issued so that the men could be formed into messes of
eight, and an additional allowance of eight Zivres a month was
given to the Aabitant at whose house the mess was held. On
the day “/Jes rois,” * 1758, eight grenadiers of the regiment
of Béarn waited upon de Lévis with a dish of horse-flesh as
they cooked it at their mess. De Lévis received it, and in
return invited them to breakfast, to shew them how his cook
prepared the meat. Wine was furnished, and the plaz dis-
cussed : it was generally pronounced inferior to the cooking
of the soldiers. De Lévis presented the company with four
louis to drink his health and pleasantly to pass “les rois.”

The condition of Canada was reported to France in a
despatch sent overland to Louisbourg.+ The bearer had
previously arrived with letters from that fortress, and had
probably made his way by the Saint John. The letter of de
Vaudreuil does not appear ; that of Montcalm to M. de Moras
of the 19th of February is in all respects worthy of remark.}

He protests against the misrepresentations made with
regard to his own conduct and that of the French officers in
Canada, informing the minister that he had not communicated
his letter to them owing to the great pain it would cause.
The statement had been made by persons as bad-intentioned
as they were ill-informed. He appealed to de Vaudreuil, it
was he who had made the accusation, and to Bigot in testimony

* The English twelfth-night.

+ De Lévis’ Journal, p. 127.

$ It is given by Dessieux, p. 321, and is translated in N. Y. Doc., X., p. 686.
Montcalm shews how deeply he was hurt by the unfriendly statements made
regarding him in France. He says, ‘‘ vous m’exaltez la valeur des Canadiens,
vous m’y donnez des legons sur la conduite A tenir vis-3-vis d’eux et des sauvages.”
I append the original text of some of the passages which I have translated.

‘‘ une nation accoitumée A se vanter aura beau s’exalter elle-méme, je n’aurai
jamais la malheureuse confiance de M. Dieskau ; je ne les emploierai que dans leur
genre, et je chercherai & étayer leur bravoure de l'avantage des bois et de celle
des troupes réglées; . . Je ne puis vous rien annoncer encore sur la campagne
prochaine ; les opérations dépendront de la prompte arrivée des vivres et du bien
ou mal joué de I'ennemi. L'’article des vivres me fait frémir. Malgré les réduc-
tions faites sur la ration, la disette est plus grande que nous ne I'aurions cru.”
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of his conduct, He thought that he had seized the genius
and the moral qualities of the Indians ; but they looked upon
a commander-in-chief as they regard the chief of a wigwam.
No one rendered more justice to Canadian valour than he and
the French ; but a nation accustomed to self-praise would in
vain magnify itself. “I will never,” adds Montcalm, “ possess
the unfortunate confidence of M. Dieskau. I will employ
them as they are best fitted, and I will strive to sustain their
courage by making use of the woods and the regular troops.”
Montcalm could not conceal his misgivings of the next
campaign. He could announce he said nothing concerning
it. “The operations will depend on the prompt arrival of
food, and on the good or bad conduct of the enemy. The
question of food causes me to shudder. In spite of the
reduced rations, our want is greater than we could believe.”
He pays a high compliment to Bigot. He described the
officers as greatly suffering, receiving only paper currency.
Their pay was decreasing, while everything was- becoming
dearer. The lieutenants could not live on their allowances.
They were unlike the troops of the country, the officers of the
latter being permitted to trade, and who made money in their
expeditions with the Indians. He pointed out that the
expenses incurred in the performance of his duty were involv-
ing him in debt. Bigot had allowed him to obtain 12,000
Jivres to meet his obligations, and the further he should go
the more he would owe.* He had no illusions with regard to
la petite guerre. Although it was the fashion of the country
always to speak of having carried forts sword in hand, the
intrinsic value was the surprise, the burning, the pillage of
a large village exposed on all sides. In spite of the bright
view which Montcalm endeavoured to take, it is plain that
he was impressed with a sense of the danger with which
the province was threatened, and that more depended on the
ability with which the attack against Canada would be
directed, than on its power of resistance.

The war indeed had disastrously affected the province in all

® ¢ Et plus j'irai, plus je lui devrai.”
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directions. Its commerce had been almost destroyed. We .
learn from a writer of a few years subsequently,* that it was
usual to insure a cargo in time of peace. Those who took this
precaution paid from three to four per cent.; the freight cost
from fifty to eighty Jivres the ton. In war time the assurance
rose to twenty-five per cent.; the freight to two hundred Zvres
the ton, and eventually reached the price of one thousand
livres. Consequently all merchandise became immensely
advanced in cost; and the price of provisions, independently
of any scarcity, rose in proportion. From the circumstances
that a large number of the male population was called out to
serve in the army, the cultivation of the land was much reduced.
Even in the matter of a cord of wood, which in quiet times cost
50 sols, or three or four Zivres, it now rose to ten Zvres.}

One cause of difficulty was traceable to the specie sent out
from France in 1755 for the pay of the land troops. When
purchases were made by the latter in the market, silver was
tendered, and owing to the depreciation of the card money the
men refused to take it in change. The effect was a greater
decrease in its current value, reaching half the face amount.
Thus, a pair of chickens which cost from 15 to 20 so/s in silver
fetched from 30 to 35 in paper : a pair of shoes worth 4 Zvres,
10 sols in silver cost 10 Jivres in paper. What added to the
cost was the constant capture of the vessels by the English
cruisers. It is said that three-fourths of them were taken.}
It was calculated that a cask of wine worth 50/svres in France
cost in Canada 277 Zivres, and would be sold at Montreal in
silver for 300 Zivres. The wvelte of eau-de-vie fetched 200 lvres,
being at the rate of 25 Jivres, a pound sterling, the pint: a
hat worth 2 Zivres in France was sold in Canada from 40 to 50
lzvres, and everything in proportion. Subsequently the troops
were paid in paper, an arrangement by which they suffered
great loss.

® ¢ Reflexions sommaires sur le commerce qui s’est fait en Canada.” Lit. and
Hist. Soc., Quebec, 1840.
4+ The cord is a superficies of piled wood 4 ‘feet in length, of 32 square feet ; in
other words, 8 feet long, 4 feet high, French measure.
% ** Les trois quarts de navires qui étaient partis de différents ports furent pris.”
G
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One of the events of the autumn was that de Vergor and
de Villerai were placed under arrest to answer for the sur-
render of the two forts, Beauséjour and Gasperau. De
Vaudreuil had been ordered the preceding year to take this
course, but the influence of Bigot had stayed proceedings.
The instructions having been reiterated, a court of inquiry
was appointed, and both were submitted to interrogatories. De
Vergor answered with little ability, but there was no desire in
Canada to push matters to extremity. Witnesses favourable
to him were only called, and he was privately counselled as
to the tone of his defence. De Villerai, on his examination,
gave in a memoir. As it was considered to reflect on de
Vergor, it was pointed out to de Villerai that his own position
depended on that of de Vergor, and he was counselled to
modify his statement.* When before the court de Vergor
threw the blame of his surrender on the Acadians. Montcalm,
in reporting the proceedings to France, represented that the
Acadians had forced the commander to capitulate to save
their lives, having taken the oath of allegiance to the English,
who had threatened to hang them for violating it.

On his return to Quebec after the surrender, de Vergor had
spoken of the gallantry of his own defence, and had used
deprecatory language with regard to the conduct of de
Villerai. De Villerai, in his statement, had instituted a com-
parison between the two forts. Gasperau was merely an
enclosure flanked by four half-rotten blockhouses with
twenty men, and had he obtained better terms than de
Vergor, he would have gained a reputation by which the
latter would have suffered+ The military wits of the day
called the attack of Beauséjour “/e sidge de velours” ! The
defenders slept peaceably by night, and the enemy were not
even at watch in the morning. So few shots were fired, that
the English were considered not to be in earnest, and de

* Memoire sur le Canada, p. 100.

+ N.Y. Doc., X., p. 671.

+ What gives point to the French calembour is the double meaning of the
expression, that it is likewise ‘‘a seat of velvet : ”’ a position only of comfort.
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Vergor's care of the provisions was explained by the fact that
he had sold them to the enemy. No sorties were made ; the
place, in short, was badly defended. De Vergor was, at the
same time, accused of carrying away a large sum of money ;
it was said he even became rich. .

The court exonerated both officers and they were declared
not guilty of any breach of duty. So far as de Vergor was con-
cerned the decision did not command the assent of contempo-
rary writers ; it was however reported to France sustained by
the governor and intendant and there accepted.

Whether or not the privations which were afflicting Canada,
led the speculators who were becoming rich in the distress of
the province, to think seriously of their own position, it was at
this date that several of them resigned their offices and left
the colony. Estébe, who had been in charge of the king’s
magazine at Quebec, and was, moreover, a member of the
Consesl Supérienr, resigned both offices, and with a large
fortune returned to France. His place was given to Clavery,*
who had been the manager of “la friponne ;” he died within
eight months of his promotion. Varin, who had for some
time applied for leave to retire, finally obtained it, and left the
province. : -

When Bréard ceased to be controller of marine no successor
was appointed. The duties were performed by the brother of
Martel, who had been assigned the position of Varin. One de
Villiers was named to act as controller. He is represented as
being insatiable in the pursuit of money, false, and of bad faith.
No one was ready with more specious explanations. His con-
duct and morals were equally as objectionable as his perverted
ability ; he deceived both the intendant and the public, and he
boldly carried on his frauds in all directions.

Bigot himself was anxious to leave the sinking ship with
the immense sums of money he had accumulated, and he
appears to have been desirous that all who had similarly
obtained wealth should not remain behind. Péan was the
first to leave the colony, on the plea of ill health. He did not

* Aate, vol. ITL., p. 545.
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entirely abandon his connection with Canada, being appointed
to the duty of despatching in spring the ships charged with
merchandise and provisions: a position which enabled him to
include, free of freight, much of the private ventures sent out.
Bigot, however, could not accomplish his purpose ; the crisis
through which the province was passing made his presence
indispensable, and he was forced to remain in Canada to give
his help in the emergency.

At the western posts, where merchandise was furnished to
the tribes, a convenient explanation for much additional
expense was found in the necessity of retaining the Indians
as allies. Their services were greatly extolled in France, and
it was argued that unless they were in all respects satisfied,
they would cease to take the field. The commandants were
not slow in taking advantage of the difficulties attendant on
this relationship to advance their own interests. De Bellaitre
at Detroit, de Vergor at fort Machault,* and le Verrier at
Michillimackinac were distinguished by their rapacity. The
last was the step-son of de Vaudreuil, who had married his
mother. He was without courage or conduct, and he had
been sent there to make his fortune. It is said of him, that
on one occasion,} that he gave a certificate for 10,000 /Jvres
in the place of 10 /Zivres, and on its being paid he became
more energetic in pursuit of the wealth of which he was in
search. '

The war of outposts continued. On the part of the French
de Langy-Montégron, with a strong force, hovered about fort
Edward. On one occasion he surprised some woodcutters
attended by a guard. From time to time he repeated his
incursions. On the British side, Rogers with his rangers was
an active assailant in the hope of obtaining prisoners, from
whom information could be obtained. On one occasion he
was despatched on an expedition which proved disastrous.
He was detached from fort Edward by Haviland, he com-

¢ At the mouth of French creek and the river Alleghany.
+ Mémoire sur le Canada, p. 105.
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plains in his journal, with too weak a force. It consisted of 9
officers and 162 men. He was joined by two officers of the
27th as volunteers, captain Pringle and lieutenant Roche.
They started on the 12th of March, and descended lake
George to within a short distance of Carillon, when, as was
the custom, the detachment left the lake to make a circuit
round the French fort. The mark of the snow-shoes on their
trail was seen by some Indians, who immediately communi-
cated the fact to the commandant. There were two hundred
Canadians and Indians at Carillon, under the command of de
Langy and de le Durantaye. To this number was joined
some volunteers from the regiments la Sarre and Languedoc,
and this constituted the force immediately started to intercept
the British rangers. The advance guard of Indians unex-
pectedly came upon Rogers’ party. They were received by a
heavy fire, killing three Indians. The remainder were driven
back, and being hotly pursued by the British, retreated upon
the main body. Warned by, the firing in front, the force was
prepared for an attack, and as the rangers came up they were
met by a general discharge of musketry from the French, by
which fifty of Rogers’ men were killed and placed /ors de
combat. Rogers rapidly saw the odds against him, and he
retreated, taking his position upon ascending ground. There
he fought desperately until dusk, his numbers greatly reduced,
when those that remained fled. Rogers records his loss at
128 killed, wounded and prisoners. De Lévis names the
French loss at 12 Indians killed and 18 wounded. The
French bivouacked on the ground, in the morning taking to
Carillon the prisoners and wounded. Rogers estimated the
French as 700 in number, evidently an exaggeration. There
were certainly between 300 and 400, so that Rogers was out-
numbered by more than two to one. Pringle and Roche, in
the retreat, got separated from Rogers’ men, and owing to
the want of knowledge of the guide who undertook to lead
them, lost their way. They wandered about in a state of
starvation for several days. On the sixth day they found
themselves within sight of the French fort in Carillon, where
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they surrendered themselves to the French officers, who
treated them with great kindness.*

The letters of de Lévis+ establish that it was known in
Canada that an attack upon Louisbourg would take place
early in the spring. Judging from 'the success of the two
previous years, the French anticipated that the troops would
again be removed from northern New York, and that in con-
sequence they would be able to direct an important expedition
against Albany. They possessed undisputed mastery over
lake Champlain and lake George ; with reinforcements from
France, and a sufficient supply of provisions, for the latter
could not be furnished by the colony, there was every
prospect of France being able to seize Albany and to hold
the valley of the Mohawk, a policy which, if successfully
carried out, would have cut off all connection with the
western lakes, and thus have opened direct communication
between lake Champlain and the Ohio, and have given to the
French the entire western portion of the continent beyond the
Alleghanies. The plan of the French campaign was that de
Lévis should ascend the Saint Lawrence to Frontenac, and
there organize his force. It was to consist of 3,000 men com-
posed of 600 troops of the land and marine force in equal
proportions, the remainder Canadians and Indians. Thence
he was to cross the lake to Chouaguen.! One of the main
objects of the expedition was to induce or force the Six
Nations to declare themselves allies of the French. If any
British settlement had been re-established at Oswego, it was
to be destroyed, together with the forts in the carrying-place
on the Mohawk. De Lévis was then to descend the Mohawk,
and from the side of Schenectady effect a juncture with

* A rock on lake George still bears the name of ‘Rogers’ rock,” from the
tradition that, being closely pressed in a retreat, he descended a ravine half-way,
when he reached a precipice of 200 feet high, down which he slid on his snow-shoes
to the ice of the lake. The event did not take place on this occasion, nor is it
recorded by Rogers himself. Had such a hair-breadth escape happened, it is not
likely that he would have failed to mention it.

1 Letters, p. 183.

I Oswego.
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Montcalm. The latter was to leave Carillon with a strong
force. On being joined by de Lévis the two would attack
fort Edward and act against Albany.

De Lévis saw the full difficulty of the duty assigned him ;
he had only two months’ provisions of biscuits and pork; he
was without tents; and he anticipated formidable opposition
from those Indians of the Six Nations who remained attached
to the British side. The expedition was theoretically possible,
but attended by obstacles almost insuperable, and was indeed
finally abandoned.
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CHAPTER VI.

A new impulse had, however, been given to the power of
Great Britain which was to exercise an almost superhuman
influence on her fortunes and prosperity, to which few paral-
lels in any page of history can be found. The duration of
Pitt’s ministry to the death of George II., and the subsequent
years, furnish a sufficient contradiction to the theorists who
can see, even in the most revolutionary events, nothing beyond
a compound of inevitable consequence, and the natural
sequence of circumstance. It is rarely possible, in the same
degree, to trace the working of a commanding mind upon a
people, to elevate its patriotism, its sense of duty, and its
better nature, permanently to leave its impress upon the
national character. The triumphs of Great Britain have
never been attained through court or parliamentary intrigue :
indeed, it is often to the blight of their pernicious interference
that our misfortunes and failures may be traced. Whatever
the form of government we may live under, it is imperfect in
the degree, that we fail to avail ourselves of worth and ability
in what rank soever they may be found. It was the recogni-
tion of this principle which, when evoked by Chatham, awoke
the spirit of the nation, and drew forth the noblest inspiration
of manhood out of the torpidity of self-interest and corruption.
We may learn from Chatham’s career, that the institutions the
most secure and capable of developing human happiness, are
those under which education and capacity play the first part.
In an oligarchy with a show of refinement,as the character of the
ruler may determine, the worst passions are restrained or find
their outlet, but the tendency of the system is that, by favour-
itism, men are assigned duties to the performance of which they
areunequal. Indemocratic communities political partisanship
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appeals chiefly to the passions, by which party success can be
attained, with little regard to the consequences involved.
The problem of government is still far from its solution. Two
principles, however, rise in prominence to claim acceptance:
the necessity of giving the means of education to all who can
indirectly influence the national deliberations, and so legislat-
ing as to bring within the working of the constitution every
person who can justly claim the right to frame and mould it.
But where practically establish a limit? By what means
constitute a governing class, however broad the basis on which
it is selected ?

The peace of Aix-la-Chapelle exercised so tranquilizing
an influence on English politics that Mr. Pelham remained at
the head of the ministry until his death in 1754. Ten years
earlier, in 1744, he possessed sufficient power to force George
II. reluctantly to dismiss lord Carteret; and the ministry, in
order to strengthen its position, had then included several of
the opposition within its ranks. They were mostly Pitt’s
friends ; he was himself unprovided for. In Pitt’s attacks of
lord Carteret he had inveighed against the partiality shewn by
the king to his Hanoverian dominions, and the subsidies paid
to the German troops. The ability which he had shewn in this
parliamentary warfare had raised him to the first rank in the
house of commons, and he had become formidable from the
reputation he had gained, and his personal influence in debate.
From these causes the king entertained an insurmountable
personal objection against Pitt’s admission to office. The
matter was brought to a crisis in 1745, at the time of the last
attempt of the pretender: the Pelhams resigned. Lord
Carteret, now the earl of Granville, attempted to form a
government, but it was impossible to overcome the parliament-
ary resistance he experienced. The Pelhams returned to
power with an understanding that their recommendations
should be accepted. One concession they made to the king,
that Pitt should be placed in a position, by which he would not
be often brought in direct contact with him. Pitt, therefore,
instead of being named secretary of war,as was intended, was
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appointed vice-treasurer of Ireland, and was shortly afterwards
made treasurer of the forces.

The office was one of great profit, not from the salary
attached to it, but owing to the large sums placed at the
disposal of the incumbent, on which a considerable payment
for interest was obtainable. It had always been the custom
for the paymaster to make use of the money in this way, and
it was well known that such was the case. Pitt disdained to
follow the practice; he resolved only to receive his salary.
He likewise declined to accept the percentages paid by
foreign princes on the subsidies voted by parliament. This
disinterestedness, joined to his remarkable ability, established
his character in the public estimation. It was unassailable,
and the favour he gained was the commencement of the
extraordinary popularity he so long enjoyed. In 1750,a proof
was given of his political strength, which was likewise a
presage of the future position he was to assume. Pelham
proposed a reduction of the numbers of seamen from 10,000
to 8,000; the motion was advocated by Pelham himself, by
Fox (the first lord Holland), as secretary of war, and by lord
Barrington, as one of the board of admiralty. Pitt, then
paymaster of the forces, arose and powerfully opposed the
motion of his own colleagues. He based his objection to the
measure on the fears he entertained, of some unexpected
attempt on the part of the adherents of the pretender: fears
certainly not without justification. The unpopularity of
Frederick prince of Wales and of the duke of Cumberland
was extreme. It became the fashion in many circles to praise
the pretender, and for young ladies to sing those sentimental
jacobite ditties, which, without their political significance, still
retain their place amongst us. At that time it was, however,
a different matter. The duke of Cumberland, with honesty of
character, was imprudent in many of his utterances, and there
had been an endeavour to magnify the severity of his
conduct after Culloden, which even now has not passed away.
Pitt’s view was that the country should be prepared against
any fresh attempt by the pretender’s partizans. The motion
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was carried. In spite of this mark of independence Pitt
remained in his official position. In the upper house, Pitt was
sustained by the duke of Bedford.

The death of the prince of Wales took place in 1751. He
had been suffering from pleurisy. An abscess had formed on
his breast, from a blow by a ball received at a game. He
died suddenly in the arms of Desnoyers, a popular dancing
master of the day, who was playing on the violin for his
amusement. The princess was left with seven children and
in advanced pregnancy; prince George, afterwards George
III., was a boy of twelve. Until this date there had been a
prince’s party, which had mainly constituted the opposition;
it was now entirely dissolved. The princess discouraged all
attempts to restore the former political antagonism : her
first desire was to satisfy the king. The regency bill, which
as a consequence was introduced, received much opposition.
The princess was appointed guardian of the prince’s person
until the age of eighteen, and regent of the kingdom, with the
advice of a council composed of the duke of Cumberland and
nine of the principal officers of state. The friends of the
princess opposed these restrictions, which they considered
were in favour of the duke's influence. Pitt justified the bill
on the ground that in the event of the death of the princess
it would be dangerous to give extreme power to the duke.
Fox, on the other hand, warmly defended him, and an alter-
cation arose between them on this point, although members
of the same government; so little control had Pelham of these
his two leading subordinates.

On Pelham’s death, in 1754, and the duke of Newcastle
becoming first lord of the treasury, the question arose who
was to lead in the house of commons. There will be always
found men of the stamp of Newcastle in imperial politics.
Even in the outer provinces of the empire in which constitu-
tional government is being developed, in accordance with the
conditions to which it must be adapted, such men are not
rare. Their own success is the first consideration, and their
entire policy is directed to the means by which political power
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can be attained and kept. The least recommendation in their
eyes is merit. They look for pliant tools to do their bidding,
willing to receive with patience the kicks and rebuffs incident
to the servility of sycophancy.

It was a personage of this character that Newcastle desired
to represent him in the house of commons. Pitt was at Bath
drinking the waters for the gout ; he was not in the cabinet,
and his character made him the last man in England fitted for
the duty. Fox was appecaled to: he was offered to be made
secretary of state, with the lead in the house of commons ; the
condition, however, was annexed that Newcastle was to keep
in his control the purchase of the votes of members of par-
liament, in accordance with the system followed at that date,
and to some extent for nearly the succeeding half century.
The euphemism was used in the public accounts as “secret
service money ”; there can, however, be no doubt of the
application of the large sums named.* Fox had not many
scruples at any time of his life, but he was a man of ability
and with an acknowledged reputation, and he had every right

* A record remains of the corruption of parliament in Pelham’s time. Wraxall
relates the fact [IV. p. 667-670] ““on the authority of a man of rank and high
character whom I do not name,” but for whose veracity Wraxall vouched. This
personage was acquainted with Roberts, Pelham’s secretary. The latter died in
1776, and his medallion is yet to be seen in poets’ corner, Westminster abbey.
Roberts, in 1767, stated that while he remained at the treasury, several members
of parliament regularly received a stipend in bank notes, the payment varied from
five to eight hundred pounds. *‘ This largess I distributed,” added Roberts, *‘ in
the court of requests on the day of the prorogation of parliament. I took my stand
there, and as the gentlemen passed me, in going to or returning from the house,
I conveyed the money in a squeeze of the hand. Whatever person received the
ministerial bounty in the manner thus related, I entered his name in a book,
which was preserved in the deepest secrecy, it being never inspected by any
human being except the king and Mr. Pelham.”

On the death of Pelham, in 1754, Newcastle desired to see the book, and
asked for its surrender. Roberts declined to give it up except to the king. His
narrative is too graphic for abbreviation. “‘In consequence of my refusal they
acquainted the king with the circumstances, who sent for me to St. James', where
I was introduced into the closet, more than one of the above-mentioned Ministers
being present. George the Second ordered me to return him the Book in question,
with which Injunction I immediately complied. At the same time taking the
Poker in his Hand, he put it in the Fire, made it red hot, and then while we
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to aspire to a higher position than that offered him. Even if
the material advantages impressed him, his intellect recoiled
before the impossibility of taking the first part in the house of
commons under such humiliating conditions. Newcastle at
the same time claimed to retain the direction of all patronage,
and while controlling the secret service money, in no way to
make known what took place ; he was likewise to have at his
disposal the gift of all places and the management of the
government boroughs. Fox refused to act on such conditions
and one sir Thomas Robinson was selected; now only
remembered by the importance of some of the despatches
addressed to him. The appointment reconciled Pitt and Fox,
and the re-establishment of cordiality of feeling soon made
itself felt.

The elections took place in 1754 ; the administration
obtained a majority, and Robinson entered upon his new duties
as leader of the house of Commons. Both Fox and Pitt
retained their places in the ministry: nevertheless they treated
the man to whom, as a theory, they should defer, with the
most contemptuous insolence. Newcastle dared not dismiss
them, but as Robinson day by day showed his greater dis-
qualification for the office, Newcastle consequently entered
into negotiations with Fox, and offered him a seat in the
cabinet if he would support Robinson. It is a blot on Fox’s
memory that the temptation was stronger than his judgment
and sense of honour.

The session passed over without injury to the ministerial
position. The complications into which the kingdom was
drifting were increased, and Newcastle was looked upon more
than ever, as incapable of government in a period of danger
and emergency. In the previous volume I have recorded the
commencement of troubles on the Ohio,* and the determined

stood round him he thrust the Book into the Flames, where it was immediately
reduced to ashes. He considered it in Fact as too sacred and confidential a
Register to be thus transferred over to the new Ministers, and as having become
extinct with the administration of Mr. Pelham.”

® Vol. III., pp. 445-461.
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altempt of the French to seize the territory. One of the last
proceedings of the house of commons, on a message from the
sovereign that he felt it necessary to prepare for war, was an
address of thanks and a vote of credit.

The unfortunate failure of Braddock’s expedition was a
serious blow to Newcastle’s administration. Although it can-
not now be remembered to his discredit, at the time it told
against him in the disappointment which it caused, more with
the people than the court. He had been careful to gratify the
king by furnishing subsidies to the German princes, on con-
dition of their taking part in the contest which appeared to be
imminent. But the embarrassment was not removed, for
Legge, as chancellor of the exchequer, refused to sign the
warrants for payment. With the view of strengthening his
administration Pitt was appealed to and offered a seat in the
cabinet with the promise that the royal favour should no longer
be withheld : but he declined to sustain the subsidies. Fox,
more ductile, made no such objections and was appointed
secretary of state, with full powers as leader of the house of
commons. Pitt and Legge, who had opposed the subsidies,
were dismissed.

In May, 1756, the episode took place of admiral Byng’s
conduct before Minorca, when he allowed the French fleet
under de la Galissonniére to sail away without bringing on a
general action. The extreme severity of the sentence of the
court-martial, by which he was sentenced to be shot, and the
calmness with which he met his fate, have honourably
preserved his memory, and he is looked upon as a martyr to
political expediency.* His whole conduct, however, was

* The caricatures of the time shew that Byng affected the fop and man of
fashion. He was an imitation of the French pefit maitre in his manners and
dress, a collector of rare china, and in society was known as a great boaster. He
is represented in the prints of the time in silk stockings and a dress sword, with a
wig @ /a mode, his hat under his arm, and his left hand in a muff; but whatever
his errors, he was sacrificed to the unpopularity of the ministry. Among his most
active opponents was Anson, whose passion for gaming is expressed on the prints
of the time, by his being attached to an E.O. table [then a game much played], as
if his movements were affected by his habits. Anson was then at the admiralty,
and it was under his advice that the expedition had been constituted. There was
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marked by weakness and irresolution. The fleet of de la
Galissonniére was of the same strength as his own, and his
duty was at all cost to have engaged it. He neglected to do
so: the French ships were allowed to sail away, for the French
to boast of Byng’s defeat. Even if he had hastened to relieve
Minorca, he might have redeemed his want of action, but
he returned to Gibraltar and left the garrison to capitulate.
Twenty thousand French troops were before the citadel, and
bombarded it day and night. After an assault by the French
on the 27th of June, when the two officers who had principally
conducted the siege were wounded and taken prisoners, the
fortress surrendered, the garrison marching out with the
honours of war. There is scarcely a more painful passage in
history than the neglect of Newcastle’s ministry to fit out a
properly constituted expedition, in connection with Byng’s
conduct before Minorca, whatever attempt may be made
in modern times to explain it away.

Braddock’s defeat, the surrender of Minorca, followed by
the news from America of the capture of Oswego, the
purchased support of the German princes, and the defiant
character of France created general depression. An outcry of
rage and disappointment passed through the country. The
effort of the ministry was to turn the feeling towards Byng,
to attach to him the blame of the failure, and to make him
the sufferer for it. No cunning, however, could stifle the

much in his conduct which exposed him to censure, and by magnifying the mis-
conduct of Byng he hoped that his want of prevision and judgment would be lost
sight of in the outcry which he encouraged. Newcastle, especially the object of
popular indignation from his incapacity, laboured in every way to transfer the
blame to Byng. Every artifice was indulged in to excite prejudice against him.
It is the knowledge of these facts that has caused the rebound in Byng's favour,
and the extreme punishment he suffered can only be recorded as a disgrace to
those who urged it on. On the other hand, it is impossible to refuse acceptance
of the impression that Byng behaved very badly, and deserved punishment. Had
he been cashiered, he would find few defepders. In spite of the injustice which
caused Byng’s condemnation, his unfortunate fate awoke a better feeling in the
services and greatly aided Chatham in his appeal to the national spirit.

Byng was shot on the quarterdeck of the ‘‘ Monarque” at Spithead on the 14th
of March, 1757.

.
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demand for inquiry into the causes of the late disasters.
Fox saw the coming storm ; knowing how Newcastle would
cast the blame upon other shoulders, he was the first to resign.
Newcastle endeavoured by every effort to reconstitute his
ministry, but he quailed before the exasperation of public
opinion, and dreading the consequences in the excited
condition of the general indignation, himself resigned.

Fox endeavoured to forrr.x a ministry. Pitt refused to act
with him.* Pitt was now approached by lord Hardwicke ;
the only condition on which he agreed to take office was the
exclusion of Newcastle. In this emergency the duke of
Devonshire was applied to, and he formed an administration
in which Pitt became secretary of state, with the lead in the
house of commons. It was during this administration that
the trial of Byng took place. Pitt shewed his courage at the
risk of his popularity and his newly acquired royal favour, by
endeavouring to protect Byng from the extreme consequence
of the trial, and by earnestly striving to obtain the king’s
clemency ; but the king was inexorable, and Byng suffered
the full penalty of his sentence.

Pitt had married the sister of Richard earl Temple, and
Temple had been included in the ministry. His name will
appear again in this history in connection with a passage of
Wolfe'’s life. He was pomposity personified ; he had great

®* A name is met in the political struggles of this date, in the future to be
identified with the history of Canada under a different aspect to that which it then
presented. In 1759, owing to the death of Wolfe, and Monckton being seriously
wounded, the hon. George Townshend was the signer of the conditions granted
in the capitulation of Quebec. Townshend of the earlier date was a man of
fashion ; to use the words of Horace Walpole, ‘‘ His genius for likenesses in
caricature is astonishing.” In 1757 he produced a caricature, ‘‘ The Recruiting
Sergeant,” in which he ridiculed the abortive attempt of Fox to form a ministry.
On an altar was placed the duke of Cumberland, whose corpulence made him
amenable to ridicule, and the followers of Fox were being led towards it in every
attitude of grotesqueness. It is worthy of remark that two of the figures, that of
the fat Bubb Doddington and the lean earl of Winchester, were found among the
pencil drawings of Hogarth, published in Ireland’s supplement, suggesting that
Townshend obtained the assistance of Hogarth in his work : to what extent it is
of course impossible to say. (Vide Wright's Caricatures of the Georges, pp. 201-2.)
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wealth, and the full sense of its possession. He was un-
scrupulous, practised in the lowest tricks of politics, with a
restless ambition ; with very ordinary talents for administration
and debate, and in his intercourse with the king he managed
to make himself most objectionable.*

One of the characteristics of George II. was that in his
transactions with his ministers he desired their communications
to be brief and the matter succinctly submitted. Pitt did not
follow this rule ; his address was formal and affected ; he was
stilted and oratorical and his language not easily understood
owing to the king’s imperfect knowledge of English. Temple’s
manner is best described by George II. himself: “he is so
disagreeable a fellow that there is no bearing him ; when he
attempts to argue he is pert and sometimes insolent ; when he
means to be civil he is extremely troublesome, and in the
business of his office he is totally ignorant.” 4 It is not to be
wondered at that the king thought of the placid complaisance
of Newcastle and negotiations were opened with him for his
resumption of office; but the duke would take no decided
action. He feared the consequences of assuming power under
such trying conditions. In this hesitation, the impetuosity of
the duke of Cumberland intervened and created the crisis.
He had been appointed to the command of the German troops
gathered together in Hanover, and having a strong prejudice
against Pitt on account of the opposition he had shewn to the
Hanoverian subsidies, he was unwilling to leave England in
order to assume his duties with Pitt as secretary of state, to
exercise control over his movements. The duke had no great
difficulty in acting upon the king’s dissatisfaction, and in
persuading him to deal summarily with members of the
ministry whose manners were distasteful to him, and in whom,
personally, he placed little confidence. Temple was dismissed

¢ Richard Grenville, eldest son of Mr. Richard Grenville, of Wotton, and
Esther Temple, countess Temple and viscountess Cobham in her own right. He
was the first Richard Grenville earl Temple, succeeding to the title on the decease
of his mother in 1752.

+ Lord Waldergrave’s Memoirs, p. 90.
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on the sth of April,in the expectation that Pitt would accept
the act as a personal affront and resign. Pitt saw clearly
what was intended; he remained passive "and the court
accordingly had to complete the contemplated change. He,
himself, was dismissed on the gth : other removals followed,
and the ministry, as it had been reconstituted, ceased to exist.
The duke of Cumberland having attained his purpose, was so
little affected by the crisis which he had created, that he even
failed to see its existence. He believed a few weeks would
suffice to affirm the position of a new ministry when all would
again run on smoothly, and he left for his command on the
continent.

The appointment of Pitt to office had to some extent
quieted public feeling, and had revived the hopes of the
nation. Nevertheless, little had been done to change the
policy of the country. There was the same want of energy
and effort, for the public service had been paralyzed, owing to
the control exercised by Newcastle and his supporters. As
we read of his influence, he appears as the evil genius in the
tale, whose glance could wither to nothingness everything it
fell upon. The dismissal of the ministry, as it removed all
hope of better government,awoke the old feeling of discontent
with increased bitterness ; on all sides loudly expressed com-
plaint and dissatisfaction were heard. The whole country
was in a fever of anxiety and anger at the removal of Pitt;
such was the public confidence in his character. The city of
London, ever foremost in the career of civil and religious
liberty, and in its support of honest government, voted him
the freedom of the city. It was a significant political
demonstration, followed by the other large cities. The king-
dom throughout was convulsed to the core, and on all sides
Pitt was the recipient of honours. Eleven weeks passed
without a ministry being formed. Finally, the exigencies of
the situation exacted on all sides some abatement of the
pretensions which had led to the dead-lock. The king accepted
the appointment of Pitt as secretary of state to act as first
minister in the house of commons, having full control of the
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direction of the war, and the foreign policy of the country.
Fox became paymaster of the forces, accepting an office of
great emolument, but without influence ; being content to
vote as the minister prescribed. Newcastle brought to the
support of the administration his wide parliamentary interest,
and undertook the control of the votes of the house of com-
mons given in support of the ministry ; the department of
corruption for which he was competent. The great affairs of
the nation were left to the genius and energy of Pitt.

It was the commencement of the most powerful adminis-
tration which England has ever seen. We have not only to
consider the triumphs which were accomplished, but the
condition in which the country was languishing when Pitt
obtained power. There was a dead level of selfishness and
meanness, joined to an utter indifference of everything which
affected the public interest. There was no recognition of
merit, no reward for devotion to duty : it was a period when
influential incompetence revelled in its paradise. The one
object of men in power had been the preservation of their
parliamentary majority, in order that they could retain the
dignity and profits of office. Every embarrassing question
was avoided or glossed over : every useful measure was aban-
doned as the noisy outcry of an interested opposition : every
abuse was maintained ; all responsibility by executive officers
avoided. Political partisans were pushed into offices of con
sequence and extravagantly paid, and pensions and position
given to any prominent personage capable of proving trouble-
some. It was inaction raised to a science, the English version
of the saying attributed to Mde. de Pompadour, “Aprés moz
le deluge.”

Pitt’s administration lasted until the death of the king in
1760, when it was broken up by George III. to place the
favourite of his mother, the incompetent lord Bute, in power ;
and, owing to the doctrines inculcated from his youth upward
in the mind of the young king, from the desire to establish
the royal will as autocratically and as arbitrarily as that of a
Roman Casar.
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CHAPTER VII.

Pitt’s new ministry was completed on the 29th of June,
1757. He selected lord Holdernesse as joint secretary of war,
doubtless with the view of avoiding all interference with his
energetic policy. Newcastle accepted the duties of the treas-
ury ; Legge was named chancellor of the exchequer. Pratt,
afterwards lord Camden, became attorney-general ; Temple,
lord privy seal. Anson was continued in his office in the
admiralty. In placing Anson in this position, Pitt determined
to retain undisputed control over the navy : he even insisted
that the correspondence of naval officers should be referred to
him, and that without comment the naval board should accept
despatches sent for their signature. Anson’s position was so
weak, that little opposition could be looked for from him.

Pitt was thus supreme ; but the season was far advanced,
and with every desire for action, his power was limited to the
operations which the period of the year would permit. The
early months of his administration presented only the record
of disaster ; they can be adduced as an example, that fre-
quently the events of the present imperfectly forebode the
conclusion hoped or feared. A series of misfortunes were
announced, each case in itself a serious reverse. The first
news received was the destruction of William Henry in the
early days of August, which I have narrated in a previous
chapter. It was followed in September by the defeat of the
duke of Cumberland at Hastenberg, and the convention of
Clostern Severn, which for the time threatened the loss of the
king’s Hanoverian dominions.

The duke was in Hanover in command of about 60,000
subsidized Hessians, Brunswickers and soldiers from Gotha,
his object being the defence of the electorate against the
French. Marshal d’Estrées, at the head of 80,000 men, was
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in the field against him. The French unopposed overran
Hesse and seized the capital, Cassel. The duke, believing the
passage of the Weser to be so difficult, as in itself to form a line
of defence, took ground on the eastern bank, and gave direc-
tions for fortifying the two places Miinden and Hamelin. But
the French without difficulty crossed the river, upon which the
duke called in his detachments and established himself at
Hastenbach, not far from Hamelin. He was here vigorously
attacked on the 27th of July and defeated. The duke hastily
retreated, and made no attempt to retrieve the loss of the day.
The day after the victory, as if a censure for his success,
d’Estrées was replaced by the duc de Richelieu ; the result of
court intrigue. The French rigorously raised contributions in
the electorate, and took possession of the whole country to
Bremen. The duke continued his retreat towards Stade, at
the mouth of the Elbe. Four English men-of-war were
stationed here, from which he looked for support, but his
communication with the stream was cut off. A treaty was
negotiated at Clostern Severn on the 8th of September,
through the intervention of count Lynar, minister to the king
of Denmark. It was stipulated that hostilities should cease ;
that the subsidized Germans should return to their homes ;
and that the Hanoverian troops should remain in a district
assigned them east of the Elbe, in the neighbourhood of Stade.
When the treaty was reported to England, the duke was
immediately recalled.*

The duke was received in great anger by his father George
I1., who, when they met, would not speak to him. The high

* The treaty caused Frederick of Prussia the greatest dissatisfaction. Nearly
twenty years afterwards, in October, 1715, he wrote an ode satirizing the duke.
Tel parut Cumberland, cet invincible duc,
Qui sentant ses guerriers mal-adroits 4 la nage,
Par ce fameux traité leur sauva le naufrage.
- » - - - * »
Evitant avec soin surtout de se noyer ;
Dans le tumulte militaire
Toujours doux, clément, débonnaire ;
Homicide ne fut, quoiqu’excellent guerrier.
Je pourrais encore publier,
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spirit of the duke was so affected by this treatment, that he -
immediately resigned every military appointment he held. He
was then in his forty-fourth year. In spite of the want of
fortune which attended his career, William duke of Cumber-
land must retain a respectable place in history for his ability,
truthfulness, and honesty. It is perhaps not now generally
recollected that, owing to his popularity, the flower called
“Sweet William” was named after him. There are many
fables of his atrocities after Culloden, in one of which he is
represented as calling upon Wolfe to shoot a wounded high-
land soldier, when Wolfe replied he was not an executioner.
However stern the treatment of those engaged in the rebellion,
it was the consequence of the positive orders from London.*

Pitt’s conduct on this occasion showed the magnanimity of

Qu'il nous vit tous ronger des Frangais comme un chancre.
Aiment mieux, du haut faite ol I'élevait son rang,
Répandre en beaux traités tout un déluge d’encre,
Que de verser pour nous une goutte de sang.
—Euvres Posthumes de Fréderic II., XV., p. 213.
The convention was subsequently set aside. It was received with the same
disfavour in Prussia as in London, and on all sides the retreat of the duke was
blamed. On his part he complained that he had been restricted by the regency in
Hanover. The treaty was likewise objected to in France, the prevailing opinion
being that too favourable terms had been granted to a force, driven into such a
position that no alternative presented itself but unconditional surrender. The
French endeavoured to provoke the Hanoverians to a line of conduct which would
warrant them in declaring that the conditions had been violated. They seized the
country, took possession of the government, and exacted the sternest and most
exorbitant contributions for the support of the army. Indeed, they refused to
acknowledge the conditions unless the Hanoverians and their allies would
stipulate not to serve during the war. Urged by the king of Prussia, George II.
finally published a declaration justifying the course of renouncing the agreement.
The command of the ariny was conferred on Ferdinand, brother of the duke of
Brunswick, the subsequent conqueror of Minden. The duc de Richelieu, on
hearing of the activity of the Hanoverians, addressed a letter to prince Ferdinand,
in which he offered to fulfil the convention, as it was considered by Prussia and
England ; otherwise he would feel warranted in burning every building in
Hanover from a palace to a cottage, to sack all the towns and villages, and
devastate the country. To this threat the prince replied that he would give an
answer to the duc de Richelieu at the head of his army.
* Those who may desire to form a fair view of the duke of Cumberland’s
character will do well to refer to sir Walter Scott’s introduction to Waverley.



1757] FEARS OF INVASION. 103

his character. It may be recollected that the duke had been
the principal cause of Pitt’s removal from the ministry early
in the year., When George II. was exclaiming against his
son that he had no authority to make such a treaty, Pitt, in
opposition to the king, pointed out that full power had been
granted to the duke, which in this respect must be considered
his justification.

Pitt’s nature was not one to be dismayed by reverses, how-
ever painful, and although the season was late he took steps to
equip a fleet, the destination of which was kept secret. There
was, at this period, in England an extraordinary dread of
invasion from France* There will ever be found a class of
alarmists who can see only the dark side of life ; the antece-
dent events of 1745 were so recent that they furnished an
argument with men of gloomy natures for the probability of
their recurrence. The dread of this movement had been the
cause of the limit imposed to Byng’s fleet. Pitt's nature was
not one to be impressed by the feeling, especially when he
held the power by which the danger could be met. He must
have seen these fears to be illusory and groundless, and that
his first imperative duty was to re-establish public confi-

* Frequent allusion to this probability may be found in the letters of the time.
On the 24th of October, 1755, Wolfe wrote to his mother : ““in case of an invasion
I imagine my father will think it his duty to be at the head of his regiment.”
In November he writes from Canterbury : *‘ General Hawley is expected in a few
days to keep us all in order. If there is an invasion they could not make use of
a more unfit person, for the troops dread his severity, hate the man and hold his
military knowledge in contempt.” In February, 1756, ‘‘I believe the French
would be pleased to invade us if they knew how to get over;” and in July:
““What makes me laugh, is our extravagant fears of an invasion, at a time when
it is absolutely absurd and almost impossible.” [Wright, pp. 329: 333-4: 341.]
Mrs. Delaney relates in her autobiography [II1., 401] alluding to this panic, owing
to a wedding procession passing rapidly through some villages, the inhabitants
rushed to their houses, barricaded them, armed themselves with pitchforks and
exclaimed that the invasion had come. In his letters to sir Horace Mann, Horace
Walpole laughs at these fears. In March, 1755, he wrote [III. p. 140] the French
“‘shall be in Southwark before I pack up a single miniature.” In February, 1756,
he wrote [111., p. 176], *“ The reigning fashion is expectation of an invasion; I can’t
say I am fashionable ; nor do I expect the earthquake though they say it is /anded
at Dover.”
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dence. The country had lost its ancient self-reliance; the
future seemed dark with additional disaster. The debt was
increasing, amid the common feeling that no counterbalancing
advantage was obtained. Faith in the public spirit had fled.
Incapacity, irresolution, with the care for private and family
interest, were apparent on all sides. The nation had no longer
any confidence in its good fortune, and while the highest hope
was an avoidance of serious failure, the common belief had
arisen that national ruin and disgrace impended over the land.

An expedition had been suggested by the probability of its
success, the design being to destroy the vessels of war in the
harbours on the eastern coast of France. The seaboard had
been stripped of its defenders to send troops to Germany, and
there was the expectation that the possibility of attack would
lead to the withdrawal of a large force from the army operat-
ing against Frederick of Prussia. The expedition was ready
to sail in September; the period taken for its organization
was remarkably short, two months only having elapsed from
the day when Pitt assumed office. Sixteen ships of the line
and several frigates and transports sailed from Spithead, the
fleet being under the command of sir Edward Hawke. Sir
John Mordaunt was the senior general: a man well known
in society, with an assured position as the nephew of the earl
of Peterborough, he was personally most estimable. He had
thirty-seven years service, having entered the army in 1721,
and was now lieutenant-general. He had commanded a
brigade at Culloden, and was present in Lauffeld in 1747.
The command was, in the first instance, offered to lord George
Sackville, better known as lord George Germaine, but it was
declined. The second in command was Conway, whose name
appears in the imperial history for the succeeding quarter of
a century. Cornwallis was the third superior officer. His
fame rests on his conduct in the foundation of Halifax, where
he shewed uncommon ability and judgment.

The expedition is of importance in the history of Canada,
inasmuch as it is the occasion when Wolfe’'s name first
appears in prominence. Although Wolfe had attracted atten-
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tion in the service by his ability and conduct, he was otherwise
unknown. With the commanders of regiments he had ob-
tained reputation from the excellent condition to which he
had brought the men under him, and the “intelligence of the
discipline he enforced.” He was appointed quartermaster-
general to the expedition. .

There was no delay in the departure of the fleet: it left
St. Helen’s on the 8th of September. After being a week at
sea, the information was made known that the objective point
was Rochefort, on the right bank of the Charente. The fleet
arrived on the 21st of September, but owing to the high wind
no attempt was made to land until the 23rd, when the Ile
d’Aix was taken by captain, afterwards lord, Howe. During
the inaction of the preceding days, Wolfe applied for per-
mission to make a reconnaissance, when he saw that a forton a
sandy promontory had first to be silenced before Rochefort
could be attacked. He formed the opinion that a single man-
of-war could approach sufficiently near for the place to be can-
nonaded, and that under protection of the fire, troops could be
landed for an attack on the reverse side. The pilot considered
that there was water sufficient. The admiral ordered a careful
reconnaissance to be made, upon which the opinion was
formed that the landing might be effected. At the council of
war the discussion turned upon the possibility of re-embarking
the troops. The general was desirous of receiving a positive
assurance from the admiral that he would undertake at any
time to embark the troops. Hawke replied that the operation
must depend on the wind and weather. The council was not
of opinion that the attempt should be made. Two days’
deliberation ensued, when the opinion was reversed, and the
men were put on board the ships’ boats. After lying on the
water for three hours, the troops were ordered to return on
shipboard. Again there was a misconception between the
general and admiral. On the 29th, Hawke by letter informed
Mordaunt that if no further military operations were to be
proposed, the fleet must return to England. Mordaunt ac-
cordingly called a third council, at which the admiral refused
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to attend, as seamen were not judges of the operations of
troops on land. During this hesitation, Wolfe offered, if 500
men were given him and three ships of war, he would make
the attempt on Rochefort. The offer was refused. On a
third council of war, it was resolved to demolish the fortifica-
tions of Aix and to return to England.

The national disappointment on this failure was generally
and strongly felt. A court of inquiry was held upon the
conduct of Mordaunt ; the report, though equivocal, amounted
to censure of his conduct. Consequently Mordaunt was
tried by court-martial. The verdict in this case was that of
acquittal.

Few ministers entering upon office during a war, carried on
with activity and ‘determination by a powerful enemy, have
had to encounter the influence of such depressing reverses.
An ordinary mind would have been dismayed and have cowed
before the future. The gloomy news from the continent and
from America were only re-echoed by the failure of the efforts
he had himself originated. With nations, when true self-reliant
courage is the basis of the popular character, as with indivi-
duals who, with great qualities, have suffered wrong and
adversity, misfortune brings forth the nobler, higher and better
instincts which circumstances have caused to lie dormant.
The immediate consequence is the exercise of the spirit of
determination, by which the best results are achieved. How
many private histories, if they were written, could trace to
what at the time appeared an overwhelming disaster, the
awakening of that mental discipline and labour which opened
the path to distinction and fortune. Mere complacent
satisfaction in the happier chronicles of a nation is a widely
different sentiment to that re-awakened patriotism, called into
life by the sense of the peril in which the country is placed,
to teach us, that on all sides individual effort is demanded, to
restore peace and happiness to the nation, when threatened by
danger and disaster. As Pitt looked around him in the higher
ranks of the services, the sign most predominant was indolent
and selfish caution, antagonistic to all display of vigour.
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There was little fondness for the duties of military life ; its
attraction consisted in the distinction it conferred and the
means of livelihood it furnished. As Pitt cast his eyes over
the list of general officers, not one name suggested itself as
a fit commander of an important enterprise. On all sides there
was the same indifference to duty. Army contractors and
purveyors were intent on gain ; unenterprising and ignorant,
their greatest knowledge was that of falsifying accounts.
Pitt sought out and detected many such abuses ; further, he
remedied them. He brought to the discharge of his own
obligations, attention, care and devotion. His unceasing
labour, his punctual observance of every minor detail, his
indefatigable examination of all that came under his notice,
awoke a spirit through public life to recall the glorious days
of Marlborough. No man met Pitt and received his instruc-
tions, but was carried away by the extraordinary influence he
could impart. Thoughts which men had not known to be
theirs, came upon natures capable of entertaining them, as they
heard his plainly-given orders, and listened to his elevated
views. He imparted, as it were, that sense of determination
and courage, that chivalrous disregard of self, the true
prompting spirit of great and noble actions. He brought
England back to her true nature, and the re-establishment of
the national spirit may be traced to his inspiration.

The line of policy, which Pitt determined vigorously to
carry out, was the attempt to drive the French from America,
and to establish over the whole continent undisputed British
rule. The operations to effect this result could be narrowed
to three objective points: the fortress of Louisbourg ; the city
of Quebec ; in each case to be attacked by a united naval
and land expedition ; third, by an advance of a land force by
lake Champlain, to attack the French posts on the lake, and
to advance upon Montreal. Quebec and Montreal wrested
from the French, the outer posts of Frontenac, Niagara, and
Detroit, with the forts on the Ohio, including fort Duquesne,
would be cut off from all assistance, and from want of supplies
would have no alternative but to surrender.
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The fortress of Louisbourg was alike a threat to Massa-
chusetts and to Nova Scotia, from the privateers which found
refuge in its harbour and stole out to prey upon the commerce
of Boston and the other towns ; while the large force stationed
there threatened the very existence of Halifax. Its destruc-
tion accordingly assumed importance in the imperial as in the
provincial point of view. In November, 1757, brigadier Waldo,
who had been third in command of the land forces at the
siege of 1745, addressed a memorial to Pitt, with maps and
plans, detailing a mode of attack. One miscalculation of this
paper was the supposed ease with which the troops could be
landed : it was the duty in which the greatest difficulty was
expericnced. Waldo estimated that the place could not hold
out fourteen days. One point he dwelt upon, the necessity of
a superiority of force, and that it was essential the expedition
should arrive before Louisbourg at the latter end of April.*
The failure of the expedition of Loudoun had to a great
extent been attributed to the late period when it left England.

So soon as the campaign was resolved upon, great activity
was shewn in completing the organization. It was far ad-
vanced in January: we have a letter from Wolfe of the 7th,
that he hurried from Exeter to London to receive his instruc-
tions. He was appointed brigadier-general, his commission,
however, only giving him rank in America.f+ Even Pitt could
not break through the spirit of routine which was weighing
down the service in order to give full promotion to merit.
There stood between him and his desires the adamantine
social barrier, the claim of seniority ; a difficulty ever to recur,
only to be met in individual cases, by the unmistakeable
expression of public apinion.

There was less difficulty in finding a leader in the naval
than in the land service. The discipline of the navy exacts
from the least attentive a close observance of daily duty ; and
it is not possible on shipboard for the time wholly to be passed
in frivolity. The ordinary every day life therefore cannot fail

* Archive Report, 1886, cli.
+ 23rd of January, 1758.
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to bring with it some experience and knowledge, and a few
years’ service as a naval officer must leave its distinct impress.
In those days many of this class were rough in their manner,
and had not sought to improve the slight education they had
received ; they were, however, perfectly at home afloat ; they
were excellent seamen, ready to fight their ship, and resolute
in the hour of danger. The selection of the admiral proved
fortunate in the extreme. He cordially co-operated with the
general in command ; was not restrained by ill-considered
professional doubts and scruples, and was ready to take his
share of the risk and responsibility in trying times. Towards
the end of the siege full proof was given of his enterprise and
dash ; during its continuance his judgment and forethought
were unfailingly apparent.

Admiral Edward Boscawen was the third son of the first
viscount Falmouth. His grandmother was Arabella Churchill,
who, after the termination of her connection with James II,,
married Mr. Charles Godfrey. Boscawen, born in 1711, had
entered the navy at fifteen ; he was now forty-seven years
old. He had sailed with the unfortunate admiral Hozier, and
was present at Porto Bello as a volunteer under Vernon. In
1742 he had been appointed to the “ Dreadnought.” As his
qualities were considered to accord with the ship’s name, he
was known by the men as “Old Dreadnought,” but, from
carrying his head on one side, he was christened by the sailors
“ Wry-necked Dick.” He had served in the East Indies with
no good fortune. In 1755 he was in command of the fleet
sent to the North American station, and it was the ships of his
squadron which fell in with and captured “I’Acide” and *le
Lys” 1In 1757 he had been appointed in command with
Hawke. With this record, he was named admiral of the fleet
directed against Louisbourg.

The commander-in-chief was general Amherst He
belonged to a family of respectability of Rivershead, near
Seven Oaks, in Kent. He was born in 1717. He owed his
first position to the favour of the duke of Dorset, who was a
neighbour of his father. When the duke was lord lieutenant
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of Ireland Ambherst acted as page, and in this position he
became known to lord George Sackville, afterwards lord George
Germaine, by whose interest he was much advanced in the
service. As most of the young men of that day, at the age of
fourteen he received his first commission in the guards. He
early obtained the position of aide-de-camp to lord Ligonier,
and was present at Roucoux, Dettingen and Fontenoy. He
was at the battle of Lauffeld, in 1747, on the staff of the duke
of Cumberland. In 1756 he became colonel of the 15th. He
was present, in 1757, at Hastenback, and afterwards served
with the British corps d’armée acting under prince Ferdinand.
He had attracted the attention of his superiors, by his talents
and his self-control, thoroughly to obtain their confidence. It
was in this position, when serving in Germany as a colonel,
that he was selected by Pitt to take command of the forces in
North America, with the rank of major-general. He was
then forty-two years of age. He owed much to the Dorset
family, and it appears probable that it was the same influence
which led to his selection. Pitt had offered the command to
lord George Sackville, in the expedition against Rochefort.
Lord George’s desire was to serve on the continent, and he
had declined it. This position he subsequently obtained,
unfortunately for his good fame, having succeeded to the chief
command through the death of the duke of Marlborough. It
is not improbable that he brought Amherst to Pitt’s notice.
It was a bold and unusual proceeding on the part of the
minister to pass over the general officers on the roster, to
select a colonel of a few years’ standing to be placed in high
command. There must have been powerful assurances of
Ambherst’s ability to lead to this course. Fortunately for
himself, he was favourably known both to lord Ligonier and
the duke of Somerset.

He is described by a later writer* as being tall and thin,
with an aquiline nose, an intelligent countenance, and a dried-
up complexion. His manners were grave, formal, and cold.
His judgment and his understanding were considered to be

* Wraxall, II., 192.
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good ; neither was cultivated by education or expanded by
knowledge. He was exceedingly taciturn: when in after
years he attended the cabinet dinners, he rarely expressed an
opinion on any political question. He gave his vote in the
negative or affirmative in few words, often in monosyllables,
and never could be induced to give his reasons. He is
accused by contemporary writers of being grasping, and of
endeavouring to enrich himself. It will be seen hereafter that
he endeavoured to obtain a grant of the jesuits’ estates after
the conquest. So many difficulties intervened, that the matter
remained unsettled at his death, and in lieu of the grant an
annuity was given to the second lord. Ambherst, on reaching
America, had twenty-eight years’ service ; he had long been
a friend of Wolfe, who, on hearing of his promotion to the
colonelcy of the 15th, wrote that “no one deserves the king’s
favour better than that man.”

The three junior brigadiers were Lawrence, Wentworth, and
Wolfe.

James Wolfe was born in Westerham, in Kent, near London,
on the 2nd of January, 1727. At that date his father was
forty-three years old, a lieutenant-colonel in the army, having
served with distinction under Marlborough. His mother was
Henrietta Thompson, of a distinguished Yorkshire family ;
she was then twenty-four, being nineteen years her husband’s
junior. The Wolfes were originally Anglo-Irish. The great-
grandfather of Wolfe settled in the north of England, and this
branch of the family left Ireland. Wolfe was the. eldest of
two sons: his brother Edward, a year younger, also in the
army, died at Ghent in October, 1744, in his seventeenth year;
his weak frame at that age being unable to sustain the hard-
ships of the campaign.

Wolfe’s first commission was in his father’s regiment of
marines ; he was not then fifteen. He was soon afterwards
transferred to the 12th, colonel Duroure’s regiment. In the
same year he was at Ghent. Even at this early date he
suffered from bad health; he wrote,* “I never come into

* 14th of February, 1743.
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quarters without aching hips and knees.” Throughout his
life, from the weakness of his constitution, he suffered from
occasional severe sickness. Wolfe’s education only lasted a
few years, and he left school at the age when boys are being
transferred to the higher forms: he had no illusions as to his
deficiencies in this respect, and his constant effort was to
remedy them. He was, indeed, what most men must be, more
or less, self-educated ; doubtless, his mind received in his first
years those good impulses by which his character was formed.
When at Glasgow, and he was then a major, in his twenty-
second year, with every inducement to pass his time in
amusement, he relates that in the morning, “I have a man to
instruct me in mathematics, and in the afternoon another comes
to assist me in regaining my almost lost Latin.” Of French
he obtained a knowledge to speak it fluently. He learned to
dance and to fence; indeed, he endeavoured to perfect him-
self in every social duty. He was a diligent student of his
own profession. It is related of him at Louisbourg, that
when some surprise was expressed as to the drill he had
introduced into the movements of the light infantry * of
passing rapidly from point to point, availing themselves of
cover, and gaining the advantage of height in an attack,
Wolfe asked an officer of some reading what he thought of
it. “I think,” was the reply, “I see something here of the
history of the Carduchi who harassed Xenophon, and hung

¢ Entick thus describes the light infantry which rendered essential service
during the siege. The course pursued on this occasion may appear worthy the
attention of a general in the field. *‘Our light infantry, Highlanders and
Rangers, the French termed the English savages, perhaps in contradistinction to
their own native Indians, Canadians, &c., the true French savages. These light
infantry were a corps of §50 volunteers, chosen as marksmen out of the most
active, resolute men, from all the battalions of regulars, dressed, some in blue, some
in green jackets and drawers, for the easier brushing through the woods, with ruffs
of black bear’s skin round their necks, the beards of their upper lips some grown
into whiskers, others not so, but all well smutted on that part, with little round
hats like several of our seamen. Their arms were a fusil cartouche, box of balls
and flints, and a powder horn flung over the shoulders.” ¢ The rangers are a
body of irregulars, who have a more cut-throat savage appearance, which carries
in it something of natural savages; the appearance of the light infantry has in it
more of artificial savages.” Vol. IIL, p. 227.
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upon his rear in the retreat over the mountains.” “You are
right,” said Wolfe, “I had it there, but our friends are
astonished at what I have shewn them, because they have
read nothing.” *

We have here the explanation of Wolfe’s professional
knowledge. It was unceasingly sought after by him wherever
he thought that it could be obtained. Even in his seventeenth
year he acted as adjutant to his regiment, in which capacity
he was present at Dettingen. At the close of the campaign
he returned to England, when he was appointed captain in
Barrell’s, the 4th regiment. He was not at Fontenoy. In
1745 his regiment was a part of the force of marshal Wade
sent to oppose the pretender. He was at Falkirk and at
Culloden, under the duke of Cumberland, and he has left an
account of the battle. The rebellion having been subdued,
he remained in the highlands, and he is believed to have
remained in command of the fort between lochs Lomond and
Katrine. Wolfe was again in service on the continent in
January, 1747, and was present at Lauffeld on the 2nd of
June. He returned to London in the winter of 1747-8, going
back to the continent in March, 1748. In January, 1749, he
was appointed major in lord George Sackville’s regiment,
the 2oth.

At this date occurred his affaire de ceeur with Elizabeth,
eldest daughter of sir Wilfrid Lawson, maid of honour to the
princess of Wales. Wolfe was thrown much into her society
during the winter he was in London. She was well connected,
being the niece of lord Peterborough. It was not her position
at the court which attracted Wolfe, for he described it “as a
gentecler way to wickedness,” which, with Miss Chudleigh in
his mind, it was not difficult to believe. While personally he
was much attached to Miss Lawson, his parents were opposed
to the match, an objection based on the lady’s want of
fortune. If Wolfe ever made a serious proposal it was
rejected ; he himself speaks of his “last disappointment in
love,” and he was angry with his mother when she wrote that

* Anabasis, Book 1V, 1-2.

1
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Miss Lawson’s ill-health prevented her marrying. “My
amour,” he wrote five years later, “has not been without its
use. It has defended me against other women, introduced a
great deal of philosophy and tranquility as to all objects of
our strongest affections, and something softened the disposi-
tion to severity and rigour that I had contracted in the camp,
trained up as from my infancy to the conclusion of the peace
in war and tumult” A few years after the affair his old
feelings were awakened by seeing Miss Lawson’s picture in
the house of general Mordaunt. It may be well to remark
that Miss Lawson died in March, 1759, in less than a month
after the departure of Wolfe for the St. Lawrence.

In 1749, owing to the departure of the lieutenant-colonel,
Cornwallis, to assume the duties of the government of Nova
Scotia, Wolfe was placed in command of the regiment. It
was the commencement of the reputation he subsequently
attained. Wolfe’s attention was directed to every minor
detail of the interior economy of the regiment. His effort
was not simply given to the smart appearance of men on
parade, and that they should execute their movements in the
field with steadiness and regularity ; Wolfe was among the
first to shew his care aud consideration for the soldier in the
ranks, and to elevate him in his own self-respect. The high
degree of excellence to which he brought the regiment, became
widely known, and men of rank and position on joining the
service applied to obtain their commissions in the 2oth.
Among such as these was the duke of Richmond and the
marquis of Blandford. When the battle of Minden was
fought, on the 1st of August, 1759, Wolfe was in command of
the expedition against Quebec, but the gallantry and good
service of the regiment, on that day, were fully recognized as
the consequence of his discipline and training.

The age was one of reckless dissipation and idleness. In
the hour of danger the officers shewed courage and fortitude ;
but there was a total disregard of the study of their profession.
There was, indeed, little encouragement to the military student,
for promotion was the consequence of political influence and
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powerful family connections. Wolfe's letters are full of allu-
sions to this condition. In his own command he exacted
constant attention to duty, and one of his orders sets forth
that the subalterns cannot think they do too much. In 1750
he was appointed lieutenant-colonel of the 2oth. Two years -
later he was at Paris, the bearer of letters from lord Bury to
his father, the British ambassador, the earl of Albemarle. He
thus obtained the passport into the best society, French and
English. For the six months he was at Paris he was a diligent
student of the language, so that he spoke it fluently and
clegantly. He was desirous of professionally visiting the
continental camps ; but his application for leave for the pur-
pose was refused, so he returned to England. Towards the
end of 1753 the 2oth was quartered at Dover. The regiment
remained in the south and west of England until the com-
mencement of the war in 1756. In the following year he
accepted the position of quartermaster-general for Ireland, on
condition that he received the rank of colonel. On a younger
lieutenant-colonel being promoted over his head, he resigned
the appointment. On his return from the expedition to
Rochefort, Wolfe was promoted to the rank of colonel. In a
letter to his father he speaks of his obligations to sir Edward
Hawke, who influenced lord Anson to submit his name to
the king. Lord Ligonier was then commander-in-chief, owing
to the resignation of the duke of Cumberland. Wollfe, being
in doubt as to his future conduct, addressed lord Ligonier on
the subject of his proceeding to Ireland. In this dilemma he
received the appointment as brigadier in the North American
expedition. The selection was the act of Pitt, dictated by the
desire to appoint competent men. His position, however,
conferred on him only the local rank of brigadier in America :
at the siege of Louisbourg, Wolfe’s substantive army rank was
only that of colonel.

There is a story told of Wolfe, which has been accepted on
utterly insufficient evidence, to which I feel called upon to
allude. It is related that Pitt invited him to dinner previously
to his departure for Quebec, generally to discuss the chances
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of the campaign, the only other guest present being lord
Temple. It is on lord Temple’s authority that the story is
told. It never publicly appeared until published in lord
Mahon’s history, in 1844, eighty-six years after the event,
with the consent and on the authority of Mr. Thomas Gren-
ville, who had heard the story from lord Temple.* In making
the statement Mr. Grenville was careful to add that, according
to Temple, Wolfe “ had partaken sparingly of wine,” but that
he indulged in the greatest extravagance of manner and
conduct, drawing his sword in the dining room, and declaring
what he would effect with it.

It may be asked, on what ground this plain narrative can
be disputed? I reply, its total want of corroboration, the
character of the first narrator, and the whole life and career
of Wolfe himself. Lord Temple speaks of Wolfe being
heated by the “unwonted society of statesmen.” Such a
supposition is ridiculously inadmissible. Pitt himself was no
higher in the social class than Wolfe ; he had commenced life
as a cornet in the “ Blues,” and by his own genius and political
career had attained distinction. There was surely nothing
overpowering, either in the birth, rank, ability or character of
lord Temple.t Wolfe had been on terms of intimacy with

* « After Wolfe’s appointment, and on the day preceding his embarkation for
America, Pitt, desirous of giving his last verbal instructions, invited him to
dinner, lord Temple being the only other guest. As the evening advanced,
Wolfe, heated, perhaps, by his own aspiring thoughts and the unwonted society of
statesmen, broke forth into a strain of gasconade and bravado. He drew his
sword, he rapped the table with it, he flourished it round the room, he talked of
the mighty things which that sword was to achieve. The two ministers sat
aghast at an exhibition so unusual from any man of real sense and real spirit.
And when at last Wolfe had taken his leave, and his carriage was heard to roll
from the door, Pitt seemed for the moment shaken in the high opinion which his
deliberate judgment had formed of Wolfe ; he lifted up his eyes and arms, and
exclaimed to lord Temple : *“ Good God ! that I should have entrusted the fate
of the country and of the administration to such hands.” This story was told by
* lord Temple himself to a near and still surviving relative, one of my best and
most valued friends.” [Mahon’s History of England, IV., p. 152.]

+ Horace Walpole makes the following allusion to lord Temple, III., p. 391,
16th Nov., 1759. Letter to sir Horace Mann. “ If Lord Temple hoped to
involve Mr. Pitt in his quarrel, it was very wicked at such a crisis as this—and if he
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the first men in England. He had associated in the best
" society. The duke of Richmond and the marquis of Blandford
had sought commissions in his regiment. He had mixed with
the highest French nobility in Paris. Lord Bury was his
intimate friend. If there was one man with family pride, it
was lord George Sackville. Wolfe wrote to him with the
same freedom as to his intimate friend Rickson.

It was owing to the marriage of Pitt with the sister of lord
Temple, the head of the Grenville family, that Temple
possessed influence. Neither his character nor his talents com-
manded respect ; he was wealthy, ambitious, unscrupulous in
his attempts to obtain position, untiring in his energy to injure
an opponent, and with an exaggerated idea of his personal
importance, and of the dignity of the earldom his family had
lately obtained. We have many glimpses of his character in
the history of that time, when his name appears, mostly in
connection with that of Pitt. We read of his blundering
impertinence to George II., when he told the king that his
own conduct at Malplaquet had placed him in a position
similar to that of Byng. His pertinacious application for the
vacant garter was the cause of Pitt’s letter to Newcastle,
which every admirer of Pitt’s career must desire had remained
unwritten. We read of Temple’s intrigues *with Wilkes, in
the view of increasing his own political weight, carried to such
an extent that he was dismissed from the lord-lieutenancy of
Buckinghamshire and his name erased from the list of privy
councillors. In the complications which arose relative to the
regency bill, Temple’s conduct was marked by much want of
scruple. George 1I1. had determined to make a change in
the ministry, fromi the dissatisfaction felt by him owing to the
exclusion of his mother’s name from the regency bill. With
the desire of forming a ministry controlled by Pitt, his brother
George, and himself, Temple persuaded Pitt not to take office

could I am apt to believe he would—if he could not it was very silly. To the
Garter nobody can have slenderer pretensions ; his family is scarce older than his
earldom, which is of the youngest. His person is ridiculously awkward ; and if
chivalry were in vogue, he has given proofs of having no passion for tilt and
tournament.”
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on the conditions acceded to by the duke of Cumberland on
the part of the king. In spite of his better judgment, Pitt
was induced to comply with Temple’s request, and in doing
so in his theatrical manner added a quotation from Virgil.*®
Nevertheless, in the question of the stamp act, in 1766, Temple
deserted Pitt and allied himself with his brother. Temple’s
intrigues at that day are fully recorded. Meeting Pitt with
friendliness, and separating from him with kindness and good
feeling, he wrote to his brother George of “all the insolence ”
of the “great luminary.” The opinion still prevails that on
Pitt taking office, the pamphlets directed against him were
written at the suggestion of lord Temple.

What is there in lord Temple’s career or character to give
weight to his statements? We have in contra-distinction to
it, Wolfe’'s well-known life, his worth, his good sense, his
patriotism, his high standard of personal honour, his devotion
to truth and duty. There is not a single incident to suggest
such behaviour as that related to have taken place on this
evening. After his death much attention was directed to
Wolfe’s career. No valid reason can be assigned for the
suppression of the incident if it happened. When it was
made known, there was no cause for its publication ; it was
simply a record of historical gossip. It is a fact standing
apart, involving no reputation and affecting no principle.
Until the appearance of lord Mahon'’s narrative there is not a
line extant to suggest such an event as possible. There may
have been some warmth of expression on Wolfe’s part, for he
felt the necessity of changes and reforms in the army. His
correspondence contains complaints of the professional ignor-
ance of many officers and of their reckless course of life. The
men were subjected to no controlling influence but the severest
discipline. There were no humanizing influences over the
soldier and sailor to elevate them above the coarsest animal
pleasures. Wolfe, who raised the 2oth regiment to the
highest state of discipline, may have spoken freely on the

* ¢ Exstinxsti me, teque soror, populumque, patresque
Sidonios, urbemque tuam !”"—_/En. iv. 682.
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condition of the army, and, to the astonishment of the minister,
made personal appeals to him on the subject.* Be this as it
may, without hesitation I express the opinion that the story
of lord Temple is to be rejected, on the ground that it rests
upon his own uncorroborated testimony, and that it is at
variance with the whole tenor of Wolfe’s honourable and
chivalrous career. ‘

¢ In Junius' celebrated letter to the king ten years later, he describes the
regiments of the line *‘left to perish in garrisons abroad, or pine in quarters at
home, neglected and forgotten . . the private men have four pence a day to
exist upon, and four hundred lashes if they desert.” [Junius, Letter XXXV.,
December 19, 1769.]



120 THE HISTORY OF CANADA. [1758

CHAPTER VIIIL

The fortress of Louisbourg had a higher reputation for
strength than it deserved ; much of its supposed security was
placed in the almost continuous surf which broke against the
rocks, and from the supposed difficulty of effecting a landing
under a heavy fire from the batteries on shore. A harbour,
protected from every wind, in which several vessels of war
could safely float, was formed between two projecting points,
and the town and fortress, surrounded on three sides by
water, were established on the western side. The approach
to the line of fortifications on the land side was only attain-
able over marshy ground. Descending southerly, the four
bastions were known as dauphin, king, queen, and princess.
There were on the fortress and outworks 419 guns and 17
mortars. The enceinte of the fortifications was about a mile
and three-quarters ; their length on the land side about 4,000
feet. Goat island stood in the centre of the entrance to the
harbour, on which a strong 30-pr. battery had been estab-
lished ; and on the northern line of the harbour, a formidable
battery armed with heavy guns, commanded the entrance
and its whole extent. The harbour widened from its entranee
to a mile to the northeast, and was known as the northeast
harbour. From the central battery on the north side, there
was a length of six thousand feet of water, two-thirds
of a mile wide, of depth sufficient for ships of the line to
anchor. Extending further to the west there was a sheet of
water known as the “ Barachois,” from the side of which
during the siege the French frigate, the “Aréthuse” cannon-
aded the British forces, to impede the formation of the
redoubts. There was an inlet some few miles to the east of
the harbour, known as Grand Laurentbec;* a fishing station

® The word is so given by de Drucour, Que. Doc., 1V., p. 145. The English
spelling has been both L'Orembeck and Lorembeg.
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had been established here, and it afforded a convenient place
for landing on this side.

When the landing was discussed, three points of land on
the western side came into prominence as fit for the attempt.
Cape Noir was immediately south of the fortress; “ White
point ” was about 6,000 feet to the west ; the coast here takes
a northwesterly trend, and following the rocky line a mile
and a half further “ Flat point” was reached, whence there
was a more rapid divergence to the north ; a short two miles
from Flat point there was a small cove, around which the
rocks rose to such a height that it was thought that landing
was here impossible : it was called by the French “La Cor-
morandié¢re.”

It was to the character of this shore rather than to the
strength of the fortress that the French trusted to their
defence, for it had little power of resistance against heavy
artillery and a strong attacking force. The security of the
garrison lay in the prevention of any landing ; there was no
great risk from any sea attack. There were present the
battalions of Artois, Bourgogne, and Cambis, of the regular
French force, excellent troops, with a battalion of “ Volontaires
Etrangers,” from which several desertions’took place during
the siege, and which did not command confidence. Two
companies of artillery were present to work the guns. There
were twenty-four companies of the Canadian marine force,
regularly disciplined. The male residents had organized
themselves into companies. The total strength may be set
down at 3,800 men. In the harbour were five ships of the
line and seven frigates, carrying 544 guns manned by 3,000
men. Late in the siege a force of Canadians and Indians
arrived, under de Boishébert, with the object of harassing
the besiegers. The service performed by them was unim-
portant. They remained in the woods to the north of the
town, whence they issued in their attacks.

Two thousand men were kept in position along the shore
to oppose any attempt at landing, and in no way to relax in
watchfulness. They were placed in force at the three locali-
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ties : de St. Julien at “la Cormorandiére,” the extreme west,
with 985 men ; Marain at “ Flat point” with 620 men ; and
Danthonnay at “ White point” with 250 men. Pickets were
thrown out to keep the posts in communication, and a force
was held in reserve to be directed against the point attacked.

The commandant was the chevalier de Drucour, who had
been in Louisbourg since the 15th of August, 1754. In a
memoir sent to France* he describes the fortifications as being
in ruins, nothing having been done to place them in repair
since the place was given over to France by the treaty of Aix-
la-Chapelle. In 1755, orders had been sent to make the
fortress defensible, and the work had been carried on under
Franquet.

Drucour, in his letter written in England,t describes himself
as threatened with famine once a month. From that con-
tingency he had been relieved by the arrival of the ships from
France. Although sir Charles Hardy had been cruising in
front of the harbour, he had been unable to prevent a single
ship entering the port.

The British fleet sailed from Saint Helen’s on the 19th of
February, 1758, and arrived at Halifax on the 8th of May.
Owing to the absence of Amherst, Boscawen remained in
command ; feeling the danger of further delay, he resolved to
put to sea. As the ships were sailing out, the expedition was
met by the commander-in-chief, Amherst. There were one
hundred and fifty-seven sail composing this formidable armada,
carrying a land force of 12,260 men.} The ships kept well
together until the 3oth. On the 1st of June the admiral’s ship
met captain Rous in the “ Sutheriand,” who had been cruising

* Que. Doc., 1IV.. 145.

+ Andover, 1st October, Ann. Reg. 1758, p. 179.

+ The naval force was composed of 23 ships of the line, 18 frigates, and 116
other vessels and transports, making a total of 157 ships of all descriptions. The
land force consisted of

15th [Amherst's] 17th [Forbes']
28th [Bragg's] 35th [Otway's]
4oth [Hopson’s] 47th [Lascelle’s]

48th [Webb’s] 58th [Anstruther's]
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in front of Louisbourg. It was then known that two ships
had entered the harbour the preceding day, and it was believed
that there were thirteen vessels to aid in the defence. That
night the admiral’s ship reached Gabarus bay. The second
of June was foggy ; about twelve the weather cleared, when a
view was obtained of the fortress. During the day about a
third of the troop-ships arrived and anchored ; in the same
afternoon Ambherst, accompanied by brigadiers Lawrence and
Wolfe, reconnoitred the shore as closely as they could ap-
proach. While they remarked the points practicable for
landing, they observed that the line of coast was strongly
fortified, while the surf was beating upon the shore, as if to
give warning that no boat could even approach within reach
of landing. So much was said throughout the fleet, of this
danger in the presence of a disciplined force provided with
cannon, that the admiral, to strengthen his own judgment,
invited the captains, one after the other, on board his ship to
discuss the hazard of the attempt. Had a council been called,
most probably it would have resulted in an adverse decision.
Among those summoned was captain Ferguson, of the “ Prince

6oth 1st batt. Royal Americans, [Stanwix’s]
‘“ 2nd ¢ “ “ [Monckton’s]
63rd Frazer Highlands,
5 companies of Rangers,
with artillery,
making a total of 12,260 men.

The Royal Artillery train included 17 officers, §3 non-commissioned officers, 63
gunners, 163 matrosses. The guns were : Brass—26 4-prs., 18 12-prs., 6 6-prs.,
2 13-in. mortars, 2 10-in., 7 8-in,, 10 §%-in., 30 4?/s-in. Iron—8 32-prs., 25
24-prs., 4 6-prs., I 13-in. mortar. There were 2 8-in. and 4 §%-in. howitzers.
Over 43,000 round shot, 2,380 case, 41,762 shell, besides a few grape and carcasses
and 4,888 barrels of powder.

Admiral Boscawen not only detached the marines to aid in working the artil-
lery, he likewise sent 4 32-prs, with part of his own ship’s company for a battery.

[History of the Royal Regiment of Artillery, by major Francis Duncan, R.A.,
Pp- 198-200.]

I have to acknowledge my obligation to colonel Irwin, R.A., Inspector of
Canadian Artillery, for directing my attention to major Duncan’s valuable volume,
likewise for many pertinent suggestions with regard to the military events I have
endeavoured to describe.
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of Orange” 60. He had seen much service, and was dis-
tinguished by his courage and conduct : his presence in the
fleet had, indeed, been specially asked for by Boscawen.
Ferguson would in no way recognize that the impracticability
of an enterprise was to be assumed on account of the danger
attending it. In his view, no argument which dwelt upon the
peril of an attempt should be listened to. He counselled the
admiral, for his own honour and for the glory of the country,
to assert the power which he possessed by virtue of his rank,
and not to appeal to any council of war. The appeal went
direct to the bold nature of Boscawen : his spirit rose with the
emergency. His instructions were to land the troops on the
island of cape Breton, and he resolved to place them on shore,
be the risk what it might; and if the general “thought
proper ” to re-embark them, to cover their retreat.

The determination of Boscawen removed all doubt and
irresolution ; the ancient courage of the race arose when it
was known that the attempt was to be made. Boscawen
assembled his lieutenants, and called upon them to exercise
the greatést diligence, and to aid the military in every way in
their power. On the 3rd the “Kennington” frigate was
brought close to the westernmost defences. It was the spot
where the New England troops had landed in 1745 ; by them
it was known as “Freshwater creek.” The French gave it the
name of “la Cormorandiére.” From this attack of the frigate,
in the annals of the siege the spot is known as “ Kennington
cove.” .

On the 3rd everything was prepared, but the threatening
surf suggested the danger to be incurred. During the exam-
ination of the coast the opinion had been formed that less
risk would be incurred at Kennington cove than elsewhere,
and it was determined that the disembarkation should take
place at this spot. On the 4th the snow “Halifax” was ordered
to join the “Kennington” in the attack. To distract the
enemy, the “Sutherland ” and “Squirrel” cannonaded Flat
point,and the “ Diana ” and “ Shannon ” were brought to bear
on the defences of White point. But the weather continued
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so rough that it was not practicable to land. The formidable
coast defences could not be attacked in a rough sea. On the
6th there was a change of weather. Preparations were made
for landing, and many of the men embarked, when the fog
again came on, while the swell increased. The admiral pro-
nounced the landing inadvisable, and the men were ordered to
their ships. Ambherst is careful to explain that the “reason
for so doing” was made known to them.

The weather on the following morning was bad; as it
improved in the afternoon, it was hoped that at daybreak the
landing could be made. In the afternoon some sloops were
sent to Laurentbec, the small cove to the east of Louisbourg.
They were despatched to attract the attention of the fortress,
to convey the belief that the landing would be made there.
The French did not allow themselves to be deceived and
lulled into security. During the preceding six days they had
strengthened their position, and reinforced the batteries to the
west. No force was detached to Laurentbec, and the vessels
sailed to the east without interference.

It was resolved that the landing should be attempted on
the 8th. At sunrise the frigates -approached the shore and
commenced a furious cannonade. The signal was given for
embarkation at two in the morning : at daybreak the troops
detailed for the attempt had been assembled in three divisions.
Six regiments, under brigadier Whitmore, rowed to the right,
as if to attempt a landing at White point. The centre, under
Lawrence, made a show of landing at Flat point. Thus the
whole force of the enemy was kept employed, and no one
post could be weakened. The left division, under Wolfe,
consisted of four companies of grenadiers, the light infantry,
the rangers, the Highland regiment, and eight companies of
grenadiers in support. As the boats rowed towards the shore,
the cannonade from the frigates ceased.

The French did not throw away a shot, but waited until
the near approach of the boats to the shore. It was then that
they directed their whole fire upon them. The surf was high
and strong, and it seemed impossible to find a landing place.
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The boats were met in all directions by the fire of heavy
cannon and swivel guns. The adatss of fallen trees, with their
branches to the sea, extending round the coves appeared
impregnable. Moreover the guns were masked, and as the
boats came within range, unexpectedly, red hot balls, grape
and round shot were sent among them ; at the same time, a
continual fusillade of small arms was kept up from the height
of fifteen feet above their level.

As the troops of Wolfe's division suffered from the fire of
the defences, they were much exasperated. It was, however,
plain to Wolfe that the defences were too strong-to be forced,
and that the landing to be successful must be attempted at
some other spot. It may be asked if there was not a want of
judgment on the part of the French in this premature dis-
charge of their artillery? Had they permitted the boats to
approach and had opened fire when the attempt to land was
being made, many of the British must have been killed and
placed /kors de combat ; and it is questionable if the movement
would have succeeded. As it was plain that a well organized
resistance was to be experienced, the direction of the boats
was changed ; the order was given for passing to the left. In
one of the boats by which the order was obeyed, lieutenants
Hopkins and Browne with ensign Grant observed a place
which appeared to them to admit of landing. With about
100 light infantry they dashed for the shore to the right of
Kennington cove, and rowed forward until they found a place
whence they could wade to shore. They made their way over
the rocks and irregularities of ground, and reached the spot
which had been looked upon as impregnable.

A small projecting cape had concealed the movement.
The escarpment was at this point difficult to ascend, and as it
had been considered that it was a spot where no attempt
was possible, no force was present to defend it. Here the
landing was effected, and the higher ground reached. When
the small detachment came to oppose the force in possession,
it was unable to resist the attack made upon it, and was beaten
back.
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Wolfe saw what had been effected by this movement, and
directed the remainder of the force to support it. The
cannon now played upon the men as the boats went forward,
and they had to undergo a discharge of musketry within
twenty yards. One boat was stove in and sunk, by which
some grenadiers were drowned. Many boats were broken to
pieces on landing, but the injury from the fire was not serious.
Those who principally suffered were the sailors remaining in
the boats.

Wolfe jumped into the surf, and struggled through the
obstacles in his path to reach the shore. He had only his
cane in hishand. He encouraged the men about him to press
forward. As they came on shore he formed them, and led
them to attack the force coming against them. Itwas a party
of the grenadiers of Artois, which was immediately routed; the
officer in command was wounded and taken prisoner, with
several of his men.

The two other divisions followed and disembarked. The
whole force was now placed in column, and an attack made
on the foremost French pickets. They rapidly retreated,
demoralized by the appearance of the British force in strength.

The landing had not been effected without loss; a great
number of the boats were stove in, so that many men were
bruised and hurt, and several crushed between the boats and
rocks. No order could be followed in gaining the shore, the
men wading through the swell ; in many cases their muskets
were wet with sea water. It was not until they reached the
higher ground, that they could be formed with any regularity.
The landing was a surprise to the French, for they had con-
sidered its attainment to be impossible, and they were so
impressed by its success that they were seized by a pamc and
abandoned their works. They made no stand, but rapldly
retreated to the fortress over ground described by Ambherst as
the roughest and worst he had ever known. In the attack
they lost several killed, and several prisoners were taken;
among the latter was an Indian chief.

The British pushed forward in pursuit, and as they came
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within range of the fortress they were received by a cannonade
to protect the retreating force. It did little injury, and was
so far advantageous that it determined the range of the guns,
and pointed out where the troops could encamp in safety.
The loss experienced by the British was, killed, three officers,
43 rank and file, many of whom were drowned ; five officers,
54 rank and file wounded. Of the provincial troops, an
officer and three men were killed, two wounded and missing.
Thirty-five guns and mortars remained as trophies of the day.
They were gathered from along the shore, and were of various
calibre, some of them 24-prs. These works were occupied in
strength, to prevent any attempt at their re-possession.

The weather continued so unfavourable that the stores
could not be landed ; it was only on the 11th that the tents
and artillery were placed on shore. Until the force was
strengthened by reinforcements and artillery it was in great
danger. Had a well-directed sortie been made, the besiegers
might have had difficulty in holding their ground ; the whole
attention of the besieged, however, was given to making the
fortress capable of resisting attack.

The battery on the north shore of the harbour commanding
the entrance with forty heavy guns was abandoned, and, in
order to prevent the guns being directed against the place,
they were destroyed. All the outposts were called in ; the
buildings burned ; nothing was left within two miles of the
town except some chimneys and gable ends. There was a
battery at the light-house point, at the eastern entrance to the
harbour. It was likewise dismounted, and five spiked guns
left behind.

On the 12th Wolfe was detached with 1,200 men to take
possession of this post. Marching round the harbour, he
obtained a knowledge of the north-eastern ground and the
possibility of establishing batteries to attack the shipping. A
road connecting the eastern and western works was included
in the plan of attack. The guns and stores were landed at
Laurentbec, at which place a large quantity of dried fish was
found stored. The weather continued very bad and retarded
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the works ; it was not until the 1gth that the light-house
battery was made effective, and batteries established on the
northeast of the harbour to attack the shipping.

When the landing had been effected and the position of the '

attacking force fully established, it was foreseen that, although
the defence might be prolonged for a few weeks, its ultimate
surrender was inevitable. The admiral in command, the mar-
quis Desgouttes, was desirous of sailing out of the harbour and
making an attempt to save his ships: de Drucour, however,
prevailed upon him to remain, so that the defence could be
prolonged, and the British troops employed, and not be
available to be taken elsewhere. The French commander had
been given to understand that it was the intention of Montcalm
to attack Abercrombie on the 15th of July. He considered
that by this course he was weakening the strength of the
British force.* The probability, however, is that, had the
capitulation been made at an early date, the fleet and the
transports would have immediately sailed for Quebec.

On the 13th, “IEcho” frigate succeeded in escaping in the
fog with despatches to Quebec, but she failed to pass through
the British cruisers, and on the 19th was brought back a cap-
ture. It then became known that the “ Bizarre ” had left on
the day of landing, and the “ Cométe ” since that date.

The weather became more settled; accordingly, on the 16th,
twelve days’ provisions were landed from the store-ships.
Some idea of the perilous difficulty experienced in getting the

guns and stores on shore may be formed, when it is stated that -

upwards of one hundred boats were lost in the service.

Wolfe opened his batteries on the eastern side on the 2oth.
His attack from lighthouse point was directed against the
island battery ; the northeast battery played upon the ship-
ping. On the 25th the firing was continued day and night
on the island battery, which had constantly endeavoured to
interrupt Wolfe’s operations. It was now silenced : to some
extent, owing to the imperfect construction of the defences, it
had suffered from the discharge of its own guns.

* Que. Doc., 1V, p. 148.
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The fortress was now exposed to bombardment from the
sea. To prevent the entry of the British fleet, the French
sunk four ships across the harbour; a fifth was subsequently
placed beside them. The effect of this proceeding was to
cause the attack by land to be more vigorously pushed for-
ward. It had been conducted under great obstacles. The
weather remained unfavourable ; the surf made the landing
of stores a work of danger. The roads necessary to the trans-
port of artillery and the operations of the siege exacted great
labour. They had to be carried across morasses and the
roughest ground. The approaches, consequently, exacted
more time than had been looked for.

On the 1st of July a sortie was attempted against the works
on the northern side ; it was beaten back by the light infantry
without injury to the besiegers. On the same day Wolfe took
possession of the ground to the north of the “ Barachois,” and
commenced raising works to attack the fortress from that
direction. On the 3rd he was on the western side, directing
the redoubts which were being constructed against the citadel
bastion.

Hitherto there had been no interruption of the besiegers’
works by the irregular troops. We learn from de Drucour
that at the commencement of the siege there were only about
120 Acadians, with some few Indians.* After the landing,
they mostly returned to their villages. Boishébert, with 400
Canadians and Indians, arrived in July. On the 8th they
attacked the outposts, and were beaten back. They are not
again heard of.

A more important sortie was attempted on the gth against
the right of the attacking line under brigadier Lawrence. It
consisted of five pickets, supported by 600 men. Writers of
the date represent the French troops to have been well sup-
plied with liquor. They surprised in the trenches a company
of Forbes’ Highlanders,under the command of lord Dundonald,
who was killed. Some of the men also fell, aud some were
carried off as prisoners. Reinforcements coming up, the

® [Que. Doc., IV., p. 148.]
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French were driven off with some loss. On the following
day they sent out a flag of truce so the dead could be buried:
the only result arising from the attack.

There was no halt or hesitation in the completion of the
British lines. There was perfect accord between the two
services. The officers were zealous in discharge of their duty,
the hardship was cheerfully undergone, and no labour was
spared to effect the completion of redoubts by which the
fortress was to be attacked from the western side.

Four batteries had been constructed on the Martissan
heights to the west of the town ; on the 16th of July, at seven
in the evening, the British in force seized the heights, about
1,500 feet from the dauphin bastion. The French fired all
night to dislodge them, but it was found at daylight that the
British were well established. The spot was known as “/z
hauteur de la justice,” * where public executions took place.
Owing to its threatening position, the previous year the level
had been lowered seven feet. On the 17th the fire was opened
from the four redoubts, and the defences greatly suffered.
On the following days the fire was renewed with equal effect,
by which the dauphin bastion was much injured. The guns
of the fortress were in every way unequal to reply to the
attack.

The extreme northern lines were subjected to the spirited
attack of the frigate “I’Aréthuse,” captain Vauclain, which
took up a position by the “ Barachois,” and shelled the British
working parties, and the fire was so effective as to require the
construction of a long épaulement for their protection. This
work was persevered in, until the completion of the attack
against the dauphin gate, and the formation of a road between
the eastern and western works. As “I’Aréthuse” could no
longer be of any service in this attempt, it was determined to
send her with despatches to France. She stole out of the
harbour on the 15th, and escaped the cruisers, although
rockets were thrown up from lighthouse point notifying the
fleet that a vessel was endeavouring to run the blockade.

¢ It may be translated in English by *‘ Gallows hill.”
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The fire was persistently continued during the succeeding
days. On the night of the 18th the second parallel was com-
pleted, and the batteries to the south of cape Noir were
advanced. On the 1g9th the dauphin bastion had ceased to
reply, while the British, although discharging but few bombs,
continued a heavy fire. In the meantime the dauphin battery
had been re-established. But the batteries of the besiegers
had been pushed forward ; one to the south attacking the
queen’s battery.

In these trying circumstances de la Houliére, who was in
command of the land forces, organized a sortie of 1,500 men.
It was proposed to place in position two of the vessels, so
that their broadsides would be brought to bear upon the
British works. De la Houliére, with 1,000 men, was to leave
by the dauphin gate, to attack the batteries in front and flank.
A force was to leave by the king’s bastion to attack the right
of the line. The sortie had been arranged for the night of
the 22nd, but on the 21st, at half-past two in the afternoon,
“le Celébre ” caught fire. It was not possible to extinguish
the flames, and the fire was communicated by the sails of the
vessel to the masts and rigging of “I’Entreprenant,” and by
her carried to “le Capricieux.” No sailor was lost in the
vessels, but many were killed in the endeavour to extinguish
the flames. The whole garrison was placed under arms, for
the besiegers’ firing was continued, and it was feared that an
assault might be made. It was impossible to save the vessels,
and-in a short time they were entirely destroyed. The reso-
lution was adhered to of attempting the sortie, but the move-
ment was deferred, owing to the necessity of guarding against
the danger of the remaining vessels taking fire from the
floating burning hulls.

On the following day two batteries in the neighbourhood
of cape Noir were opened: one mounted with thirteen 24-prs;
another of seven mortars. They were brought to bear upon
the citadel. Adjoining was a stone structure, which contained
the quarters of the officers and the barracks of the men. A
part of the building was assigned as the governor’s residence.
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The chapel was also in the building. At eight in the morning
a shell set the barracks on fire. The governor’s residence with
difficulty was saved. It was only by great effort that the
flames were subdued, and it was not until three in the after-
noon that they were extinguished. The whole garrison was
kept under arms, and upwards of forty men were killed when
engaged in this duty. All this continuous effort led to the
men being worn out by fatigue. They were denied any rest.
The bombardment went on uninterruptedly: the fire was
persevered in during the night, for the moon was bright, “as
clear as day.”* At four o'clock a large portion of the dauphin
battery had been displaced, and had fallen away. The troops
were still kept available to be turned out at a moment’s notice.
On the 23rd the queen’s battery was placed /ors de service.
The barracks, shattered by bombs, gave no protection to the
soldier ; the troops were driven out to find refuge where they
could obtain it; where there was shelter from the cannon.
Thirty-five were carried to hospital before two o’clock. The
king's battery was the only one which held out. There was
an attempt on the night of the 23rd to repair the dauphin
bastion, for the broken material rose two feet higher than the
level of the water in the ditch. Between eleven and twelve
the British commenced throwing bombs filled with explosives.
The wooden barracks at the queen’s bastion caught fire;
there were several wooden houses in the neighbourhood, and
fears were entertained that they could not escape. If they
had once taken, the whole town, which was mostly of wood,
would have been consumed, and the fire would have reached
the hospital and the magazines. By demolishing some houses
the conflagration was stopped ; fortunately, a change of wind
permitted the fire to be kept within some limit. The garrison
again passed the night under arms. On the 24th another
battery was opened against the king's bastion ; in a short
time the whole line of defences along the covered way, except
the princess bastion at cape Noir, was silenced. An attempt
was made to reply to the attack, but from daybreak of the

® ¢ Aussi claire que le jour.” Que. Doc., IV., p. 181.
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25th a continuous heavy fire was directed against the fortress.
As night came on, an attempt was again made to repair the
bastions. On the morning of the 26th, at half-past one, there
was a heavy fog, and a loud commotion was heard in the
harbour. The cannon from the British lines was still fired to
command the attention of the wearied and jaded French
troops, and with the purpose of concealing the operations by
the navy against the two remaining vessels in the harbour:
one of the most gallant acts during the war.

Between twelve and one, boats containing six hundred
seamen left the ships, under captain Leforey, and rowed for
the harbour, with the design of cutting out the two French
. vessels, “le Prudent ” and “le Bienfaisant”: all that remained
of the magnificent fleet of two months previously. No such
attack had been looked for ; the crews made little resistance,
and the shots fired from the quays towards the boats were of
little effect. Both ships were taken. “ Le Prudent ” grounded
as she was being towed away ; as it was found impossible to
float her, she was burned. “ Le Bienfaisant” was taken to the
north-west harbour and anchored there.*

The harbour was now open for ships to sail into its waters,
and bombard the town and fortress, with scarcely any resis-
tance. There was no lull in the land attack. Early in the
morning the four pieces from the battery on the height, /2
hauteur de justice, were turned against the dauphin bastion, and
the effect was most damaging. The besieged were indeed in
a desperate condition. The hospital was full of wounded;
those who continued on duty were worn out with fatigue, by
labour which never ceased, and from the necessity of con-

* Of the ships in the harbour, ‘‘le Pradent,” 74, was burnt by the boats of
the fleet under captains Leforey and Balfour. *‘ L'Entreprenant,” 74, was blown
up and burnt by shot from the marine battery. ‘‘Le Capricieux” and *le
Célébre,” both 64, were burnt through catching fire from ‘I’Entreprenant.”
¢¢ Le Bienfaisant,” 64, was taken by the boats and towed to the northeast harbour.
The ““ Apollo,” 50, and the three frigates *‘ Chévre,” *‘ Biche” and ¢ Fidéle”
were sunk by the enemy across the mouth of the harbour. The ‘Diana,” 36,
was taken by her majesty’s ship *‘ Boreas.” The *‘ Echo,” 26 guns, was taken by
the ““Juno,” Thus the whole French fleet was destroyed.
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stantly remaining in readiness to withstand an assault. The
enemy was increasing the batteries, and advancing them
nearer to the place ; it was also plain to the besieged, that as
these efforts were on all sides successful, so the greater energy
and perseverance were shewn. The bastions were in ruins,
most of the guns silenced ; the defence had been most
gallant, and what raises it in character was its continuance in
the face of almost certain failure. The feeling must have been
general, that unless some extraordinary event intervened,
such as a tempest shattering the fleet, the surrender of the
fortress was only a question of time. The force in front was
so preponderating, that there could be no hope of relief from
without, or of a successful resistance within. The defence,
nevertheless, lasted fifty-two days. Whatever the conditions
of surrender, the defenders of Louisbourg yielded the fortress
to its conquerors without any taint of dishonour.*

On the morning of the 26th a council of war was called.
A memoir of the engineer Franquet was read, when the
capitulation was unanimously resolved. The aide-major, de
Lopineau, was sent to the British camp. He there met both
Boscawen and Amherst. They replied in writing, giving the
garrison one hour to capitulate as prisoners of war.

When the council met to consider this communication, as

* The defence lasted from the 4th of June to the 26th of July. De la
Houliére, who was in command of the land force, in a letter to the minister of the
6th of August [Que. Doc., IV., p. 176], gives a graphic and detailed account of
the siege from the 16th of July. The British general he mentions as Kamberk.

+ The following is the letter sent by the British commanders to de Drucour :

*“In answer to the proposal I have just now had the honour to receive from
your excellency by the sieur Loppinot, I have only to tell your excellency that it
hath been determined by his excellency admiral Boscawen and me, that his ships
shall go in to-morrow to make a general attack upon the town. Your excellency
knows very well the situation of the army and the fleet, and as his excellency the
admiral, as well as I, is very desirous to prevent the effusion of blood, we give
your excellency one hour after receiving this to determine either to capitulate as
prisoners of war, or take upon you all the consequences of a defence against the
fleet and army.

BOSCAWEN,
JBFF. AMHERST.”
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one man * the opinion was expressed that the terms could
not be accepted, and that it was better to withstand the
general assault. Lieut.-colonel Daubenay, of the “Volontaires
étrangers,” was dispatched to the British lines to ask for a
similar capitulation to that granted to the garrison at Minorca.
Daubenay returned with the written reply, that the British
commanders had nothing to change in the terms offered.
Again the council met, and it was resolved that it was prefer-
able to meet the British with arms in their hands, than
accept such conditions, upon which de Drucour wrote back
that he had to reiterate that his demands were the same,
and that he continued in the first manner of thinking.t

When this determination was formed, Franquet with de la
Houliére examined the ground to select the spot where the
last stand should be made. It appeared to them that it could
best be attempted at the princess battery, the nearest to cape
Noir. The report of what was happening came to the ears of
Prévost, the commissary-general. He lost no time in seeing
de Drucour. He dwelt on the miseries to which the inhabi-
tants of the town and the sick in hospital would be exposed
by a hopeless resistance, for the superiority of the enemy’s
force removed every chance of success. Were it otherwise he
would have been silent, but as matters stood, to take the
desperate course resolved upon would only cause the useless
sacrifice of the lives of gallant men on a point of military
honour. There were 4,000 souls of the families of the inhabi-
tants, 1,000 to 1,200 sick in hospital or in tents. All these
would be exposed to blood and carnage, to the horrors
committed by an unbridled soldiery in a pretended resentment
for what had taken place in Canada. The allusion is here to
the events at William Henry of the previous year, and to the
attraction of plunder. It was, continued Prévost, not merely
the question of cape Breton, which might be looked upon as
lost to the king of France, but some consideration should be

* <« d'une seule voix.”
1 qu’il leur réitéroit, que son parti était le méme, et qu'il persistoit dans la
premiére fagon de penser. Que. Doc., 1V., p. 185.
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given to the other colonies of the kingdom. For if Louisbourg
suffered a cruel fate, the memory of it would act as a terror
to deter merchants from carrying on commerce with the
colonies, and would prevent the workman and the husband-
man from proceeding to them. It might be a matter of
military duty to make such a stand, and.he was not surprised
that it should be contemplated. Both the governor and
himself, however, were charged with the civil administration
of the colony, and they had from that position to consider
the view he had felt it his duty to express.*

His intervention had the effect hoped for. He influenced
de Drucour to send a messenger after M. de Lopineau, who
had been entrusted with the letter, and to recall him. What-
ever the cause, the latter had not proceeded any great distance ;
indeed, he had only reached the covered way, so he was easily
overtaken. The letter was withdrawn, and Daubenay, who
understood English well, was sent in company with de
Lopineau to obtain what modification of the conditions offered
were possible ; in a word, the best terms which would be
granted by the British commanders. The latter, however,
adhered to the views expressed in their first letter, but some
consideration was shewn with regard to the inhabitants. At
noon the French officers returned with the reply they had
obtained. No course was open to de Drucour but its ac-
ceptance. There were, as Prévost had stated, 1,200 soldiers
and sailors wounded and sick in tents and in the hospital.
The walls were in ruins; and the batteries of the besiegers
were becoming daily more effective from their strength. De
la Houliére describes them as armed with. forty-two mortars
from 25 to 30 inches ; and sixty-five cannon, 36-prs. and 24-
prs. While this attack of heavy guns is explanatory of the
damaged condition of the fortress, it speaks forcibly of the
energy and labour which had been called forth in landing

¢ ¢ Représentations faites 3 M. le chevalier de Drucour au conseil de guerre
tenu A Louisbourg le 26th juillet, 1758,” par M. Prévost, commissaire-général
de la marine, ordonnateur A I'tle Royale. Dussieux, p. 327.
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them in the heavy surf, and had carried them over the morass,
to the commanding position of the British lines.

The articles of capitulation were signed before midnight.
They stipulated that the garrison should surrender as prisoners
of war, and be sent to England in British ships; that the
artillery, provisions and arms in the islands of cape Breton
and of ile Saint Jean (Prince Edward island) should be
surrendered ; the troops stationed there to embark in vessels
sent for them ; dauphin gate was to be given over at eight
o’clock on the morning of the 27th to a British force ; the
garrison and all carrying arms to assemble on the esplanade,
and there lay down their arms, colours and insignia of war,
to be constituted prisoners of war, to proceed on board ship
to be transported to England ; the sick were to be cared for;
the non-combatants to be allowed to return to France. The
number of prisoners which surrendered was 5,637, with
221 cannon and 18 mortars, with a considerable quantity of
ammunition and stores.

Early on the morning of the 27th major Farquhar took
possession of the west gate, and brigadier Whitmore with a
strong force marched to the esplanade to receive the surrender.
It was not only by the gate that entry could be obtained.
The walls were so battered that there were two different spots
at which access could be had over the heaps of stone and
material. Sentries were placed at these openings to prevent
the pillage of the town by the camp followers always present
on such occasions.

The French troops assembled on the esplanade, gloomily
grounded their arms, and marched to the boats to be taken
on shipboard. The besieging force took possession of the
town and fortress. Brigadier Whitmore was appointed gov-
ernor, and the British flag was hoisted from the citadel,
proclaiming that the contest was ended.

The news of the conquest was carried to England by cap-
tain Ambherst, the general’s brother. At the same time he
was the bearer of the eleven French standards which had been
surrendered. They were received by the king as material
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tokens of victory. With great parade, and a large escort,
drums beating and trumpets sounding, they were borne from
Kensington palace to St. Paul’s, and there deposited, during
a salute of artillery, and the most animated demonstrations
of public joy. The conquest of Louisbourg was indeed
the first gleam of triumph reflected on the British arms in
America. Hitherto there had been a series of reverses, and so
distinguished a success was not only to be looked upon as a
new national honour ; it was a promise of future victory. It
had struck a blow at French power on the western continent
in its most vital part, the end of which, although not foreseen,
was looked for with confidence and hope. All classes in
London expressed their unmistakeable satisfaction. The
court, the legislature, men of learning and science, the cor-
porated merchants, the prosperous tradesmen, the struggling
populace, were in accord as to the importance of the event.
The sentiment was participated in by the great provincial
towns. The feeling arose that the country was emerging from
the condition of sloth and despondency into which it had been
sunk by political venality, and the want of honesty and ability
of the governing classes. The victory was not regarded alone
as the triumph of bravery and endurance. It gave assurance
of a wiser government, of a more honest administration of
affairs ; that merit and worth would obtain recognition. It
was believed and hoped that the national dignity had ceased
to be the plaything of incompetence and unscrupulousness.
The material advantages were on all sides admitted. The
fortress had been destroyed, the very establishment of which
was a threat to New England, which existed with the avowed
intention of paralyzing her commerce and destroying her fish-
eries, and of finally regaining Nova Scotia; to be re-named the
Acadia of former days. All these probabilities had passed away
with the uprooting of the power which had projected them.
Boscawen was a member of the imperial parliament. On
taking his seat he received the thanks of the house of com-
mons, which had been voted to him in common with Ambherst ;
their names are the only two specified, those of Wolfe and the
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other brigadiers not appearing. Ambherst further received the
appointment of governor of Virginia, an office which in those
days was regarded as a sinecure. The duties were performed
by the lieutenant-governor, and residence in England followed
as a matter of course. Ambherst, regarding it as a reward
for his military services, accepted the appointment with the
understanding that he was not personally to administer the
government.*

In 1760 Louisbourg was demolished, its fortifications, as far
as possible, razed to the ground. Their site can still be traced
by the mounds which show where the bastions once stood,
and by the imperfect lines which mark the direction of the
streets. Some fishermen’s huts have been constructed near
the ocean, and some houses are on the hills. They are the
only memorials of the scene I have attempted to describe.
Everything of value was taken away. The boucharded stones
of any account were afterwards used in the public buildings
of Halifax. The wisdom of the step is manifest. On the one
hand it prevented the re-occupation of the fortress by the
French, by a second treaty of cession, and as a port Louis-
bourg is not of paramount value to British America. No two
naval stations such as Halifax and Louisbourg are required
by the same power. Even if the sea voyage, by landing at
Louisbourg, be shortened some one hundred and fifty miles,
the gut of Canso has to be crossed before the main land is
reached ; it is about a mile and a half wide, with a rapid
current. So little time is gained by the preference of Louis-
bourg to Halifax, that it would be difficult to-day to advocate
its re-establishment, either on the ground of military or
commercial requirements. The decision of the able men who

* Five years after the treaty of Paris, in 1768, Amherst was called upon to resign
the position, objections having been raised in the province against his non-resi-
dence. On the ground that the office had been given as a reward for services, he
claimed that it should be replaced by other emoluments. After much unpleasant-
ness, which affected even his relations with the king, Amherst’s representations
were admitted, and he was appointed governor of Guernsey. He became even-
tually the recipient of higher honours, including a peerage, and the appointment
of commander-in-chief,
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doomed it to destruction at the time of the conquest will still
be remembered, if wisdom and honesty govern the public
councils in the dominion.*

In America the feeling of satisfaction was equally strong.
There was great rejoicing in the cities of Boston, New York
and Philadelphia. The certain benefit which the destruction
of the fortress conferred on New England was known and
felt, but by all account it would have been preferred if it had
been effected by New England troops, whereas it was entirely
an imperial triumph: a debt of safety obtained through the
intervention of the mother country. It is not possible to set -
out of view the fact that at this date there was a strong desire
in the American provinces to be independent of all home
control: even when their very existence depended on the power
which Great Britain would put forth to maintain them.
Until the taking of Louisbourg, French encroachments to
narrow the colonial territory to the Allagheny had not been a
mere visionary dread. It was British power which alone
assured the nationality of the American colonist; which
stayed the depredation on his commerce on the ocean,
imposed a limit on the encroachment of France from the

* It was not until the 1st of June, 1760, that the uninterrupted destruction of
the works was commenced under captain Muckett, of the company of miners,
assisted by working parties from the infantry, of strength varying, according to
the work, from 160 to 220 daily. The miners and artificers numbered a little
over 100. The whole work was completed on the 10th of November, 1760, there
having been only two days' intermission besides Sundays, one being the king’s
birthday and the other being midsummer’s day. The reason for keeping this
latter day is thus mentioned in a MS. diary of the mining operations at Louis-
bourg, now in the royal artillery office, which belonged to sir John Seymour :
¢¢ According to tradition among the miners, Midsummer was the first that found
out the copper mines in Cornwall, for which occasion they esteem this a holy day
and all the miners come from below ground to carouse and drink to the good old
man’s memory.”

[History of the royal regiment of artillery, by major Francis Duncan, R.A.,
PP 203-4.]

The order for the destruction of Louisbourg was sent by Pitt to Amherst on
the gth of February, 1760. It was communicated by Amherst to Whitmore on
the 23rd of April, captain Ruvyne being specially sent from New York to super-
intend the work of demolition. [Can. Arch., A, & W. L, 93.1, p. 190.]
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north towards New England, and on the west towards Albany
and Philadelphia, both so long and so powerfully threatened.
It was the first act in the final drama, in which the British
colonist was to become the undisputed master of North
America.

MADAME DE DRUCOUR.

It is generally stated that Mde. de Drucour showed great courage during the
siege, frequently visiting the soldiers to encourage them, especially the gunners,
and that daily she herself fired off three cannons. I can find no authority for this
beyond Pichon, who relates the fact in his ‘‘ Lettres et Mémoires pour servir a
Dhistoive naturelle, civile et politique du cap Breton, depuss som établissement jusqsd’
d la reprise de cette isle par les Anglais en 1758.” This book was published in
London in 1760, and in Paris in 1761. It is written to convey the idea that the
writer was present during the siege. The statement is also repeated by the Abbé
* Raynal in his ‘¢ Histosre Philosophigue,” first published in 1774 at the Hague.
Raynal cannot therefore be accepted as an authority. No weight can be attached
to Pichon’s statement. He was taken prisoner at the siege of Beauséjour, and
remained in Halifax until 1758, when he went to London, to remain in England
until the year of his death, 1781.

I am especially led to doubt the fact, because it is not mentioned by Wolfe,
for in = letter to his mother he relates that he paid a visit to the ladies. ‘‘I went
into Louisbourg this morning to pay my devoirs to the ladies, but found them all
so pale and thin with long confinement in a casemate, that I made my visit very
short. The poor women have been heartily frightened, as well they might, but no
real harm, either during the siege or after it, has befallen any.” [Wright’'s Wolfe,
p. 446.] Could any extraordinary statement have been made regarding Mde. de
Drucour, Wolfe would have mentioned it to his mother, for he was fond of giving
her news. Pichon makes another statement, [p. 381}, which also partakes of the
marvellous. He tells us that after the surrender was resolved upon, the evening
before the British took possession, the French soldiers without restraint were per-
mitted to plunder the king’s stores, and that the whole night the priests were busy
marrying the young girls to anyone willing to accept the responsibility of wedlock,
the object being to prevent them becoming the wives of the heretic conquerors.
“The abbé Raynal does not record this statement.
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CHAPTER L.

When the expedition against Louisbourg was organized, no
long resistance was anticipated, and it was the plan of the
campaign that, after the conquest of cape Breton, the fleet,
without delay, should sail to the attack of Quebec, but much
happened that was unforeseen. Campaigns on paper, made
in the quiet of an office, even when carefully and wisely con-
sidered, invariably change much of their character in the field.
The siege exacted longer time than had been foretold. The
most sanguine of those who urged the expedition had counted
upon a quiet sea, and believed that, with an attacking force
of sufficient strength, but few days of resistance would be
experienced. The greatest cause of difficulty and delay
proved to be the stormy weather; the defence at the same
time Iiad been obstinate, and it was not until the end of July
that the capitulation was made. The first impulse of the
conquerors was to sail to Quebec ; a few days consideration
shewed the design to be impracticable. Indeed, the surrender
of the fortress was only preliminary to the further movement
of troops to assure the occupation of the territory ceded, and
in the midst of this irresolution the news arrived of the repulse
of Abercrombie before Ticonderoga, which I have shortly
to relate.*

When Abercrombie heard of Amherst’s success, he wrote,
to learn his intention with regard to the campaign. Ambherst
replied that he was unable then to judge, but hoped it would
be “ found practicable to get to Quebec, which is what I wish
much to do ;” + a statement so far important, as it shews the
design was entertained in 1758.

* The news came at the close of the siege. Wolfe mentions it in his letter to
his father on the day of the surrender, the 27th of July. [Wright, p. 448.]
+ Can. Arch., Series A. & W. I,, 87, II., p. 355.
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It was well known in Louisbourg, that if the fleet was to sail
for the saint Lawrence, no time could be lost. There was
really but fifteen weeks available before the commencement
of a Canadian winter. Wolfe, whose feelings were strong on
the point, in his letters dwelt upon this necessity, and on the
6th of August he brought the matter to the notice of Amherst.
The latter admitted that the season was indeed passing away,
and he added that he had spoken of the expedition to the
admiral, who “seemed to think it impracticable.” Wolfe
accordingly offered his services to proceed with reinforcements
to Abercrombie, “whose army is cut deep.” The reply of
Ambherst * was to the effect that it had been his intention to
proceed with the entire force to Quebec, which he was still
convinced was the best that could be done, but in consequence
of the unlucky affair at Ticonderoga, it was advisable to rein-
force Abercrombie with five or six battalions. He would also
send some regiments to the bay of Fundy, and detach a force
to the gulf of Saint Lawrence. Wolfe had written that if
nothing further had to be done, he must ask leave to quit the
army. Ambherst could in no way agree to the request, as
Wolfe’s assistance was indispensable in the operations for the
good of his majesty’s service.

There was no delay in the removal of the French garrison,
and in the occupation of the territory ceded in the capitula-
tion : by the month of August the French troops, with the
private persons desirous of returning to Francef were em-
barked on board the vessels which were to carry them first to
England.

Steps were taken to assure the possession of ile Saint Jean
(prince Edward island); lord Rollo was sent with the 35th
regiment and two battalions of the 6oth, to receive the island
from the governor, de Villegouin, who, with the garrison, was
placed on board the transports. This island had only risen

* Chatham Correspondence 1., p. 332.

+ Of the 2,400 French inhabitants of cape Breton, independently of the
garrison, 1,700, in accordance with their desire, were sent to France; the re-
mainder continued in the island, and accepted the new government.

+ Can, Arch., Series A. & W. 1., 87.2, p. 363.
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into importance within the last ten years. Its greatest length
is 130 miles ; its greatest breadth, 34 miles: in its narrowest
part, towards the centre, it is but four miles wide. At the
time of Law, in 1719, a company was formed to develop the
fisheries and to place settlers on the land. The count de
Saint-Pierre, first equery of the duchess of Orleans, was the
chief personage of the project: at the same time he obtained
the concession of the Magdalen islands and of ile Miscou.
The enterprise failed, and ile Saint Jean ceased to attract
attention.

After the treaty of Utrecht, de Saint Ovide took steps to
establish the Acadian population on the island : nevertheless,
in 1720, there were only seventeen families, numbering about
one hundred of a population. During the following fifteen
years the number only increased to 541. In 1749, there were
about 1,000 souls.* The capture of Beauséjour and the
deportation of the Acadians in 1755 led to several of the
latter seeking a home there. When lord Rollo took pos-
session of the island, there was a population of 4,100 souls.}
He describes the farms as being in good order, some of them
yielding annually 1,200 bushels of wheat: he found 10,000
head of cattle on the island. The principal market for its
produce had hitherto been Louisbourg ; there had also been

* Canadian census 1870-71, p. 22.
+ Tt was reported by lord Rollo as follows :—

Point le Prince............. teeececsetrttsnnrensinns 700

L4 . )
St. Peter's .....eiieiiiiecienncnetirotiaiotsonnass 700
Northpoint. .c.ocvvviviies ven venenennn o eeeees 500
N, E. RiVeriiuiiteiinees seciesoncoasosennce vosas 2,000
West and North River......ccccveeee oo tereseoncons 200
4,100

The last-named places were settlements on the waters leading to the present city
of Charlottetown. Point le Prince is evidently intended for point Prim. The
whole of these waters was known as port la Joye by the French. The Acadian
families which remained soon abandoned the island. In 1764 the surveyor-
general, captain Holland, wrote to the earl of Hillsborough : *‘ There are about
thirty Acadian families on the island, who are regarded as prisoners, and kept on
the same footing as those at Halifax. They are extremely poor, and maintain
themselves by their industry in gardening, fishing, fowling, etc.”
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some intercourse with Quebec in the supply of corn and beef.
The island had exercised the mischievous function of furnish-
ing an asylum to the Nova Scotian Micmacs, and to such of
the Acadians who, disguised as savages, participated in their
expeditions. It was but a few hours’ paddle or sail from any
part of the main land; and inroads into Nova Scotia, effi-
ciently organized, could be easily made. Lord Rollo found
the trophies of these expeditions in the form of several scalps
of the Nova Scotian colonists, and of soldiers of the garrison
caught away from their barracks. They were a portion of the
ornaments which decorated the governor’s residence.

Rollo’s instructions were to follow the policy observed with
regard to the civil inhabitants of Louisbourg: to send back
to France such as were not desirous of becoming British sub-
jects, and to permit those to remain who were willing to
swear allegiance. Rollo had to deal with the compound of
national and religious feeling, which, even under favourable
circumstances, had refused to accept British sovereignty ; but
this bitterness of sentiment had been exasperated by the
sufferings which the Acadians had undergone. The popula-
tion was with few exceptions Acadian. About 1,500 were
embarked on transports to be carried to France. On the
northern part of the island several French sloops, some of
which were armed, received many of the inhabitants and
their effects, and carried them to Canada and Miramichi.
There was little attempt to interfere with these operationg:
had such been the policy, the naval force was of sufficient
strength to have driven off these vessels. Owing to some of
the parishes being far distant from the place of embarkation,
the inhabitants failed to reach the ships, aud they remained
on their farms without interference.* On the completion of
a fort, so that the garrison could be placed in safety, lord
Rollo returned to Louisbourg, and the island was placed
under government of Nova Scotia.}

® Licutenant Leslie to Wolfe, 3oth Oct., 1758, Chatham correspondence,

L, p. 384.
+ The official proclamation was not issued until 7th October, 1763, after the
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Major Dalling was sent with a strong detachment to port
d’Espagnol, now Sydney, to hold the harbour, to prevent the
establishment of an Acadian population, which would refuse
to take the oath of allegiance.

Three hundred regulars and some rangers landed at cape
Sable under major Morris to break up-.a settlement of
Acadians which had commenced to be troublesome; two
armed vessels were stationed off the shore to prevent escape
by canoes. Captain Goreham surprised and took prisoners
between sixty and seventy men, women and children, who,
with a Roman catholic priest named Desenclaves,* were sent
to Halifax.

Monckton,with the 35th, the 2nd battalion Royal Americans,
some rangers and artillery, sailed for the Saint John4 He
landed with his force without opposition, and took possession
of the fort which had been abandoned, and hoisted the British
lours. He subsequently heard that two hundred Indians

had been awaiting his arrival. Their chief would not allow
them to fire; so their priest, father Germain, expecting
“quelgues coups de trakison” on their part, marched them off to
Canada, The site of the fort was objectionable, inasmuch as it

"‘j‘ty of Paris. In November, 1798, an act was passed to change the name to
Pince Edward island, in honour of the duke of Kent, father of her majesty, who
bad arriveq there during the year. The royal consent was obtained on the st of
Feb"“aty, 1799, and was promulgated by the lieut.-governor Fanning on the 13th
°fJ ane, 1799.
® Jen Baptiste Desenclaves originally arrived from France in 1728 ; he had,
lhe"el’ol'e, been thirty years in the country. He had seen the mischievous inter-
frence of the priests with the political condition of the Acadians, and from his
m°<§el'ation he was disliked by Le Loutre and his successor, father Germain.
WIDE to a letter of Desenclaves to Mascarene, which affirmed that ** ye Spiritual
1‘0[ be 50 connected with the temporal as sometimes not to be able to be divided.”
~ascarene replying in a friendly spirit [2 June, 1741, Nova Scotia Archives,
rp' TX1-112), pointed out that the ‘ missionaries have too often usurped the power
© Make themselves the sovereign judges and arbitrators of all causes amongst the
Yeople,” | 5o as “to render themselves the only distributors of justice amongst
Pe0ple bred up in ignorance,” adding ** that this is one of the blocks on which I
h.'e Often forewarned you not to stumble.” In 1759 Desenclaves was a prisoner
¥ith other Acadians in Massachusetts.
t Can. Arch., Series A. & W. 1., 87.2, p. 397.
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was overlooked by some high ground from which it could be
attacked. On the other hand, it was convenient for landing,
and commanded the harbour. Its possession was therefore
maintained ; it received the name of fort Frederick, and six
hundred men were set to work to place it in repair.

As the vessels in which Monckton had arrived drew too
much water to ascend the river, some sloops of light draught
and whale boats were obtained from fort Cumberland. On
the 21st of October Monckton passed his vessels above the
falls ; in doing so, however, the sloop “ Ulysses” was wrecked,
and the crew was only saved with difficulty. Leaving captain
Bellew in charge of the fort, Monckton embarked his force,
1,200 strong, and with a fortnight’s provisions. He reached
Grimrosse, on the western bank above Jemseg. It was a
settlement of forty or fifty houses, occupied by inhabitants
who had escaped from Beauséjour. On the appearance of the
troops they took to the woods. The houses were burned.
Some fifty hogsheads of lime were found ; they were recog-
nized as part of the cargo of a schooner bound for fort
Cumberland, taken by a privateer fitted out, it was believed,
at this place. At ile Mettis, higher up the river, some canoes
laden with corn were discovered. The corn was taken for use
and the canoes burned. Monckton endeavoured to ascend
beyond this point, but the vessels ran aground, and it was
found impossible to proceed, so he returned towards the fort,
destroying Jemseg and all the houses on the banks as he
descended the river.

Major Scott with the light infantry and rangers were sent
to the river Petitcodiac to uproot the settlements there, and
to destroy some privateers which had been mischievous, and
which had, it was reported, taken refuge in the river. Scott
found a schooner and a sloop of this character in two different
creeks at the head of the stream ; at the same time he made
prisoners of thirty men, women and children. The houses
were all empty ; they had, however, the appearance of having
been lately evacuated. They were burned, with much grain,
and the cattle killed. The houses and barns were numbered
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at one hundred and fifty. Many of the inhabitants remained
lurking in the woods, and a lieutenant and three men of the
force, straggling from the main body, were seized and carried
away.

Monckton sailed for Boston on the 17th of November,
leaving a garrison of three hundred men in the fort under
major Morris.

A few months later, an expedition was undertaken up the
river Saint John against the settlers above the point reached
by Monckton. On the 19th of February a detachment
started, under the command of captain McCurdy. As he was
killed by the fall of a tree, lieutenant Hazzen assumed com-
mand, and proceeded to the attack of the settlements above
Saint Anne (Fredericksburg). Some resistance was experi-
enced, when six of the French were killed, and six taken
prisoners ; five escaped. Hazzen burned upwards of one
hundred houses with other buildings, and killed the cattle, so
as to make the continuance of settlement impossible. Thus
the whole valley of the Saint John was freed from the presence
of any of the Acadian population. Some of the young men,
who were established there, had escaped from Annapolis
in 1755.*

Wolfe was ordered to Gaspé with the 15th, the 28th, and
the 58th regiments: he sailed on the 2gth of August. The
fleet convoying this strong detachment consisted of seven ships
of the line and three frigates, under sir Charles Hardy. On
the 3oth of September Wolfe reported from Louisbourg that
he had fulfilled the duty intrusted to him. The instructions
he received were to ascend the Saint Lawrence river and
destroy the settlements along the banks, in order to disturb
the minds of the enemy at Quebec, and to pave the way for
a definite expedition in the spring. Not a serious duty, as
Wolfe wrote his father,} to rob the peor fishermen of their
nets and to burn their huts. When reporting its accomplish-
ment to Amherst, Wolfe describes the equipment as “improper

* Can. Arch., A. & W. 1., 89.2, p. 455.
+ 21st August 1758. Wright, p. 455.
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for the business ; and the numbers, unless the squadron had
gone up the river, quite unnecessary.” “We have done a
great deal of mischief,” he continues, “spread the terror of
his majesty’s arms through the whole gulf, but have added
nothing to the reputation of them.”

If Wolfe dealt sternly with the property and the provisions
he was to destroy, he was careful that the inhabitants were
treated with consideration, and in no way abused or personally
injured. There were large quantities of dried fish in the
stores, “ 30,000 lbs. of the finest dried cod.” Itis to be presumed
that it was eaten by the men of the expedition. The maga-
zines were stored with corn, dried fish and barrelled eels,
designed for transportation to Quebec. The supplies, which
could not be brought away, were burned with the buildings.
The main object of the expedition was to alarm the govern-
ment for the safety of Quebec, so that the troops should be
disposed to be available for its defence, and not marched
against Abercrombie. This service over, Wolfe returned to
Louisbourg, and sailed thence in the “ Namur” with Boscawen
for England, to arrive there on the 1st of November.

There is a passage in Wolfe's life in connection with this
voyage to Gaspé which, from his personal eminence, and as
the protagonist in the conquest of Canada, in my humble
view, may be regarded as a part of the history of the time.
By Ambherst’s instructions, Wolfe was ordered on his return
to proceed to Halifax, where, writes Amherst, “ I imagine you
will receive orders from England.” A postscript is added,
“ As you tell me that by your letter of service when you left
England, you think yourself authorized to return to England
as soon as the siege of Louisbourg is over, you will leave
the above orders with the eldest officer whenever you think
proper to go after your return from the river St. Lawrence.”
The orders in question were the destruction of the settlements
at Gaspé.

From what follows it is plain that, in spite of this friendly
communication, Amherst sent an unofficial communication to
Pitt, announcing Wolfe’s proposed return, and strongly op-
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posing it. It is not an incident to throw a favourable light on
Ambherst’s character, for he privately conveyed information
which undoubtedly created a prejudice in Wolfe’s disfavour.
The consequence was that a letter was written from the war
office on the 2nd of October to Wolfe, giving him positive orders
not to return to England, which can only be read as the lan-
guage of censure.* The letter was not received by Wolfe until
the following year at Louisbourg, when he was on the point
of starting for Quebec, and he replied to it from the “ Neptune

* The following is the text of Lord Barrington’s letter and Wolfe's reply :—

¢ 2nd October, 1758.
¢¢Sir,—Mr. Secretary Pitt having acquainted me that he finds by a letter from
General Amherst that you had told the general that you thought yourself autho-
rized by your letter of service, dated 23rd January last, to return to England as
soon as the siege of Louisbourgh was over, that he was a stranger to any such
power given to you, and was apprehensive of the greatest prejudice to the King's
service in case you should, on your return to Hallifax from the expedition up the
St. Lawrence, so interpret your letter of service and return to England accord-
ingly without the King’s orders for so doing. I am much surprised at this, there
being no such meaning in, the letter of service dated 23rd January last, which I
wrote to you ; but to clear all doubt whencesoever it may arise, I do hereby signify
to you His Majesty's pleasure that you do not return to England from America
without farther orders from His Majesty or your superior officers there.
‘“ BARRINGTON.”
‘¢ To Brigadier Wolfe.”

‘“ My Lord,—Since my arrival in America, I have had the honour to receive
two letters from your Lordship, one of old date, concerning my stay in this country,
in answer to which I shall only say that the Marshal told me I was to return at
the end of the campaign ; and as General Amherst had no other commands than
to send me to winter at Halifax under the orders of an officer who was but a few
months before put over my head, I thought it was much better to get into the way
of service, and out of the way of being insulted ; and as the style of your lordship’s
Jetter is pretty strong, I must take the liberty to inform you that, tho’ I should
have been very glad to have gone with Gen. Amherst to join the army upon the
lakes, and offered my services to carry reinforcements to Mr. Abercrombie, if
Quebec was not to be attack'd, yet, rather than receive orders in the government
of an officer younger than myself (tho' a very worthy man), I shou'd certainly
have desir'd leave to resign my commission, for, as I neither ask nor expect any
favour, so I never intend to submit to any ill-usage whatsoever.

[ ] - [ ]

‘“JaM. WoOLFE.”
‘¢ Neptune at sea, 6th June, 1759.”

,
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at sea,” on his way thither. His emphatic protest against this
treatment must be read with deep sympathy, and with no
ordinary interest, especially when the circumstances under
which it was written are brought to our minds. The date is
within a trifle more than three months of his death, when on
his way to achieve the triumphal service which has made his
name immortal.

During the period that operations were being carried on
against Louisbourg events had happened on the shores of lake
Champlain, in the disputed territory between Canada and the
state of New York, which, although without ultimate influence
on the war, had added to the national exultation of the French,
reawakened their hope, and cheered and encouraged them
in their firm determination not only to defend New France
from attack, but vigorously to extend its frontier. When Pitt
had resolved to attack Canada, at all points he applied to the
colonies to furnish 20,000 men, undertaking that the expense
would be participated in by the imperial government. For the
time the provinces were to clothe and furnish the pay of the
soldier ; the arms, camp equipage and provisions were to be
supplied by the British government. The number of troops
voted by the provincial legislatures was 17,480, of which
number Massachusetts furnished two-fifths, 7,000 men.*

Pownall, then governor, showed great energy in the emer-
gency and the province answered his powerful appeal. The
number was not obtained entirely without difficulty, and in the
other provinces many delays intervened. The troops were
assembled towards the end of June; between the 7th and 20th
7,51Q arrived from Massachusetts and Connecticut. Pownall
established good discipline in the Massachusetts regiments:

* The following is the detail of the levies :—

New Hampshire..... .. ceeiviiiiiiiinneeciiononnss 800
Massachusetts o ..vovueieeeioeoiiinninetioncsannnnes 7,000
Rhode Island..s.oveivieneenciionescccees connnnns 1,000
ConNECliCUt o vecveveves coveanasse sosscancsassnnn 5,000
New YorK.oeeiovoiereieniinenionsssasaonnccacenne 2,680
New Jersey..oovieniier conieenininiiecsiaonnes oo 1,000
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He abolished the custom of officers acting as slop sellers and
sutlers; he made efficient arrangement for the issue of cloth-
ing and necessaries, he recommended to Abercrombie to try
any officer by court-martial who carried on “ suttling.” There
was a great want of arms and tents. Abercrombie could
obtain but a limited supply of the former, even by purchase ;
accordingly the old arms were sought out, and all that were
available were repaired and placed in good condition. The
tents were an easier matter ; the material for them was pur-
chased and they were made. The Hudson* furnished the
channel of communication. It was necessary to provide boats
for the navigation of lake George, which any expedition to
Canada must descend. The work of constructing them was
given to Bradstreet, who energetically carried out the duty.
Fifteen hundred boats were necessary for the advance: by
the end of May nine hundred were finished, and the
remainder required little work for their completion. A
special corps of eight hundred bdateax men was raised ; but
only four hundred and fifty were enrolled, and the number
wanting was partially supplied by volunteers from the regulars
and provincials, and partially “ pressed.”

Owing to Abercrombie’s repulse in the attack,+ his name
has been mercilessly dealt with by writers who have not
investigated the causes of the reverse. He has, accordingly,
come down to us with the reputation of being incompetent,
inert and irresolute : even his personal courage has been called
in question. However his generalship on this occasion may
be censured, Abercrombie deserves no such blame. He was
of the school of officers who meet difficulties by stubborn
courage rather than by skilful combinations, and he certainly

* There were three porfages between Albany and fort Edward ; the first, in
certain seasons, six miles in length, never less than three, was between Half Moon,
the mouth of the Mohawk, and Stillwater ; the second, two miles above Sara-
toga, was a quarter of a mile long ; the third, five miles higher up, opposite fort
Miller, of four hundred yards.

+ Some writers describe Abercrombie’s failure as a *‘ defeat.” The proper
word appears to me to be * repulse,” there being a distinct difference, to my mind,
in the meaning of the two expressions.
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entirely misunderstood the character of the defences which
he undertook to storm. His correspondence shews that he
was an intelligent and efficient officer ; in a position where his
duty was plain, and a gallant obedience to orders the first
essential, he would have acquitted himself with ability and
credit. His generalship on this unfortunate day can only
be remembered to his disadvantage, for it is a proof of his
ignorance, and of his miscalculation of the character of the
war in which he was engaged. His fault lay in attempting
what was impossible. It is difficult to believe that the expe-
dition was unprovided with artillery. But such was the case.
This one fact was the cause of his misfortune ; and it is the

strongest censure which can be passed on a general, that his-

force was improperly constituted, owing to his want of foresight
and intelligence. Some artillery is mentioned as being
mounted on rafts, but the few guns were simply designed to
cover the landing of the troops.*

* The fact is clearly proved by the state of the 29th June, a few days before the
march of the troops to Ticonderoga.

Regulars.
27th, Blakeney’s.....coeiiiriiieiiiiisenniiieinssnnnn 664
42nd, Lord John Murray’s.....cooveueuiinnnneenninns e 1,000
44th, Abercrombie’s. ..o.viuiiiee ciiiiiiiiiaeiienenns 970
46th, Thomas Murray’s .....cevecveiirrannnsnrencnns 665
55th, Lord Howe's ..., voivvviiiiiiiiienninnninnnnes 683
6oth, 1st Battalion Royal Americans, Stanwix’s.......... 568
6oth, 4th Battalion, ¢ 6 Prevost’s .... ..... 932
Col. Gage’s Light Infantry ......coiviiiiens cenennn, . 403
Rangers.....c.ve vieeinenr teiinneiocnnsenennsnnnns 520
Provincials. — 6,405
Massachusetts, Colonel Ruggles.......... Ceieeeaaee 449
. “ Doty..ieeiieeiiiiiieiiieans 869
“ ““ Peebles............... eve..525
o “  William Williams, . .......... 563
“ ‘  Partridge, Lt. Infantry. ...... 442
— 2,848
New York “ DelLancey......vvvverneiinne. 1,715
New Jersey. ... lvs vunnnn o esssavariteres ses ese 922
Connecticut .....e tie teeeieneieen ceirreiienniins 475
- 5’960

No artillery is named in the state as being present.
The force reported by Abercrombie in his despatch of the 12th of July is set
forth as 6,367 regulars, 9,024 provincials, including éafeau men.
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In no quarter was there any thcory expressed of its neces-
sity, and it is to this deplorable want of judgment that the
repulse must be traced. The incompetent engineer who
accompanied the troops, on viewing the intrenchments from
the height at the opposite side by the mouth of the river,
pronounced that it was practicable to storm them. Aber-
crombie accepted the opinion. Had even the few guns with
the expedition been brought up, and a breach made, that a
storming party could have entered, it is not quite improbable
that there would have been a different result.

Abercrombie was engaged from the 11th of May, when he
arrived in Albany in the organization of the expedition.
During this time the French continued active in their attacks
of la petite guerre. Early in the month eighty Indians sur-
prised the settlement on the German flats, and scalped thirty-
two of the settlers, retreating before even their presence was
known at the neighbouring fort, and the troops called out.
Abercrombie arrived at fort Edward on the gth of July, and
lord Howe was placed in command at Half-way brook, with
the 42nd, 44th, 55th, and four companies of rangers. It was
known that many parties of the enemy were out, with the
design of intercepting convoys. A party of 200 men was
placed at each of the stations of the Half Moon, Stillwater,
Saratoga, and fort Miller. A stockaded fort was constructed
on the site of fort William Henry at lake George, with another
work on the rising ground to the east. Brigadier Stanwix
was posted at the carrying-place of the Mohawk with the four
New York independent companies, 1,400 provincials, and a
company of rangers.

Before commencing the campaign one duty was imperative,
the establishment of the position of the troops who had been
included in the capitulation of William Henry. The British
authorities contended that the conditions had been broken by
the French. A long correspondence took place between the
respective commanders. Finally, on the 25th of June, 1758,
Abercrombie issued a general order* from fort Edward,

¢ Can. Arch,, Series W. & A. 1., 87.2, p. 2.
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stating that the capitulation of the gth of August had been
“ broke in a most notorious and flagrant manner, consequently
major-general Abercrombie declares the terms of the capitula-
tion ‘null and void,’ and the officers and soldiers included are
empowered and commanded to serve as if no such capitulation
had been made.” The order was to be read at the head of
every corps. Not only in Canada was the manifesto pub-
lished, it was also made known to the army before Louisbourg.*

* Knox, I., p. 486.
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CHAPTER II. .

With the exception I have named, the absence of artillery,
all accounts agree in the completeness with which the ar-
rangements were made. When Montcalm engaged in the
attack of Oswego and William Henry, he brought with him
heavy guns, and it was owing to the service of his artillery
that he had succeeded. Had his attempt been made without
this provision, he would have fared no better than the oppo-
nent he repulsed at Ticonderoga. There was no great
difficulty in moving the guns up the Hudson : the serious
labour commenced at the first portage north of Albany, and
after reaching fort Edward to carry them by land to lake
George. The cannon, which had previously been at fort
William Henry, had been taken or destroyed at the siege of
1757 by Montcalm.

Abercrombie has himself given an account of the embarka-
tion. He tells us that the artillery, stores and provisions were
placed on the rafts and dateaxxr on the morning of the 4th.
I cannot discover that there were any other guns than those
named as mounted on rafts to protect the landing. There
were QOO bateaux, with 135 whale boats. The tents were
struck at daybreak of the s5th. The numbers embarked were
6,367 regulars and 9,024 provincials including the datean
men. At five in the evening they reached Sabbath day point,
25 miles from the head of the lake, and the troops remained
here five hours to rest, and to bring the expedition together.
The start was again made at ten at night, and the boats
reached the landing-place of the French position at ten in the
morning of the 6th. There was no opposition to the
landing.*

* Lake George, visited for the beauty of its scenery, at the same time retains
its historical interest. It has been frequently mentioned in this history. These
M
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During June the attention of the French had been directed
to Abercrombie’s movements. The prisoners brought in by
the partizan leaders gave the information that 20,000 men
were being assem/bled. One circumstance had confirmed the
opinion that a forward movement by the British force would
be made. Wolf, a French officer who had been sent by de
Vaudreuil with a party carrying a flag of truce on the subject
of the exchange of prisoners, had been detained some days:
a proceeding looked upon as unnecessary. It was therefore
supposed that the step had been taken with the design of
preventing his return, when he would undoubtedly have
notified Montcalm of the preparations which he could not fail
to have observed. Indeed, he only reached Carillon on the
10th, two days after the attack.

Montcalm arrived at Ticonderoga on the 3oth of June.
He ordered de Bourlamaque to occupy the ground where lake
George discharges into the little river by which its waters
descend to lake Champlain. De Bourlamaque was there
encamped with the battalions of la Reine, Guienne and Béarn.
Montcalm had established himself at the saw mill at the foot
of the falls with the battalions of la Sarre and de Berry, placing
two battalions on the left of the stream. The troops of the
marine and the Canadian militia were quartered at the stone
fort. His next duty was to select a spot for an intrenched
camp. The engineer, M. de Pontleroy, was instructed to
trace it out, and the second regiment of de Berry was set to
the work of constructing it.

Lake George gradually narrows towards the south, until the
little river by which it discharges itself is reached. The

waters formed the route which the Iroquois followed in their irruption into Canada,
after leaving the Hudson, where the porfage was made. It was their route to
lake Champlain and the Richelieu. It was originally known as the lac des
Iroquois. ¢‘ Horicon,” as the lake is called on some maps, is evidently a corrup-
tion of this word. Jogues, who, in 1646, was killed in the neighbourhood, when
on his journey to establish a mission [Ante, Vol. I., 189], described it as
‘‘lac du Sacrement,” and it was so known by the French until the conquest.
After the repulse of Dieskau by sir William Johnson, the name was changed to
lake George, by which these waters are now only known.
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rapids follow the half circumference of an irregular oval, and
from the last fall, the water, with a slight current, runs
smoothly into lake Champlain. The carrying-place was
formed directly across the chord of the semi-oval, and was
used as the travelled road by which the waters above the
rapids were reached. Following the stream, the distance
between the two lakes is about eight miles. There is about
two miles of quiet water before the rapids commence. The
latter are some three and a half miles in length, descending
in the distance some 265 feet ; the last fall is about 25 feet in
height, and it was here that the saw mill had been built.
The distance thence to lake Champlain is about two and a
half miles by the stream.

The fort was constructed at the extreme point where the
lake widens out from the discharge of Wood’s creek, which
has its source not far from the neighbourhood of fort Edward.
The fort Carillon, commenced in 1755, was not perfectly
completed, and was not defensible for any length of time
against heavy artillery. The ruins still remain of the massive
masonry, shewing that it was capable of resisting an ordinary
attack. It must be borne in mind that the attack was not
made on the fort, but on the intrenchment, 3,500 feet distant
from it.

Parties of observation had been sent out to watch the lake,
with instructions immediately to report any hostile movement.

On the evening of the 5th de Langy, who was in command,
brought in the news of the British advance, and in consequence
de Bourlamaque, at five in the evening, sent out a detachment
of three hundred men, under the orders of captain Trépezet,
to observe the enemy, and, if possible, to oppose the landing.
On the approach of the armament, de Bourlamaque, seeing
that with his force he would make no efficient resistance to
Abercrombie, abandoned his position, and retreated upon
Montcalm. Upon learning the strength of the British force,
Montcalm passed over to the left bank of the river, and took
ground at the new intrenchment, destroying the bridge in
his march.
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In the morning Trépezet sent for orders ; his messenger
was taken prisoner, and did not return. Thus left to act as
he best could, he endeavoured to join the main body, but in
his march he found that the British columns had crossed his
line of communication. He was without a guide, his Indians
having abandoned him, and he lost his way.

It was under these circumstances that the landing of the
British force had been made without opposition. The troops
were immediately formed into four columns, the regulars in
the centre, the provincials on the flanks.

A strong force was sent on to the carrying-place at the
head of the rapids, where the French advance posts, composed
of one battalion, had been established in a camp intrenched
by a barricade of logs. The camp was deserted. The French
had set it on fire, and endeavoured to destroy it. The attempt
was imperfectly carried out, and many articles belonging to
them had been left uninjured. One prisoner and a dead man
were found in the camp.

The main body of the force advanced to the west of the
small river through the woods, with the view of marching
against the French position. The forest was filled with heavy
timber and the brushwood was exceedingly thick, so that the
passage of so large a body of men became very difficult, and
the columns consequently were disorganized.

It was from this rapidity of movement of Abercrombie that
the return of the French party was impeded. The advance
guard of the British came unexpectedly upon them, it was the
right centre column headed by lord Howe. There was an
interchange of shots. Four only of the British force fell,
among them lord Howe. The French, outnumbered, were
immediately dispersed. They suffered severely : forty or fifty
were killed, one hundred and forty-eight taken prisoners,
among whom were five officers and three cadets. A mere
remnant of the force only rejoined the main body.

The death of lord Howe was felt in every rank of the army.
Abercrombie, even in his official report, speaks of the grief and
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. consternation his fate called forth.* His character was much
that of Wolfe. He was an ardent student of military science,
and had the faculty of identifying himself with all ranks. He
was particularly careful in showing consideration to the
provincial officers. In social life his charm of manner was
everywhere felt. No name is more affectionately remembered
at this date in the United States. His reputation has survived
him. Massachusetts, not forward in the admiration of
imperial officers, erected a tablet to his memory in the south
aisle of the nave in Westminster Abbey. He possessed rare
qualities, he was the soul of personal honour and truth, and
the first thought of his life was unselfishly and chivalrously to
fulfil his obligations.}

The news of his death reached Louisbourg in August.
Wolfe wrote to his uncle,} that by his death there was an end
of the expedition, for he was the spirit of the army, and the
very best officer in the king’s service. On two or three occa-
sions in his correspondence this opinion is repeated.

I cannot myself see, that had he lived there would have been
any change in the result of the day. This opinion has,
however, been advanced by writers who command respect.
The fault lay in the composition of the force, as I have pointed
out, being unprovided with artillery. It is difficult to under-
stand how the order of attack would have been different,
unless it had been determined thaft none should be made ; in

* Can. Arch., Series A. & W. 1., 87.2, p. 206.

+ George Augustns Howe, third viscount in the peerage of Ireland. His body
was taken to Albany and buried. Abercrombie wrote : ‘I caused his body to
be taken off the field of battle and sent to Albany, with a design to have it
embalmed and sent home, if his lordship’s relations had approved of it, but the
weather being very hot, Brigadier Stanwix was obliged to have it buried.” The
monument in Westminster Abbey has the following inscription : ‘‘ The Province
of Massachusetts Bay, in New England, by an order of the great and general
Court, bearing date February 1st, 1759, caused this Monument to be erected to
the memory of George, Lord Viscount Howe, Brigadier General of his Majesty’s
forces in North America, who was slain July 6th, 1758, on his march to Ticon-
deroga, in the 34th year of his age : in testimony of the sense they had of his

services and military virtues, and of the affection their officers and soldiers bore
to his command.”

+ Wright, p. 448.
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